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Safe Harbor Statement

This annual report contains forward-looking statements. These statements are made under the “safe harbor” 
provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Statements that are not historical facts, 
including statements about the Company’s beliefs, and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, and a number of factors could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. In some cases, forward-looking statements 
can be identified by words or phrases such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “target”, “aim”, “estimate”, 
“intend”, “plan”, “believe”, “potential”, “continue”, “is/are likely to” or other similar expressions. Further information 
regarding these and other risks, uncertainties or factors is included in the Company’s filings with the United States 
Securities and Exchange Commission. The forward-looking statements included in this annual report are only made 
as of April 24, 2024 (the “date of this annual report”), and the Company disclaims any obligation to publicly 
update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent events or circumstances, except as required by law. All 
forward-looking statements should be evaluated with the understanding of their inherent uncertainty.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Year ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

(US$, in thousands)

Revenue 229,990 208,172 302,076 179,874 105,789
Gross profit 106,655 89,423 127,867 61,937 27,786
Loss from operations (105,824) (168,186) (183,560) (69,846) (73,440)
Net loss (60,315) (146,175) (175,424) (66,912) (70,477)

Non-GAAP financial measures
Loss from operations (105,824) (168,186) (183,560) (69,846) (73,440)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 65,216 69,019 66,089 9,446 5,220
Credit-related impairment of long-term investments 15,537 – – – –
Non-GAAP Loss from operations (25,071) (99,167) (117,471) (60,400) (68,220)

Net loss (60,315) (146,175) (175,424) (66,912) (70,477)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 65,216 69,019 66,089 9,446 5,220
Credit-related impairment of long-term investments 15,537 – – – –
Non-GAAP Net profit/(loss) 20,438 (77,156) (109,335) (57,466) (65,257)

Assets
Current assets 847,798 1,023,366 1,191,268 248,033 266,707
Non-current assets 218,602 32,773 56,882 19,290 12,697
Total assets 1,066,400 1,056,139 1,248,150 267,323 279,404

Liabilities
Current liabilities 87,534 81,282 109,098 91,928 50,359
Non-current liabilities 8,301 12,690 25,391 6,395 5,471
Total liabilities 95,835 93,972 134,489 98,323 55,830

Mezzanine equity
Total mezzanine equity – – – 333,667 333,667

Shareholders’ equity/(deficit)
Total shareholders’ equity/(deficit) 970,565 962,167 1,113,661 (164,667) (110,093)

Note: For further information on non-GAAP financial measures, see the section headed “USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES” in this 
annual report.
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Key Highlights

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

• Total revenue was US$230.0 million, up approximately 10.5% year-over-year (for the year ended December 
31, 2022: US$208.2 million).

• IoT platform-as-a-service (“PaaS”) revenue was US$167.7 million, up approximately 9.7% year-over-year 
(for the year ended December 31, 2022: US$152.9 million).

• Software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) and others revenue was US$35.8 million, up approximately 20.0% year-
over-year (for the year ended December 31, 2022: US$29.8 million).

• Overall gross margin increased to 46.4%, up 3.4 percentage points year-over-year (for the year ended 
December 31, 2022: 43.0%). Gross margin of IoT PaaS increased to 43.7%, up 2.6 percentage points year-
over-year (for the year ended December 31, 2022: 41.1%).

• Operating margin was negative 46.0%, improved by 34.8 percentage points year-over-year (for the year 
ended December 31, 2022: negative 80.8%). Non-GAAP operating margin was negative 10.9%, improved 
by 36.7 percentage points year-over-year (for the year ended December 31, 2022: negative 47.6%).

• Net margin was negative 26.2%, improved by 44.0 percentage points year-over-year (for the year ended 
December 31, 2022: negative 70.2%). Non-GAAP net margin was 8.9%, improved by 46.0 percentage 
points year-over-year (for the year ended December 31, 2022: negative 37.1%), achieving the annual break-
even for the first time.

• Net cash generated from operating activities was US$36.4 million, compared to net cash used in 
operating activities of US$70.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

• Total cash, cash equivalents, time deposits and U.S. treasury securities recorded as short-term and 
long-term investments were US$984.3 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to US$952.0 million as 
of December 31, 2022.
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Key Highlights

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

• IoT PaaS customers1 for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approximately 4,000 (for the year ended 
December 31, 2022: 5,100). Total customers for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approximately 
6,100 (for the year ended December 31, 2022: 7,600).

• Premium IoT PaaS customers2 for the trailing 12 months ended December 31, 2023 were 265 (the trailing 
12 months ended December 31, 2022: 263). In the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s premium 
IoT PaaS customers contributed approximately 83.4% (for the year ended December 31, 2022: 81.7%) of IoT 
PaaS revenue.

• Dollar-based net expansion rate (“DBNER”)3 of IoT PaaS for the trailing 12 months ended December 31, 
2023 was 103% (the trailing 12 months ended December 31, 2022: 51%).

• Registered IoT device and software developers (“registered developers”) were approximately 993,000 
as of December 31, 2023, up 40.3% from approximately 708,000 developers as of December 31, 2022.

1 The Group defines an IoT PaaS customer for a given period as a customer who has directly placed orders for IoT PaaS with the Group 
during that period.

2 The Group defines a premium IoT PaaS customer as a customer as of a given date that contributed more than US$100,000 of IoT PaaS 
revenue during the immediately preceding 12-month period.

3 The Group calculates DBNER of IoT PaaS for a trailing 12-month period by first identifying all customers in the prior 12-month period 
(i.e., those have placed at least one order for IoT PaaS during that period), and then calculating the quotient from dividing the IoT PaaS 
revenue generated from such customers in the current trailing 12-month period by the IoT PaaS revenue generated from the same group of 
customers in the prior 12-month period. The Group’s DBNER may change from period to period, due to a combination of various factors, 
including changes in the customers’ purchase cycles and amounts and the Group’s customer mix, among other things, DBNER indicates the 
Group’s ability to expand customer use of its platform over time and generate revenue growth from existing customers.
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Business Review and Outlook

OVERVIEW 

We have pioneered a purpose-built IoT cloud development platform that delivers a full suite of offerings, including 
Platform-as-a-Service (“PaaS”), Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”), and smart solutions for IoT devices. Through 
our IoT cloud development platform, we deliver a variety of offerings. Our IoT PaaS offering enables businesses, 
including original equipment manufacturers (“OEM(s)”) and brands, and developers to develop, launch, manage 
and monetize software-enabled smart devices and services. Our SaaS offering includes Industry SaaS that enables 
businesses to deploy, connect, and manage large numbers and different types of smart devices in different vertical 
scenarios, Cloud-based Software Value-added Services that provide end users with additional smart scenario 
features, such as cloud storage, and Cube Smart Private Cloud Solution that enables large-scale conglomerates 
to build their own autonomous and controllable IoT platforms. We also offer businesses, developers and end users 
a diverse range of other cloud-based value-added services to improve their ability to develop and manage IoT 
experiences. Our smart solutions for IoT devices offer customers smart devices with integrated smart software 
capabilities beyond IoT. Through our IoT cloud development platform, we have enabled developers to activate a 
vibrant IoT ecosystem of brands, OEMs, partners and end users to engage and communicate through a broad range 
of smart devices.

Our offerings enable customers across a broad range of industry verticals, such as smart home, smart business, 
renewable energy, education, agriculture, outdoors and sport, and entertainment. We have cultivated a large and 
diversified customer base, primarily including brands, OEMs, industry operators and system integrators. Starting 
from the end of 2021, we have been strategically optimizing our customer base to focus more on key account 
enterprises. In 2023, we served approximately 6,100 customers and our IoT platform empowered approximately 
3,800 brands to develop their smart devices, including leading brands and enterprises such as Calex, Philips, 
Schneider Electric, Sharp, ABB, SCG, Haier NAHUI, etc. Our IoT PaaS currently enables businesses and developers 
across over 200 countries and regions globally to develop smart devices in approximately 2,900 categories. We 
have established a large and active community of approximately 993,000 registered IoT device and software 
developers as of December 31, 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

First-time Achievement of Non-GAAP Annually Breakeven

In 2023, the Company achieved a significant milestone, marking the first time in our history that we attained annual 
breakeven on a Non-GAAP basis and recorded a Non-GAAP net profit of approximately $20.4 million, translating 
to a non-GAAP net margin of around 8.9%. Moreover, we achieved a positive operational cash flow for the year, 
bringing in about US$36.4 million. The move into positive non-GAAP profitability and the expansion of positive 
operating cash flow both indicate a progressive strengthening of our self-sustainability in overall day-to-day 
operations. On the other hand, our revenue in 2023 returned to a year-over-year growth of approximately 10.5%, 
and our overall gross margin improved steadily each quarter, reaching a historical high of 47.3% in the fourth quarter 
of 2023. These accomplishments attest to the dedication of our team, as well as the effective execution of strategic 
business and operational adjustments over the past two years in headwinds. The Company will continue to refine 
our operations, both structurally and functionally, while actively pursuing avenues to enhance efficiency and lower 
costs to ensure consistent financial performance.

Business Updates

Throughout 2023, we implemented strategic adjustments and transformations that clearly validated the direct 
operational and commercial benefits from executing our core strategies of key customer focus, software and 
hardware product enhancement, and IoT cloud development platform improvement.
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Business Review and Outlook

A cornerstone of our approach is the key customer focus strategy, which has increased our personnel efficiency 
and enabled us to dedicate sufficient resources to securing and better serving large and strategically significant 
customers with substantial long-term potential. For example, in the first half of 2023, we entered into a cooperation 
agreement with Haier Group’s new energy brand, NAHUI New Energy Technology, to jointly develop smart devices 
for home energy management, including PV, storage, charging devices, and heat pumps, and to establish the smart 
home energy management platform. Our Cube smart private cloud product continued to attract major customers, 
including a leading Thai real estate group, marking our third private cloud customer in Thailand. Tuya’s growing 
presence and influence in Thailand are underscored by our collaborations with influential local companies, spanning 
conglomerates, telecommunications operators, and top real estate groups. In the second half of 2023, we partnered 
with Vivo, a top telecom operator in Brazil, to leverage Tuya IoT Core and development tools for developing their 
brand’s smart home ecosystem. We also made strides in the net zero energy-saving project with Choppies as one 
of Latin America’s largest supermarket chains. Leveraging our Cube smart private cloud product, we made further 
breakthroughs with large-scale groups and high-quality customers, including Malaysia’s premier telecom group, a 
longstanding German shipbuilding company, and others for edge cloud orders. Additionally, we have also forged 
other new collaborations with top-tier customers such as Midea for its overseas home appliance business, Bull for 
new energy product IoT platforms, and Bosch for smart door lock solutions, demonstrating the effective execution 
of our key customer focus strategy.

We consistently focus on software and hardware product enhancement, offering the dual model of IoT PaaS and 
Smart Solution, giving our customers a broad spectrum of choices. For example, Key account (“KA”) customers 
can leverage the IoT PaaS model, incorporating operating system, Cloud, and App SDK, in accordance with their 
unique business needs and organizational characteristics, facilitating a more autonomous business development. 
Concurrently, certain cross-sector multinational corporations, SaaS service providers, and integrators can choose 
Smart Solution for a streamlined and expedited market entry, which in turn further drive the sustained generation of 
software revenue.

As an integral component of our software and hardware enhancement strategy, the gross margin of the Smart 
Device Distribution business, of which major revenue was from our smart solutions for IoT devices in 2023, has 
experienced consistent growth since our strategic re-alignment last year, climbing from 11.6% in 2022 to 25.5% in 
2023, primarily due to higher-value product solutions provided to customers during the year. Our flagship product 
solutions mainly include Zigbee gateways, central control screens, smart air tags, smart bird feeders, etc.

For example, the sales of our prioritized smart voice central control product line almost doubled in 2023 compared 
to the previous year. After more than a year of dedicated product development, we’ve created the industry’s most 
comprehensive product matrix. This includes a variety of software tailored to different panel sizes and a complete 
range of multi-model solutions, including handheld models, to meet the diverse needs of our brand channel 
customers both domestically and internationally. Our 5-inch smart central control screen solution, powered by 
TuyaOS and featuring robust control capabilities, multi-mode gateway functions, and built-in Alexa voice capabilities, 
has become a cornerstone product in the North American, Latin American, Japanese retail markets, and the Asia-
Pacific industry SaaS market. Additionally, in line with the global push towards energy conservation and carbon 
reduction, we further enhanced our “energy-saving mini-program” alongside our “smart temperature control valve 
solution set.” By integrating energy-saving algorithms in heating applications with Tuya’s advanced cloud algorithm 
capabilities and pairing them with more intelligent, precise temperature control devices, we achieved significant 
strides in smart heating and ventilation temperature control use cases.
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Business Review and Outlook

We steadfastly adhere to the developer model to address the challenges of fragmentation within the IoT industry, 
aiming to establish a robust foundation for the broad adoption of smart devices and the growth of the IoT 
ecosystem. Looking ahead, as market penetration deepens, the developer community will become the backbone of 
the future IoT ecosystem.

In 2023, we focused intently on the foundational pillars of PaaS 2.0, which include full-category interconnectivity, 
seamless interoperability, rigorous security standards, independent and manageable development processes, and 
distinct product differentiation, prioritizing developer experience in terms of usability and efficiency in developer-
related constructions. We unified and restructured our official website, developer platform (iot.tuya.com), developer 
site (developer.tuya.com), and developer documentation center. We also launched a vibrant new developer forum 
(www.tuyaos.com) as a dynamic hub, which offers extensive resources and collaborative spaces where developers 
can exchange ideas, troubleshoot challenges, and unleash their creative potential. Additionally, we initiated a pilot 
developer service provider project to offer customers more tailored services and better development experiences.

By the end of 2023, our registered developer base has grown to approximately 993,000, with 12 pilot service 
providers onboard. Our TuyaOS low-code development framework supports over 280 types, encompassing all 
protocols and categories within the Tuya platform. We’ve also compiled nearly 1,000 development documents, and 
our developer forum has accumulated over 8,500 posts of technical support content.

Overall, 2023 was characterized by a year of gradual recovery, with global inflation generally declined to lower 
levels. We feel that global smart consumer electronics device spending is naturally shifting toward a new equilibrium 
against this backdrop. At the same time, we noted that inventory levels among manufacturers, brands, and channels 
have largely returned to normal status, overcoming the toughest valley in business turnover and shifting towards 
a relatively more optimistic attitude in business planning and product deployment. Benefiting from the efficient 
execution of our core strategies and the relentless dedication of our entire team, Tuya has passed the test of its 
strategic transformation and completed the adjustment of operational guidelines and business focuses to forge a 
more efficient and concentrated operation model.

OUTLOOK

In the fiscal year 2023, we continued to observe a moderately declining yet persisting overall inflation, which is 
expected to continually influence the discretionary consumer electronics spending. On the supply chain front, we 
expect downstream inventory levels to be normalizing ongoingly, providing downstream smart device manufacturers, 
brands, and retail channels with greater flexibility and resilience to adapt their operational and procurement plans as 
necessary. This, in turn, will revitalize their investment in smart business. Overall, discretionary consumer electronic 
spending alongside enterprise procurement are expected to prioritize cost-effectiveness, reflecting a balanced 
approach widely adopted in the current economic climate.

In response to this evolving market environment, the Group will remain committed to continuously iterating and 
improving its products and services, further enhancing software and hardware capabilities, expanding key customer 
base, investing in innovations and new opportunities, diversifying revenue streams, and further optimizing operating 
efficiency. At the same time, the Group understands that future trajectories may encounter challenges, including 
shifting consumer spending patterns, regional economic disparities, inventory management, foreign exchange rate 
volatility, and broader geopolitical uncertainties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Revenue

Total revenue increased by 10.5% to US$230.0 million in 2023 from US$208.2 million in 2022, mainly due to 
increase in IoT PaaS revenue, SaaS and others revenue and smart device distribution revenue.

• IoT PaaS revenue increased by 9.7% to US$167.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 
US$152.9 million in 2022. This recovered year-over-year growth was due to the relief of downstream 
inventory backlog and a global economic improvement compared with 2022, along with the effective 
customer-focus and product-enhancement strategies the Company adopted to navigate through the 
macroeconomic headwinds. As a result of these factors, the Group’s DBNER of IoT PaaS for the trailing 12 
months ended December 31, 2023 increased to 103% from 51% for the trailing 12 months ended December 
31, 2022.

• SaaS and others revenue increased by 20.0% to US$35.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 
from US$29.8 million in 2022, primarily due to an increase in revenue from cloud software products. The 
Group remained committed to offering value-added services and a diverse range of software products with 
compelling value propositions to its customers.

• Smart device distribution revenue increased by 4.2% to US$26.5 million in the year ended December 31, 
2023 from US$25.4 million in 2022, primarily attributable to the increase in revenue from smart device 
solutions, partially offset by the decrease in revenue from smart device sourcing which saves its customers 
from dealing with multiple OEMs, and the variations in the timing and volume of customer demands and 
purchases.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue increased by 3.9% to US$123.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from US$118.7 
million in 2022, in line with the increase in total revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross margin

Total gross profit increased by 19.3% to US$106.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from US$89.4 
million in 2022 and gross margin increased to 46.4% in the year ended December 31, 2023 from 43.0% in 2022.

• IoT PaaS gross margin was 43.7% in the year ended December 31, 2023, up 2.6 percentage points 
compared to 41.1% in 2022, primarily due to the changes in product mix, enhancement in product value, and 
the decrease in provision recorded for certain slow-moving IoT chips and raw materials compared with 2022.

• SaaS and others gross margin was 74.2% in the year ended December 31, 2023, fluctuating due to product 
and service mix, but generally remaining at a consistent level compared to 79.0% in 2022.

• Smart device distribution gross margin was 25.5% in the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 
11.6% in 2022, primarily due to higher-value product solutions we provided to our customers during the year.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased by 17.5% to US$212.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2023 from US$257.6 
million in 2022.

Non-GAAP operating expenses, defined as operating expenses excluding share-based compensation expenses 
and credit loss of long-term investments, decreased by 30.2% to US$131.7 million in the year ended December 31, 
2023 from US$188.6 million in 2022. Share-based compensation expenses were US$65.2 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2023, compared to US$69.0 million in 2022. Credit loss of long-term investments was US$15.5 
million in the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to nil in 2022.

• Research and development expenses were US$102.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, down 
29.4% from US$144.9 million in 2022, primarily because of the Group’s strategic streamlining of its research 
and development team and operations. The Group’s total salaried research and development headcount as 
of December 31, 2023 was 1,047, down 20.3% compared to that as of December 31, 2022. Non-GAAP 
adjusted research and development expenses in the year ended December 31, 2023 were US$87.5 million, 
compared to US$130.3 million in 2022.

• Sales and marketing expenses were US$40.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, down 27.3% 
from US$55.7 million in 2022, primarily because of (i) the Group’s strategic streamlining of its sales and 
marketing team, and (ii) the Group’s efforts to control expenditures and improve sales and marketing 
efficiency. Non-GAAP adjusted sales and marketing expenses in the year ended December 31, 2023 were 
US$35.0 million, compared to US$48.8 million in 2022.

• General and administrative expenses were US$80.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, up 
19.5% from US$67.5 million in 2022, primarily because of the credit loss of US$15.5 million of long-term 
investments (nil in 2022), partially offset by the decrease in salary related expenses due to the Group’s 
strategic streamlining of its general and administrative team. Non-GAAP adjusted general and administrative 
expenses in the year ended December 31, 2023 were US$20.1 million, compared to US$20.0 million in 2022.

• Other operating incomes, net were US$10.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to 
receipts of software value-added tax refund and various general subsidies for enterprises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss from operations and operating margin

Loss from operations was US$105.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, narrowed by 37.1% compared 
to US$168.2 million in 2022. Non-GAAP loss from operations was US$25.1 million in the year ended December 31, 
2023, narrowed by 74.7% compared to US$99.2 million in 2022.

Operating margin was negative 46.0% in the year ended December 31, 2023, improved by 34.8 percentage points 
from negative 80.8% in 2022. Non-GAAP operating margin was negative 10.9% in the year ended December 31, 
2023, improved by 36.7 percentage points from negative 47.6% in 2022.

Net loss/profit and net margin

Net loss was US$60.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, narrowed by 58.7% compared to US$146.2 
million in 2022. The differences between loss from operation and net loss in the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
primarily because of a US$49.7 million interest income achieved mainly due to well implemented treasury strategies 
on the Group’s cash and bank time deposits recorded as short-term and long-term investments.

The Group had a non-GAAP net profit of US$20.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, significantly 
improved compared to a non-GAAP net loss of US$77.2 million in 2022, marking it the first fiscal year that the 
Group has achieved break-even profitability on a non-GAAP basis.

Net margin was negative 26.2% in the year ended December 31, 2023, improved by 44.0 percentage points from 
negative 70.2% in 2022, and non-GAAP net margin was 8.9% in the year ended December 31, 2023, improved by 
46.0 percentage points from negative 37.1% in 2022.

Basic and diluted net loss/profit per ADS

Basic and diluted net loss per ADS were US$0.11 in the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to US$0.26 in 
2022. Each ADS represents one Class A ordinary share of the Company.

Non-GAAP basic and diluted net profit per ADS in the year ended December 31, 2023 were approximately US$0.04 
and US$0.03, respectively, compared to net loss per ADS of US$0.14 in 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and U.S. treasury securities recorded as short-term 
and long-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and U.S. treasury securities recorded as short-term and long-term 
investments were US$984.3 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to US$952.0 million as of December 31, 
2022, which the Group believes is sufficient to meet its current liquidity and working capital needs.

Net cash generated from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was US$36.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2023, significantly 
improved compared to US$70.7 million of net cash used in operating activities in 2022. The net cash generated in 
operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2023 improved mainly due to the increase in the Group’s total 
revenue, and the decrease in operating expenses, particularly employee related costs, and working capital changes 
in the ordinary course of business.

For further information on non-GAAP financial measures discussed above, see the section headed “Use of Non-
GAAP Financial Measures” on page 73 of this annual report.
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Dual primary listing in Hong Kong

On July 4, 2022, Eastern Time (July 5, 2022, Hong Kong Time), Tuya successfully listed its Class A ordinary shares 
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the stock code “2391” and the stock short name of 
“TUYA-W”. The Company issued 7,300,000 Class A ordinary shares in the Listing (no Class A ordinary shares issued 
during the stabilization period in connection with the global offering), and a total of 578,546,560 ordinary shares 
were in issue immediately upon the Listing and after the end of stabilization period.

Since the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2023, the Company has not made any issue of equity securities for 
cash.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group has been incurring losses from operations since inception. The Group incurred net losses of US$60.3 
million and US$146.2 million year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Accumulated deficit amounted 
to US$574.8 million as of December 31, 2023. However, due to well implementation of the Group’s initiatives to 
navigate the headwinds and strategies for its long-term development, the Group achieved a net cash generated 
from operating activities of US$36.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to a net cash used of 
US$70.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group’s liquidity is based on its ability to enhance its operating cash flow position, obtain capital financing 
from equity interest investors to fund its general operations, research and development activities and capital 
expenditures. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management’s ability to execute 
its business plan successfully, which includes increasing market acceptance of its products to boost sales volume 
to achieve economies of scale or strengthen its technology capabilities to provide advanced products with higher 
value proposition while applying more effective marketing strategies and cost control measures to better manage 
operating cash flow position and obtaining funds from outside sources of financing to generate positive financing 
cash flows. In March and April 2021, with the completion of its initial public offering on the New York Stock 
Exchange and the exercise of the over-allotment option by underwriters, the Company received net proceeds, after 
deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions, fees and offering expenses, of US$904.7 million. On July 5, 
2022, the Class A ordinary shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In connection with the Listing, 7,300,000 new Class A ordinary shares of 
the Company were issued and allotted at the offer price of HK$19.3 per Class A ordinary share. Net proceeds from 
the global offering, after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions, were approximately HK$70.0 million (the 
“Global Offering Net Proceeds”), and no over-allotment option was exercised.

As of December 31, 2023, the balance of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and U.S. treasury securities 
recorded as short-term and long-term investments were US$984.3 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to 
US$952.0 million as of December 31, 2022.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any pledge of assets.
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GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by total equity as of the end of the period. Total debt is defined to include 
short-term borrowings, current portion of long-term borrowings and long-term borrowings which are all interest-
bearing borrowings. As of December 31, 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil as the Group had no 
borrowings (as of December 31, 2022: nil).

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any significant investments (including any 
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets as of December 31, 
2023) except for time deposits of US$475.5 million presented as short-term and long-term investments according 
to the applicable accounting standards. As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have other plans for material 
investments and capital assets.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any capital expenditure commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not conduct any material acquisitions and disposals during the year ended December 31, 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Foreign exchange risk

The revenue of the Group is predominantly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and a substantial portion of the 
Group’s expenses is also denominated in RMB. The Group uses United States dollar as its reporting currency. 
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in Cayman Islands and Hong Kong is 
the United States dollar, while the functional currency of the Group’s other subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated 
entities is their respective local currency as determined based on the criteria of ASC 830, Foreign Currency Matters. 
The financial statements of its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities using functional currencies other than 
U.S. dollar, such as RMB, are translated to the U.S. dollar. As a result, as RMB depreciates or appreciates against 
the U.S. dollar, the Group’s revenue presented in U.S. dollar will be negatively or positively affected. The Group 
does not believe that it currently has any significant direct foreign exchange risk arising from its operating activities. 
As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not hold any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to the interest income generated by excess cash, which 
is mostly held in interest-bearing bank deposits. The Group has not used any derivative financial instruments to 
manage its interest risk exposure. Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. However, the 
Group’s future interest income may be lower than expected due to changes in market interest rates.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s salaried employees by function as of December 31, 
2023:

Function
Number of 
Employees

Research and development 1,047
Sales and marketing 310
General and administrative, and others 108

Total 1,465
 

The Group primarily recruits the employees by its recruitment specialists at human resources department through 
referrals and online channels, including the Company’s corporate website and social networking platforms. The 
Group has adopted a series of training policies and tailor-made lessons, pursuant to which technology, corporate 
culture, leadership, and other trainings are regularly provided to the Group’s employees by internal speakers and 
third-party consultants. The Group offers its employees competitive compensation packages (including, for example, 
the offer of incentives under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan) and a dynamic work environment that encourages 
initiative. The Group participates in various government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance, 
namely pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance and maternity 
insurance, and housing funds. In addition, the Group participates in a supplemental employee commercial healthcare 
insurance program effective on December 23, 2022, aiming to promote healthy work and healthy life of employees. 
Please also see the paragraph headed “Board Committees – Compensation Committee” in the Corporate 
Governance Report of this annual report for the basis of determining the emolument payable to the Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, under the defined contribution plan in PRC, there were no contributions 
forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution, nor 
had there been any utilization of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. No forfeited contributions 
were available for utilization by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended December 31, 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Xueji (王學集) (Co-chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company)
Mr. CHEN Liaohan (陳燎罕) (Co-chairman of the Board)
Mr. YANG Yi (楊懿)
Ms. LIU Yao (劉堯)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande (黃宣德)
Mr. QIU Changheng (邱昌恒)
Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (郭孟雄) (alias GUO Mengxiong)
Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason (葉栢東)

Ms. HONG Jing (洪婧) retired as a non-executive Director upon conclusion of the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on June 20, 2023.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this 
annual report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on August 28, 2014 as an exempted 
company with limited liability. The Company’s ADSs, each of which represents one Class A Ordinary Share, were 
listed on NYSE under the symbol of “TUYA” on March 18, 2021. The Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares were 
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the stock code “2391” and stock short name 
“TUYA-W”.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a global leading IoT cloud development platform with a mission to build an IoT developer ecosystem 
and enable everything to be smart. The Company has pioneered a purpose-built IoT cloud development platform 
that delivers a full suite of offerings, including platform-as-a-service (PaaS), Software-as-a-service (SaaS), and 
smart solutions for IoT devices, to business and developers. Through its IoT cloud development platform, Tuya has 
enabled developers to activate a vibrant IoT ecosystem of brands, OEMs, partners and end users to engage and 
communicate through a broad range of smart devices. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the 
year ended December 31, 2023 is set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Substantially all of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and substantially all of the Group’s revenue 
and operating profits are derived from the PRC during the Reporting Period. Accordingly, no segment analysis 
based on geographical locations is provided.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The discussions in the section headed “Business Review and Outlook” of this annual report regarding, among 
others, a fair review of the Company’s business and an indication of likely future development of the Company’s 
business as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, form part of this Directors’ report.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including employees, customers, suppliers and others are key 
to the Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging, collaborating, 
and cultivating strong relationships with them. An account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, 
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Company is set out in the environmental, 
social and governance report of the Company (the “ESG Report”).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development, protecting 
the environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such have been set out 
in the ESG Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of 
the Group during the Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, save as disclosed in this annual report, no related party transaction 
disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements or any other transaction falls under the definition 
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for which 
disclosure is required. During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules as required.

Partially-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions under Cloud Services and Technical 
Services Framework Agreement

On June 14, 2022, we have entered into a cloud services and technical services framework agreement with Tencent 
Cloud (the “Cloud Services and Technical Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Tencent Cloud 
will provide us with cloud services and other cloud-related technical services including but not limited to computing 
and network, cloud servers, cloud database, cloud security, monitoring and management, domain name resolution 
services, video services, big data and AI and other products and services.

The initial term of the Cloud Services and Technical Services Framework Agreement commenced from June 1, 2022 
and will expire on December 31, 2024, subject to negotiation at renewal with mutual consent and in compliance 
with the Listing Rules.
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Tencent Cloud is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Immediately 
after the Global Offering and as at the date of this report, Tencent (through the Class A Ordinary Shares held by 
Tencent Mobility Limited and the Class A Ordinary Shares represented by ADSs owned by Image Frame Investment 
(HK) Limited) held more than 10% of the voting rights of the Company, on the basis that each Share entitle the 
Shareholder to one vote per Share with respect to shareholder resolutions relating to Reserved Matters. Therefore, 
Tencent is a connected person of the Company. Since the highest of the applicable percentage ratios (other than 
the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of such transactions will exceed 0.1% but will be lower than 
5%, pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the Cloud Services and 
Technical Services Framework Agreement will be exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, but will be subject to reporting, annual review and announcement 
requirements. The Company has applied for, and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict 
compliance with the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of 
the Listing Rules, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Further details of the Cloud Services and Technical Services Framework Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated thereunder are set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the amount of service fees charged under the Cloud Services and 
Technical Services Framework Agreement was approximately RMB9.7 million (RMB9.2 million excluding tax).

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company has followed the pricing policies and guidelines for the 
Cloud Services and Technical Services Framework Agreement disclosed in the Prospectus when determining the 
price and terms of such transactions conducted. The Directors are of the view that the Company’s internal control 
procedures are adequate and effective to ensure that transactions are so conducted.

Non-Exempted Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements

Background for the Contractual Arrangements

During the Reporting Period, we conducted our value-added telecommunication services through our Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities in the PRC, as value-added telecommunication services are subject to foreign investment restriction 
in accordance with the Negative List is the Special Administrative Measures for Foreign Investment Access (Negative 
List 2021) 《(外商投資准入特別管理措施(負面清單)(2021年版)》) (the “Negative List (2021)”) and other applicable 
PRC laws, and it is not viable for the Group to hold Hangzhou Tuya Technology directly through equity ownership.

Therefore, in order for the Group to effectively control and enjoy the entire economic benefits of Hangzhou Tuya 
Technology, a series of Contractual Arrangements have been entered into among Tuya Information, Hangzhou Tuya 
Technology, and the Registered Shareholders on December 23, 2014, first amended and restated on August 23, 
2019 (as applicable), and further amended and restated on January 19, 2022. The Contractual Arrangements enable 
the Group to (i) receive substantially all of the economic benefits from Hangzhou Tuya Technology in consideration 
for the services provided by Tuya Information to Hangzhou Tuya Technology; (ii) exercise effective control over 
Hangzhou Tuya Technology; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase the equity interests and assets in 
Hangzhou Tuya Technology to the extent permitted by PRC law.
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Other than the Contractual Arrangements described in this annual report, there was no other new contractual 
arrangement entered into, renewed or reproduced during the year ended December 31, 2023. Save as 
disclosed herein or in the Prospectus, there was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the 
circumstances under which they were adopted for the year ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, 
none of the Contractual Arrangements has been terminated as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of 
the Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

PRC laws and regulations

According to the Negative List (2021), the foreign equity interests ownership of entities that engage in value-added 
telecommunications business (except for e-commerce, domestic multi-party communication, storage and forwarding 
and call center) must not exceed 50%.

According to Notice of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology on Removing the Restrictions on Foreign 
Equity Ratios in Online Data Processing and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (《工業和信
息化部關於開放在線數據處理與交易處理業務(經營類電子商務)外資股比限制的通告》), the shareholding percentage 
of a foreign investor in enterprises engaged in online data processing and transaction processing businesses 
(operational e-commerce) is not subject to any restriction, other conditions or requirements for approval and the 
approval procedures shall follow the requirements under the FITE Regulations (as defined below). The principal 
business of Hangzhou Tuya Technology involves provision of online platform for connecting OEMs and brands, 
which is an electronic data interchange business (the “EDI Business”), and constitutes commercial value-added 
telecommunication business under the applicable PRC laws and thus a value-added telecommunication business 
operation license for online data processing and transaction processing services (增值電信業務經營許可證)(在線數
據處理與交易處理業務) (the “EDI License”) is required. Hangzhou Tuya Technology currently holds the EDI License 
issued by Zhejiang Communications Administration (浙江省通信管理局). Hangzhou Tuya Technology currently also 
holds value-added telecommunication business operation license for provision of information services (other than 
internet information services) (增值電信業務經營許可證) (信息服務業務, 不含互聯網信息服務) (the “SP License”). 
The Group was planning to engage in the business of publishing and delivering information through mobile platform, 
which requires a SP License, and therefore applied for such license. Eventually, the Group did not pursue with 
such business plan after obtaining the SP License in January 2019. As at the date of this report, Hangzhou Tuya 
Technology has not engaged in or is conducting any business which requires the SP License.

Article 6 of the Interpretation Note of the Negative List (2021) (the “Article 6”) provides that, where a domestic 
enterprise engaged in the business in the prohibited areas of the Negative List (2021) seeks to issue and list its 
shares overseas, it shall complete the examination process and obtain approval of the relevant competent authorities 
of the State, the foreign investor shall not participate in the operation and management of the enterprise, and its 
shareholding percentage shall be subject to the relevant provisions on the administration of domestic securities 
investment by foreign investors. On January 18, 2022, the National Development and Reform Commission of the 
PRC held a press conference to further clarify the position of Article 6, during which the spokesman made it clear 
that Article 6 shall only be applying to the situations where domestic enterprises were seeking a direct overseas 
issuance and listing (i.e. H-shares listing). The Article 6 is not applicable to the Group and the Group is not required 
to complete any examination procedures and/or obtain approval from the relevant competent authorities of the State 
under the Article 6 for the reasons as follows: (i) the Group’s businesses under the Contractual Arrangements are 
subject to foreign investment restriction rather than prohibition in accordance with the Negative List (2021); and (ii) 
according to the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies 
（《境內企業境外發行證券和上市管理試行辦法》）and relevant supporting guidelines, the Global Offering constitute an 
indirect overseas issuance and listing rather than a direct overseas issuance and listing.
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Requirements under the FITE Regulations

On December 11, 2001, the State Council promulgated the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested 
Telecommunications Enterprises 《(外商投資電信企業管理規定》) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were amended 
on September 10, 2008, February 6, 2016 and March 29, 2022. The FITE Regulations were newly amended and 
currently lack clear, specific and updated guidance thereunder for foreign-invested enterprises to apply for the 
value-added telecommunication business operation license, such as whether they should satisfy any regulatory 
requirements (the “Regulatory Requirements”) of the competent authorities in practice.

According to verbal consultations with the officers of Zhejiang Communications Administration, the relevant 
competent government authority, on December 10, 2021 and December 17, 2021, respectively, who confirmed that, 
in the case of the Company, regulatory authority would not approve or permit its foreign-invested entities (including 
wholly owned foreign investment entities and sino-foreign jointly-owned entities) to engage in the EDI Business even 
if it generally meets the eligibility standards under the related PRC laws and regulations. Thus the Company is of 
the view that the Contractual Arrangements are narrowly tailored and the Group is therefore required to carry out its 
value-added telecommunication services through the Contractual Arrangements.

The Group will remain abreast of any regulatory developments, including but not limited to making periodic inquiries 
to relevant PRC authorities to understand any new regulatory development, and continuously assess whether we 
meet the Regulatory Requirements (if any), with a view to unwinding the Contractual Arrangements wholly or partially 
as and when practicable and permissible under the prevailing PRC Laws.

Further details of relevant PRC laws and regulations are set out in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements – 
PRC Laws and Regulations Relating to Foreign Ownership Restrictions” in the Prospectus.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and actions taken to mitigate the risks

We believe that the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Further details of these 
risk factors are set out in the section headed “Risk Factors – Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure and the 
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

• If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating some of our 
operations in China do not comply with PRC regulations relating to the relevant industries, or if these 
regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change in the future, we could be subject to severe 
penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in the Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

• We rely on Contractual Arrangements with our Consolidated Affiliated Entity and the Registered Shareholders 
to use, or otherwise benefit from, certain licenses and approvals we may need in the future, which may not 
be as effective as direct ownership in providing operational control and could adversely affect our business, 
operating results and financial condition.

• Any failure by our Consolidated Affiliated Entity or its shareholders to perform their obligations under our 
contractual arrangements with them would have a material and adverse effect on part of our business.

• The Registered Shareholders may have potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and 
adversely affect part of our business.
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• Contractual arrangements we have entered into with our Consolidated Affiliated Entity may be subject to 
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities. A finding that we owe additional taxes could negatively affect our financial 
condition and the value of your investment.

• We may lose the ability to use and benefit from assets held by our Consolidated Affiliated Entity that are 
material or supplementary to the operation of our business if our Consolidated Affiliated Entity goes bankrupt 
or becomes subject to dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

• Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation of the newly enacted 
Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate 
governance and operations.

The structuring and implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, including the detailed terms of the Contractual 
Arrangements, as discussed below, is designed to mitigate these risks. Our Group has adopted the following 
measures to ensure the effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements 
and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any 
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and 
discussion on an occurrence basis;

(ii) our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least 
once a year;

(iii) our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in 
our annual reports;

(iv) our Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional advisors, if necessary, to assist 
the Board to review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of 
the WFOE and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the 
Contractual Arrangements;

(v) since the Contractual Arrangements will constitute continuing connected transactions of our Group following 
the completion of the Global Offering, our Company has applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange has agreed to grant a waiver, details of which are set out in the section headed 
“Connected Transactions” in this prospectus. Our Company will comply with the conditions prescribed by the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the waiver given; and

(vi) our Group will adjust or unwind (as the case may be) the Contractual Arrangements as soon as practicable 
to hold the maximum percentage of ownership interests permissible under relevant PRC laws and regulations 
if the relevant government authority grants the relevant value-added telecommunication business operation 
license to Sino-foreign equity joint ventures or wholly-owned foreign investment entities in practice under 
relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Summary of the material terms of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Under the amended and restated exclusive business cooperation agreement between our Consolidated Affiliated 
Entity and the WFOE (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement”), in exchange for a service fee, 
payable on regular basis, our Consolidated Affiliated Entity agreed to engage the WFOE as its exclusive provider 
of technical support, consulting services and other services on exclusive basis in relation to the business 
conducted by our Consolidated Affiliated Entity currently and any time, including but not limited to: (i) licensing 
our Consolidated Affiliated Entity to use any software legally owned by the WFOE; (ii) development, maintenance 
and update of software involved in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity’s business; (iii) design, installation, daily 
management, maintenance and updating of network system, hardware and database design; (iv) technical support 
and training for employees of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity; (v) assisting our Consolidated Affiliated Entity in 
consultancy, collection and research of technology and market information (excluding market research business 
that wholly foreign-owned enterprises are prohibited from conducting under PRC law); (vi) providing business 
management consultation for our Consolidated Affiliated Entity; (vii) providing marketing and promotion services 
for our Consolidated Affiliated Entity; (viii) providing customer order management and customer services for our 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity; (ix) leasing of equipment or properties; and (x) other services requested by our 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity from time to time to the extent permitted under PRC law.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the service fee shall consist of management fee and fee 
for services provided, which shall be determined by the WFOE after considering the complexity and difficulty of 
the services, the title of and time consumed by employees providing the services, the contents and value of the 
services, the market price of the same type of services, and the operation conditions of our Consolidated Affiliated 
Entity. The aggregate amount of the service fee equals to the balances of the total income deducting cost and taxes 
(excluding enterprise income tax) as well as other fees reserved or withdrawn according to the requirements of laws 
and regulations. If the WFOE transfers technology to our Consolidated Affiliated Entity or develops software or other 
technology as entrusted by our Consolidated Affiliated Entity or leases equipment or properties to our Consolidated 
Affiliated Entity, the technology transfer price, development fees or rent shall be determined by the parties based on 
the actual situations. The WFOE shall calculate the service fee by phases (which shall be determined by the WFOE) 
and issue corresponding bills and notices to our Consolidated Affiliated Entity. Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity 
must make the payment to the WFOE within ten business days of receiving such notices.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of the WFOE, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation 
Agreement, our Consolidated Affiliated Entity shall not directly or indirectly accept the same or any similar services 
provided by any third party and shall not establish similar corporation relationship with any third party regarding the 
matters contemplated under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement also provided that the WFOE has the exclusive and proprietary 
ownership, rights and interests in any and all intellectual properties arising out of or created during the performance 
of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain effective unless terminated in accordance with the 
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement or terminated in writing by the WFOE.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Under the amended and restated exclusive option agreements among our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the WFOE 
and the Registered Shareholders (the “Exclusive Option Agreements”), the Registered Shareholders irrevocably 
granted the WFOE a binding and exclusive right to purchase, or designate one or more persons (each, a “Designee”) 
to purchase the equity interests in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity then held by the Registered Shareholders at 
once or at multiple times at any time in part or in whole at the WFOE’s sole and absolute discretion to the extent 
permitted by PRC laws and at the price of RMB1.00 or the lowest price permitted under applicable PRC laws at the 
time (if higher).

Under the Exclusive Option Agreements, our Consolidated Affiliated Entity granted to the WFOE an irrevocable 
and exclusive option to have the WFOE or its Designee to purchase from our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, at 
the WFOE’s sole discretion, at any time and in accordance with the procedures decided by the WFOE in its sole 
discretion, any or all of the assets of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, to the extent permitted under PRC law, and 
at the lowest purchase price permitted by PRC law. All the consideration received by the Registered Shareholders 
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity for acquisition of equity interests or assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity 
shall be fully returned to the WFOE or the Designee upon the request of the WFOE.

Each of the Registered Shareholders and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity has covenanted, among other things, 
that without the prior written consent of the WFOE, our Consolidated Affiliated Entity shall not: (i) alter the articles 
of association or change its registered capital; (ii) change the principal business or significantly adjust the business 
scope and model, marketing strategies, operating policy or relationship with customers; (iii) sell, transfer, mortgage, 
or dispose of any material assets or interest in the material business or revenue of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity 
for a value of more than RMB500,000 or allow the encumbrance thereon of any security interests; (iv) incur, inherit, 
guarantee, or suffer the existence of any debt, except for payables incurred in the ordinary course of business 
other than through loans; (v) execute any contracts with a price exceeding RMB500,000 or execute any other 
contracts, agreements or arrangements that contradicts with the Exclusive Option Agreement or may prejudice the 
interest of WFOE under the Exclusive Option Agreement except the contracts in the ordinary course of business; 
(vi) provide any person with a loan or credit; (vii) merge, consolidate with, acquire, or invest in any person; (viii) 
distribute dividends to its shareholders; (ix) engage in any business in competition with the WFOE or its affiliates; (x) 
be dissolved or liquidated; (xi) engage in any transaction which may materially affect its assets, obligations, rights or 
company operation. When our Consolidated Affiliated Entity is liquidated or dissolved, persons recommended by the 
WFOE shall be appointed as permitted by the PRC laws to establish a liquidation team to manage the assets of our 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, each of the Registered Shareholders and our Consolidated 
Affiliated Entity has covenanted that they shall not cause themselves to have conflict of interest with WFOE and its 
shareholders in the matter of action or omission. If there are conflict of interest, each of the Registered Shareholders 
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity shall take measures as timely as possible to eliminate the conflicts with the 
consent of WFOE or its designated persons.

The Exclusive Option Agreements will remain effective until all equity interests in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity 
have been transferred or assigned to the WFOE and/or any Designee.
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Equity Interest Pledge Agreements

Under the amended and restated equity interest pledge agreements among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders 
and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity (the “Equity Interest Pledge Agreements”), the Registered Shareholders 
agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity that they own to the WFOE 
as a security interest to guarantee the (i) performance of their contractual obligations under the Exclusive Option 
Agreements, the Powers of Attorney (as defined below) and the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements; (ii) performance 
of contractual obligations of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, 
the Exclusive Option Agreements and the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements and (iii) the secured indebtedness as a 
result of any event of default.

During the term of the pledge, the WFOE shall be entitled to receive dividends distributed on the equity interests 
pledged, and the Registered Shareholders may receive dividends distributed on the Equity Interest only with prior 
written consent of the WFOE. Each of the Registered Shareholders agrees that the rights of the WFOE under 
the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements shall not be interrupted or harmed by the Registered Shareholders or any 
heirs or representatives of the Registered Shareholders or any other persons through any legal proceedings, and 
covenants that they shall not transfer the equity interest, place or permit the existence of any security interest or 
other encumbrance on the equity interest or any portion thereof, without the prior written consent of WFOE, except 
for the performance of the transaction documents under the Contractual Arrangements.

The pledge shall become effective on such date when the pledge is registered with relevant administration for 
industry and commerce, and shall remain effective until after all the contractual obligations of the Registered 
Shareholders and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity under the Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed 
and all the secured indebtedness of the Registered Shareholders and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity under the 
Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements) or an event that 
may lead to an event of default, the Registered Shareholders and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity shall immediately 
notify the WFOE. Unless the event of default has been successfully resolved to the WFOE’s satisfaction within 
twenty days after the WFOE delivers a notice to the Registered Shareholders and/or our Consolidated Affiliated 
Entity requesting rectification of such event of default, the WFOE shall have the right to exercise all such rights as 
a secured party under applicable PRC laws and the relevant Contractual Arrangements, including but not limited to 
being paid in priority with the equity interest based on the monetary valuation that such equity interest is converted 
into or from the proceeds from auction or sale of the equity interest.

The equity pledges in connection with our Consolidated Affiliated Entity have been registered with the relevant PRC 
government authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
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Powers of Attorney

The Registered Shareholders have executed powers of attorney (the “Powers of Attorney”). Under the Powers 
of Attorney, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorized the WFOE and its designated person(s) (including 
but not limited to the directors of the WFOE’s shareholders and their successors and bankruptcy/winding-up 
administrators, and shall be Chinese citizens, but excluding any non-independent persons or persons that may 
cause conflict of interests such as the Registered Shareholders) to act on their behalf as their exclusive agent and 
attorney with respect to all matters concerning all their equity interests in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, including 
but not limited to: (i) attending shareholders’ meetings of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity and signing relevant 
meeting minutes/resolutions; (ii) exercising all the shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s voting rights that they are 
entitled to under the relevant PRC laws and our Consolidated Affiliated Entity’s articles of association, including but 
not limited to the sale, transfer, pledge, or disposition of their equity interest in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity 
in part or in whole, and acting as an agent to submit any documents required to be submitted by shareholders 
or directors of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity to relevant government authorities or other regulatory authorities; 
and (iii) designating and appointing on their behalf the legal representative, directors, supervisors, chief executive 
officer, and other senior management members of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity. During the term of this Power 
of Attorney, the Registered Shareholders waive all the rights associated with their equity interest in our Consolidated 
Affiliated Entity and shall not exercise such rights.

The Registered Shareholders also undertakes that if there is a potential conflict of interest between themselves and 
our Consolidated Affiliated Entity and the WFOE or the overseas parent company of the WFOE or its subsidiaries, 
they will give priority to protect and will not harm the interests of the WFOE or the overseas parent company of 
the WFOE without violating relevant provisions of the PRC laws and regulations. In the case that the Registered 
Shareholders act as a director or senior management of the WFOE or the overseas parent company of the WFOE, 
they will authorize the WFOE or other directors or senior management of direct or indirect overseas parent company 
of the WFOE (according to the instructions of the WFOE) to exercise the rights under the Powers of Attorney, and 
the Registered Shareholders shall not sign or undertake not to sign any documents that have conflicts of interest 
with legal documents such as the agreements signed with the WFOE or the attorney and are being performed.

The Powers of Attorney will remain irrevocable and continuously effective during the period that the Registered 
Shareholders remain shareholders of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

Spousal Consent Letter(s)

Each of the spouses of Mr. Wang, Mr. Chen, Mr. Lin Yaona, Mr. Zhou and Mr. Chen Peihong has signed a spousal 
consent (collectively, the “Spousal Consent Letter(s)”). Under each of the Spousal Consent Letters, each spouse 
agreed to the execution of the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Power 
of Attorney, and the disposal of the equity interests in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity held by their respective 
spouse according to the above mentioned documents. The signing spouses also agreed that: (i) any equity interests 
held by their respective spouse in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity do not fall within the scope of their marital 
assets; (ii) they will not make any claim in respect of the equity interests held by their respective spouse, including 
but not limited to claiming the equity interests as marital assets or requesting to participate in the operation and 
management of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity; (iii) if they obtain any equity interests of our Consolidated Affiliated 
Entity for any reasons, they shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and comply with the obligations 
thereunder; (iv) in the event of death, bankruptcy, incapacity, divorce of their respective spouse, or any circumstance 
that may affect the exercise of their respective spouse’s rights in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, they and their 
heirs or other persons who may claim rights or interests in the equity interest in our Consolidated Affiliated Entity will 
not take any action that may affect or hinder the obligations of the Registered Shareholders under the Contractual 
Arrangements.
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Listing Rules implications and waiver

Certain parties to the Contractual Arrangements, including Mr. Wang, Mr. Chen, Mr. Zhou and Mr. Lin Yaona, are 
connected persons of the Company, as (i) Mr. Wang is an executive Director, co-chairman of the Board, chief 
executive officer of the Company and substantial shareholder of the Company, (ii) Mr. Chen is an executive Director, 
co-chairman of the Board and substantial shareholder of the Company, (iii) Mr. Zhou is a substantial shareholder of 
the Company, and (iv) Mr. Lin Yaona is a director of Zhejiang Tuya and substantial shareholder of Hangzhou Tuya 
Technology. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing 
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules upon Listing. The transactions will be subject to 
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for, and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has 
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under 
the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an 
annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and 
(iii) the requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 
of the Listing Rules, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange subject however to the 
following conditions:

(i) No change without independent non-executive Directors’ approval – No change to the Contractual 
Arrangements (including with respect to any fees payable to Tuya Information thereunder) will be made 
without the approval of the independent non-executive Directors.

(ii) No change without independent Shareholders’ approval – Save as described in “(iv) Renewal and 
Reproduction” below, no change to the agreements constituting the Contractual Arrangements will be 
made without the approval of the Company’s independent Shareholders. Once independent Shareholders’ 
approval of any change has been obtained, no further announcement, circular or approval of the independent 
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules unless and until further changes are 
proposed. The periodic reporting requirement regarding the Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports 
of the Company will however continue to be applicable.

(iii) Economic benefits flexibility – The Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive the 
entire economic benefits derived by Hangzhou Tuya Technology through (i) the Group’s option (if and when 
so allowed under the applicable PRC laws) to acquire all or part of the entire equity interests in Hangzhou 
Tuya Technology for nominal consideration or the minimum amount of consideration permitted by applicable 
PRC laws and regulations, (ii) the business structure under which the entire profit generated by Hangzhou 
Tuya Technology is substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap shall be set on the amount 
of service fees payable to Tuya Information by Hangzhou Tuya Technology under the Exclusive Business 
Cooperation Agreement, and (iii) the Group’s right to control the management and operation of, in substance, 
all of the voting rights of Hangzhou Tuya Technology.
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(iv) Renewal and reproduction – On the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable 
framework for the relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries in which the Company has direct 
shareholding, on the one hand, and Hangzhou Tuya Technology, on the other hand, that framework may be 
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or in relation to any existing or new 
wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating company (including branch company) engaging in the same 
business as that of the Group which the Group might wish to establish when justified by business expediency, 
without obtaining the approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms and conditions as the 
existing Contractual Arrangements. The directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders of any existing 
or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating company (including branch company) engaging in the 
same business as that of the Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal and/or reproduction of 
the Contractual Arrangements, however be treated as connected persons of the Company and transactions 
between these connected persons and the Company other than those under similar contractual arrangements 
shall comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC laws, regulations 
and approvals.

(v) Ongoing reporting and approvals – The Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual Arrangements 
on an on-going basis as follows:

For the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected person”, 
the Consolidated Affiliated Entity will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and at the 
same time, the directors, chief executive officers or substantial shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entity and its associates will be treated as connected persons of our Group (excluding for this purpose, the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity), and transactions between these connected persons and our Group (including 
for this purpose, the Consolidated Affiliated Entity), other than those under the Contractual Arrangements, will 
be subject to requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation from independent non-executive Directors

The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out 
in this report and confirmed that such continuing connected transactions had been entered into (i) in the ordinary 
and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii) according to the 
agreement governing the transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders 
as a whole.

In addition, the Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements 
and confirmed that (i) the transactions carried during the year have been entered into in accordance with the 
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, (ii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or 
transferred to the Group during the year, (iii) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced between 
the Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the year other than the ones disclosed above, and (iv) the 
Contractual Arrangements were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group on normal 
commercial terms or better and are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to the Shareholders, so far as the Group 
is concerned and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Reporting from the Company’s independent auditor

The auditor of the Company has carried out review procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information”  and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
annually on the continuing connected transactions.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing 
connected transactions entered into in the Reporting Period:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing such transactions;

(iii) other than those transactions with Hangzhou Tuya Technology as part of the Contractual Arrangements, 
nothing has come to the attention of the auditors that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing 
connected transactions have exceed the annual cap as set by the Company; and

(iv) with respect to the Contractual Arrangements, nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes 
them to believe that dividends or other distributions have been made by Hangzhou Tuya Technology to the 
Registered Shareholders which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

The revenue of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity amounted to US$Nil for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
representing approximately Nil% of the total revenue of our Group. As of December 31, 2023, the total assets of our 
Consolidated Affiliated Entity amounted to US$0.01 million, representing approximately 0.001% of the total assets of 
our Group.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements” and 
“Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

WEIGHTED VOTING RIGHTS

The Company is controlled through weighted voting rights. Under this structure, the Company’s share capital 
comprises Class A Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares. Each Class A Ordinary Share entitles the holder 
to exercise one vote, and each Class B Ordinary Share currently entitles the holder to exercise ten votes, on any 
resolution tabled at the Company’s general meetings, except for resolutions with respect to the Reserved Matters, in 
relation to which each Share is entitled to one vote.

The WVR Structure of the Company enables the WVR Beneficiaries to exercise voting control over the Company 
notwithstanding that they do not hold a majority economic interest in the share capital of the Company. This will 
enable the Company to benefit from the continuing vision and leadership of the WVR Beneficiaries who will control 
the Company with a view to its long-term prospects and strategy.
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Investors are advised to be aware of the potential risks of investing in companies with a WVR structure, in particular 
that the interests of the WVR Beneficiaries may not necessarily always be aligned with those of the Shareholders 
as a whole, and that the WVR Beneficiaries will be in a position to exert significant influence over the affairs of 
the Company and the outcome of Shareholders’ resolutions. Investors should make the decision to invest in the 
Company only after due and careful consideration.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the WVR Beneficiaries are Mr. Wang and Mr. Chen. Mr. Wang, through Tuya 
Group Inc. (which is wholly owned by Mr. Wang), Tenet Group and Tenet Vision (both of which are wholly owned 
by Tenet Global which is in turn wholly owned by Tenet Smart, and Tenet Smart is wholly owned by TMF (Cayman) 
Ltd. as the trustee of Mr. Wang’s Family Trust, of which the settlor is Mr. Wang and the beneficiaries are Mr. 
Wang and Tuya Group Inc.), has been controlling 70,220,130 Class A Ordinary Shares and 43,379,870 Class B 
Ordinary Shares. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Chen through Unileo, his wholly-owned intermediary holding 
company, has been controlling 1,974,570 Class A Ordinary Shares and 26,825,430 Class B Ordinary Shares.

Without taking into account the voting rights attached to the 15,012,706 Class A Ordinary Shares (as of the Latest 
Practicable Date) held by the Depositary which may be used to satisfy any future exercise or vesting of awards 
granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, Mr. Wang and Mr. Chen beneficially own and control, through their 
intermediaries, an aggregate of 72,194,700 Class A Ordinary Shares and 70,205,300 Class B Ordinary Shares, 
representing (a) approximately 24.78% of the Company’s issued Shares; (b) approximately 25.45% of the effective 
voting rights with respect to shareholder resolutions relating to Reserved Matters, on the basis that each Share 
entitles the Shareholder to one vote per share; and (c) approximately 64.98% of the effective voting rights, on the 
basis that Class A Ordinary Shares entitle the Shareholder to one vote per share and Class B Ordinary Shares entitle 
the Shareholder to ten votes per share.

Class B Ordinary Shares may be converted into Class A Ordinary Shares on a one to one ratio. As of the Latest 
Practicable Date, upon the conversion of all the issued and outstanding Class B Ordinary Shares into Class A 
Ordinary Shares, the Company will issue 70,205,300 Class A Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 12.22% 
of the total number of issued and outstanding Class A Ordinary Shares (as enlarged by such Class A Ordinary 
Shares).

The weighted voting rights attached to the Class B Ordinary Shares will cease when the WVR Beneficiaries no 
longer have beneficial ownership of, or economic interest in, or control over the voting rights attached to any of the 
Class B Ordinary Shares, in accordance with Rule 8A.22 of the Listing Rules. This may occur:

(i) upon the occurrence of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 8A.17 of the Listing Rules, in particular 
where the WVR Beneficiaries are: (1) deceased; (2) no longer a member of the Board; (3) deemed by the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange to be incapacitated for the purpose of performing his duties as a director; or (4) 
deemed by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to no longer meet the requirements of a director set out in the 
Listing Rules;

(ii) when the holders of Class B Ordinary Shares have transferred to another person the beneficial ownership of, 
or economic interest in the Class B Ordinary Shares or the control over the voting rights attached to them, 
other than in the circumstances permitted by Rule 8A.18 of the Listing Rules;

(iii) where a vehicle holding Class B Ordinary Shares on behalf of a WVR Beneficiary no longer complies with Rule 
8A.18(2) of the Listing Rules; or

(iv) when all of the Class B Ordinary Shares have been converted to Class A Ordinary Shares.
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The weighted voting rights attached to the Class B Ordinary Shares beneficially owned or controlled by Mr. Chen 
and any affiliate of Mr. Chen (including any person that directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under 
common control with Mr. Chen) will also cease when Mr. Chen ceases to be an executive officer or employee of 
the Company (e.g. if Mr. Chen is re-designated as a non-executive Director or he ceases to assume any role with 
executive or management function in the Company or he ceases to have any employment relationship with the 
Company which remains effective).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, our largest customer and five largest customers in the aggregate 
accounted for 5.9% and 13.1% of our total revenue, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, our 
largest supplier and five largest suppliers in the aggregate accounted for 11.3% and 38.9% of our total purchases, 
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of our Directors, their associates or any of our shareholders (who 
or which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of our issued share capital) had any interest in any 
of our five largest customers or suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, 
being the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new 
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholder by reason of their holding of 
the Shares.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s material subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2023 are 
set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Company’s properties are held for development and/or sale or for investment purposes.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in 
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors 
confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended December 31, 2023 
and up to the Latest Practicable Date as required under the Listing Rules.
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DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group made charitable donations of RMB0.9 million (the year ended 
December 31, 2022: RMB0.7 million).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Equity Incentive Plan” in this report, no equity-linked agreement was 
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended December 31, 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 
indemnified out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges, losses, 
damages and expenses that they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done or omitted 
in or about the execution of their duty in their respective offices or trusts.

Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and has been in force for the year ended December 31, 
2023. The Company has taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for the Directors.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in 
the consolidated statements of changes shareholders’ in equity. As at December 31, 2023, the Company had no 
reserves available for distribution under the provisions of the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the audited financial information and financial statements, is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any loans, overdrafts and borrowings from bank and other 
financial institutions (2022: nil).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a director agreement with our Company on June 16, 2022. 
The term of appointment shall be for an initial term of three years or until the third annual general meeting of our 
Company after the Listing Date (whichever is earlier). Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not 
less than thirty days’ written notice. The executive Directors do not receive any director’s fees under the current 
arrangement.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a director agreement with our Company on 
June 16, 2022. The term of appointment shall be three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general 
meeting of our Company after the Listing Date (whichever is earlier) (subject always to re-election and rotation as 
and when required under the Articles of Association). Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not less 
than thirty days’ written notice. Each of our independent non-executive Directors (other than HUANG Sidney Xuande) 
shall receive an annual director’s fee of US$50,000 per annum, and HUANG Sidney Xuande shall receive an annual 
director’s fee of US$75,000 per annum.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed by the Company and any Directors to be 
re-elected in the forthcoming annual general meeting which is not determinable by the Company within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections “Connected Transactions” of this Directors’ report and Note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this annual report, none of the Directors or any entity connected with the Directors had a 
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the 
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at 
the end of the year ended December 31, 2023.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five highest paid individuals as well as senior 
management of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in Notes 24 and 25 to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

The remuneration (including basic salaries, housing fund, allowances and benefits in kind, employer’s contributions 
to a retirement benefit scheme and share-based compensation) of the senior management of the Company by band 
during the Reporting Period is shown in the following table:

Band of remuneration (including share-based compensation) Number of individuals

US$150,000 to US$200,000 1
US$200,000 to US$250,000 1
US$7,000,000 to US$7,500,000 1
US$7,500,000 to US$8,000,000 1
US$19,000,000 to US$19,500,000 1

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Directors waived his/her emoluments nor agreed to waive 
his/her emoluments, and no emoluments, retirement benefits, loans, quasi-loans, other dealings and consideration 
provided to or received by third parties for making available the services of a person as director or in any other 
capacity while director were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or five highest paid individuals as inducement 
to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual report, no contract of significance 
or contract of significance for the provision of services has been entered into among the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of 
the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. As of the date of this report, there was no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the 
preceding three years.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holdings companies a party to any arrangement to enable any Director to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debenture of the Company or any other body corporate; 
and none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for 
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the Directors had interests in any business apart from the 
Group’s business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the 
Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE OF SHARES

For details of purchase of Shares, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report – Purchase, Sale or 
Redemption of The Company’s Listed Securities, Transaction in Securities” in this annual report. The Directors are 
of the view that repurchases of Shares may, depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements at the 
time, lead to an enhancement of the net asset value per Share and/or earnings per Share.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

In respect of the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company does not have any disclosure obligations under 
Rules 13.17 to 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of the date of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the 
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which 
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register required 
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interest in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Name Nature of Interest
Number and class

 of Shares held

Approximate
 percentage of

 interest in each
 class of Shares(1)

(%)

Mr. Wang Beneficial owner, interest in controlled
 corporation, founder and beneficiary
 of a trust

75,320,130 Class A
 Ordinary Shares (L)(2)(3)

14.93

Interest in controlled corporation,
 founder and beneficiary of a trust

43,379,870 Class B
 Ordinary Shares (L)(3)

61.79

Mr. Chen Interest in controlled corporation 1,974,570 Class A
 Ordinary Shares (L)(4)

0.39

26,825,430 Class B
 Ordinary Shares (L)(4)

38.21

Mr. Yang Beneficial owner 6,500,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares (L)(5)

1.29

LIU Yao Beneficial owner 5,000,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares (L)(6)

0.99

HUANG Sidney Xuande(8) Beneficial owner, Interest of spouse 407,500 Class A
 Ordinary Shares (L)(7)(8)

0.08

QIU Changheng Beneficial owner 9,500 Class A
 Ordinary Shares (L)

0.002

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 504,387,299 Class A Ordinary Shares and 70,205,300 Class B Ordinary Shares in issue as 
of December 31, 2023. The letter “L” stands for long position.

(2) Mr. Wang is entitled to receive up to 5,100,000 Class A Ordinary Shares, pursuant to the share options granted to him, subject to the 
conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.
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(3) Each of Tenet Group and Tenet Vision is wholly owned by Tenet Global, which is in turn wholly owned by Tenet Smart. Tenet Smart is wholly 
owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as the trustee of Mr. Wang’s Family Trust, of which the settlor is Mr. Wang and the beneficiaries are Mr. Wang 
and Tuya Group Inc. Tuya Group Inc. is wholly owned by Mr. Wang.

As such, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the 68,793,080 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Tenet Group, 34,806,920 Class B 
Ordinary Shares held by Tenet Vision, 1,427,050 Class A Ordinary Shares and 8,572,950 Class B Ordinary Shares held by Tuya Group Inc.

(4) Unileo is wholly owned by Mr. Chen. As such, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in the 1,974,570 Class A Ordinary Shares and 26,825,430 
Class B Ordinary Shares held by Unileo.

(5) Mr. Yang is entitled to receive up to 6,500,000 Class A Ordinary Shares, pursuant to the share options granted to him, subject to the 
conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

(6) Ms. LIU Yao is entitled to receive up to 5,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares, pursuant to the share options granted to her, subject to the 
conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

(7) Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande has been granted RSUs representing a total of 400,000 Class A Ordinary Shares or ADS in equivalent amount, 
subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those RSUs, of which RSUs representing 100,000 Class A Ordinary Shares or 
ADSs in equivalent amount had been vested as of Latest Practicable Date.

(8) Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande is deemed to be interested in the 7,500 Class A Ordinary Shares represented by ADS held by Ms. YANG Xu 
(HUANG Sidney Xuande’s wife).

Interest in Associated Corporations

Name Nature of Interest Associated corporations

Amount of
registered

capital

Approximate
 percentage

 of interest in
 the associated

 corporation
(RMB) (%)

Mr. Wang Beneficial owner Hangzhou Tuya Technology 6,069,000 (L) 60.69
Mr. Chen Beneficial owner Hangzhou Tuya Technology 1,310,000 (L) 13.10

Note: The letter “L” stands for long position.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, so far as is known to any Director or the chief executive of the 
Company, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in the 
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 
therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives whose interests have 
been disclosed in this report), had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall 
to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of substantial
shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding in
 each class of

 Shares(1)

(%)

Class A Ordinary Shares
New Enterprise Associates
 14, L.P.(2)

Beneficial owner 109,744,738 (L) 21.76

NEA Partners 14 L.P.(2) Interest in controlled corporation 109,744,738 (L) 21.76
NEA 14 GP, LTD(2) Interest in controlled corporation 109,744,738 (L) 21.76
Tencent Mobility Limited(3) Beneficial owner 55,924,749 (L) 11.09
Tencent(3) Interest in controlled corporation 58,299,749 (L) 11.56
Tenet Group(4) Beneficial owner 68,793,080 (L) 13.64
Tenet Global(4) Interest in controlled corporation 68,793,080 (L) 13.64
Tenet Smart(4) Interest in controlled corporation 68,793,080 (L) 13.64
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.(4) Trustee 68,793,080 (L) 13.64
Tuya Group Inc.(4) Beneficial owner 1,427,050 (L) 0.28

Beneficiary of a trust 68,793,080 (L) 13.64
The Bank of New York Mellon
 Corporation(5)

Interest in controlled corporation 124,248,599 (L) 24.63
124,236,869 (S) 24.63

Class B Ordinary Shares
Tenet Vision(4) Beneficial owner 34,806,920 (L) 49.58
Tenet Global(4) Interest in controlled corporation 34,806,920 (L) 49.58
Tenet Smart(4) Interest in controlled corporation 34,806,920 (L) 49.58
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.(4) Trustee 34,806,920 (L) 49.58
Tuya Group Inc.(4) Beneficial owner 8,572,950 (L) 12.21

Beneficiary of a trust 34,806,920 (L) 49.58
Unileo(6) Beneficial owner 26,825,430 (L) 38.21



TUYA INC.   ANNUAL REPORT 202338

Directors’ Report

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 504,387,299 Class A Ordinary Shares and 70,205,300 Class B Ordinary Shares in issue as 
of December 31, 2023. The letter “L” stands for long position and the letter “S” stands for short position.

(2) The sole general partner of New Enterprise Associates 14, L.P. is NEA Partners 14 L.P. The sole general partner of NEA Partners 14 L.P. is 
NEA 14 GP, LTD. As such, NEA Partners 14 L.P. and NEA 14 GP, LTD. are interested in the 109,744,738 Class A Ordinary Shares held by 
New Enterprise Associates 14, L.P.

(3) Tencent Mobility Limited and Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited are wholly owned by Tencent. As such, Tencent is deemed to be 
interested in the 55,924,749 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Tencent Mobility Limited and 2,375,000 Class A Ordinary Shares represented 
by ADSs owned by Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited.

(4) Each of Tenet Group and Tenet Vision is wholly owned by Tenet Global, which is in turn wholly owned by Tenet Smart. Tenet Smart is wholly 
owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as the trustee of Mr. Wang’s Family Trust, of which the settlor is Mr. Wang and the beneficiaries are Mr. Wang 
and Tuya Group Inc. Tuya Group Inc. is wholly owned by Mr. Wang.

Therefore, Tuya Group Inc. (being a beneficiary of Mr. Wamg’s Family Trust), Tenet Global, Tenet Smart and TMF (Cayman) Ltd are deemed 
to be interested in 68,793,080 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Tenet Group and 34,806,920 Class B Ordinary Shares held by Tenet Vision, 
respectively. Tuya Group Inc. also holds 1,427,050 Class A Ordinary Shares and 8,572,950 Class B Ordinary Shares.

(5) The Bank of New York Mellon is wholly owned by The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation. As such, The Bank of New York Mellon 
Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 124,248,599 (L) and 124,236,869 (S) Class A Ordinary Shares held by The Bank of New York 
Mellon.

(6) Unileo is wholly owned by Mr. Chen. As such, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in the 26,825,430 Class B Ordinary Shares held by 
Unileo.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, no person, other than the Directors and chief executives whose 
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares 
and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any of its Associated Corporations” had an interest or 
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be recorded in the registry required to be kept 
by the Company pursuant to Section 335 of the SFO.

THE 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
The 2015 Equity Incentive Plan was adopted on December 23, 2014 and was further amended in July 2020, 
February 2021 and on June 15, 2022 (with such amendment taking effect from the Listing). The principal terms of 
the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and currently in force, are as described below.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan is to attract and retain the best available personnel 
for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional incentives to selected employees, Directors, and 
consultants and to promote the success of our business.

Eligible participants. Any employee, Director or consultant of the Company who is engaged by the Group to 
render consulting or advisory services to the Group shall be eligible to participate in the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Awards. The 2015 Equity Incentive Plan permits the awards of options, restricted shares, and RSUs approved by 
the plan administrator. At the discretion of the Board or the committee of the Board as administrator, ADSs in an 
amount equivalent to the number of Class A Ordinary Shares which otherwise would be distributed pursuant to an 
award may be distributed in lieu of Class A Ordinary Shares in settlement of any award.

Exercise period. The exercise period of the options granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan shall commence 
from the date on which the relevant options become vested and ended on the expiry date, subject to the terms of 
the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and the share option award agreement signed by the grantee.
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Vesting period. The vesting period (including any vesting acceleration thereof) for the options and/or awards 
granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan shall be determined at the discretion of the Board or the committee 
of the Board as administrator. In the case of (i) employees and non-employees, the vesting period is generally 
measured over the requisite service period; and (ii) the PRC employees of the Group with only service conditions, 
accelerated full vesting schedule is allowed under limited circumstances. During the Reporting Period, the vesting 
period of options and/or awards granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan ranges from 36 to 48 months. For 
further details of the vesting period attached to options and awards granted during the Reporting Period (if any), 
please refer to the tables set forth on pages 41 to 44 of this report.

Maximum number of Class A Ordinary Shares. The overall limit on the number of the Shares underlying the 
awards pursuant to 2015 Equity Incentive Plan is 64,889,052 Class A Ordinary Shares, of which the total number 
of Class A Ordinary Shares which may be issued and/or transferred upon vesting or exercise of all options that 
may be granted pursuant to the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and any other share award schemes of the Company 
in aggregate shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Class A Ordinary Shares in issue immediately upon the 
Listing (the “Plan Limit”), being 49,914,656 Class A Ordinary Shares.

Any equity awards in the form of options that were granted prior to the Listing under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan 
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan or exercised 
options) will not be counted for the purpose of the Plan Limit. The total number of Shares to be issued upon 
exercise of all outstanding options under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and all other schemes of the Company 
granted and yet to be exercised shall not exceed 30% of all the Class A Ordinary Shares in issue from time to time.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, 56,571,052 Class A Ordinary Shares are available for issue and/or transfer 
upon vesting or exercise of all options and awards granted and may be granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive 
Plan, representing approximately 11.22% of the total number of Class A Ordinary Shares in issue as at the Latest 
Practicable Date, and approximately 9.85% of the total number of all Shares (including Class A Ordinary Shares and 
Class B Ordinary Shares) in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date; amongst the said 56,571,052 Class A Ordinary 
Shares, only up to 49,914,656 Class A Ordinary Shares are available for issue and/or transfer upon vesting or 
exercise of all options granted and may be granted, representing approximately 9.90% of the total number of Class 
A Ordinary Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, and approximately 8.69% of the total number of all 
Shares (including Class A Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares) in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The total number of options available for grant under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan as of January 1, 2023 and 
December 31, 2023 are 49,914,656 and 49,914,656 respectively. The total number of options and awards available 
for grant under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan as of January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023 are 57,842,052 and 
56,661,052, respectively. As at December 31, 2023, there is no service provider sublimit adopted under the 2015 
Equity Incentive Plan.

Given that all of the awards granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan during the Reporting Period were funded 
by the Depositary Shares, there were no new Class A Ordinary Shares that was issued (or may be issued upon 
vesting) in respect of the such awards granted during the Reporting Period.

Maximum entitlement of a grantee. Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, the total number 
of Class A Ordinary Shares issued and to be issued and/or transferred and to be transferred upon the vesting or 
exercise of the options or awards granted to each participant in any 12-month period shall not (when aggregated 
with any Class A Ordinary Shares underlying the awards granted during such period under any other share award 
schemes of our Company) exceed 1% of the Class A Ordinary Shares in issue for the time being.
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Exercise price for options and purchase price for awards. As regards options offered under the 2015 Equity 
Incentive Plan, the Board or the committee of the Board as administrator is entitled to determine the exercise price 
therefor, which shall not be lower than the fair market value per share on the date of grant, which shall not be less 
than the highest of (a) the closing sales price of the Class A Ordinary Shares as quoted on the principal exchange 
or system on which the Class A Ordinary Shares are listed (as determined by the Board or the Board committee 
delegated with authority to administer the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan) on the date of grant, (b) the average closing 
sales price as quoted on the principal exchange or system on which the Class A Ordinary Shares are listed for the 
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The maximum exercisable term is ten years from the 
date of grant. In the case of an option granted to a participant who, immediately prior to the time is granted, owns 
more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of outstanding securities of the Company or parent 
company or subsidiary of the Company, the term of option shall not be exercisable after the expiration of five years 
from the date of grant. There is no additional amount payable on application or acceptance of the share option 
or award. There is no prescribed period within which payments or calls must or may be made or loans for such 
purposes must be repaid in respect of the options and/or awards offered under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Duration. Unless terminated earlier, the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan has a term of ten years. In general, the plan 
administrator determines the vesting schedule, which is specified in the relevant award agreement.

Remaining life. As at December 31, 2023, the remaining life of the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan is approximately 
1 year. There is no specified period for which an offer for an option must be accepted by the relevant eligible 
participant from the date on which it is made, and no options shall generally be exercised after ten years from the 
date of grant.

Outstanding options granted. As of December 31, 2023 and the Latest Practicable Date, the number of 
underlying Shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan amounted to 
51,672,005 Class A Ordinary Shares and 51,372,755 Class A Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 8.99% 
and 8.94% of the issued Shares as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Outstanding RSUs granted.  As of December 31, 2023 and the Latest Practicable Date, the number of underlying 
Shares pursuant to the outstanding RSUs granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan amounted to 9,323,125 
Class A Ordinary Shares and 7,679,000 Class A Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 1.62% and 1.34% of 
the issued Shares as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Outstanding restricted share(s) granted (if any). As of the December 31, 2023, no restricted share has been 
granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Other than the awards granted as disclosed in the movement table set out on pages 43 to 44 of this report, no 
share awards have been granted during the Reporting Period. In addition, the options granted under the 2015 Equity 
Incentive Plan which were exercised, vested, lapsed and/or cancelled during the Reporting Period were funded by 
the Depositary Shares.

Pursuant to Rule 17.03D(1) of the Listing Rules, during the Reporting Period and as of December 31, 2023, no 
grant of share options and awards to any one participant in aggregate exceeded 1% of the total of Class A Ordinary 
Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares in issue in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant under the 
2015 Equity Incentive Plan. No share option or award has been granted to any related entity participant or service 
provider under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.
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Notes:

(1) During the Reporting Period, no option was granted. In respect of the exercise period of the options under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, 
the exercise period of the options granted shall commence from the date on which the relevant options become vested and ended on the 
expiry date, subject to the terms of the relevant 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and the share option award agreement signed by the grantee. No 
options shall generally be exercised after ten years from the date of grant.

(2) Refers to the number of Class A Ordinary Shares underlying the relevant options (funded by the Depositary Shares) granted during the 
Reporting Period.

(3) In respect of the exercised options which were funded by ADSs underlying Class A Ordinary Shares already issued and registered in the 
name of the Depositary during the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing price of the ADSs quoted on the NYSE immediately 
before the date(s) on which the options were exercised was US$1.88.

(4) Save for those set out in this movement table, there are no grants of options to (i) any other Directors, chief executive or substantial 
Shareholders of the Company or their respective associates; (ii) any participant with options and awards in excess of the 1% individual limit; 
(iii) any related entity participant or service provider and, in each case, which are funded by new Shares of the Company or the Depositary 
Shares under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

(5) All of the above grants were made prior to the amendment to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules taking effect.
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Notes:

(1) During the Reporting Period, the vesting period of the awards granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan was 36 to 48 months. There is 
no purchase price attached to the unvested awards during the Reporting Period.

(2) The fair value of awards are calculated in accordance with the accounting standard and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial 
statements, namely the U.S. GAAP. For the description of the basis for fair value measurement and information on whether and how the 
features of the awards are incorporated into the measurement of fair value, please refer to Note 2(z) to the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company.

(3) Refers to the number of Class A Ordinary Shares underlying the relevant awards (funded by the Depositary Shares) granted during the 
Reporting Period.

(4) The weighted average closing price of the ADSs quoted on the NYSE immediately before the date(s) on which the awards were vested was 
US$1.87.

(5) Save for the awards granted during the Reporting Period as described in Note 6 below, all of the above grants were made prior to the 
amendment to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules taking effect.

(6) The following grants were made during the Reporting Period, of which no performance target and/or clawback mechanism or purchase price 
were attached thereto. All grantees under the grants made during the Reporting Period were employee participants of the Group. The vesting 
period of such awards granted during the Reporting Period ranges from 36 to 48 months. There was no arrangement for the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries to provide financial assistance to such grantees to facilitate the purchase of shares under the 2015 Equity Incentive 
Plan. After the grant on March 30, 2023, 57,816,052 underlying Shares will be available for future grants under the 2015 Equity Incentive 
Plan. After the grant on June 27, 2023, 56,661,052 underlying Shares will be available for future grants under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Category of grantee Date of grant

Granted
 during the
 Reporting

 Period

Closing price
 per ADS

 underlying
 the awards

 granted
 during the
 Reporting

 Period
 immediately

 before the
 grant date(s)

 quoted on 
the NYSE

Closing price
 per ADS

 underlying
 the awards

 granted
 during the
 Reporting

 Period
 on the

 grant date(s)
 quoted on
 the NYSE Vesting period

Fair Value
 of the

 awards
 granted

 (funded by the
 Depositary

 Shares)
 during the
 Reporting

 Period 
at the 

date of grant
(US$) (US$) (US$)

Other 479 employee participants
March 30, 2023 26,000 1.86 1.91 4 years 1.91
June 27, 2023 1,155,000 1.78 1.79 3-4 years 1.79

Subtotal 1,181,000

Total 1,181,000

(7) Save for those set out in this movement table, there are no grants of awards under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan to (i) any other Directors, 
chief executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company or their respective associates; (ii) any participant with options and awards 
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit; or (iii) any related entity participant or service provider and, in each case, which are funded by 
new Shares of the Company or the Depositary Shares.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES, 
TRANSACTION IN SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased approximately 1.2 million ADSs representing the same 
number of Class A ordinary shares of the Company from the open market for a total consideration of approximately 
US$2.0 million.

Details of the share repurchases during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Month and year of 
repurchase

Number and method of 
repurchased ADSs representing 
the same number of Class A 
ordinary shares

Price paid 
per Class A ordinary share

Aggregate 
consideration

Highest Lowest

March 2023 620,507 on the New York Stock 
 Exchange

US$1.800 US$1.575 US$1,072,970.56

June 2023 68,900 on the New York Stock 
 Exchange

US$1.950 US$1.890 US$133,032.12

August 2023 345,488 on the New York Stock 
 Exchange

US$1.850 US$1.490 US$567,724.50

September 2023 165,899 on the New York Stock 
 Exchange

US$1.800 US$1.480 US$256,894.52

Total 1,200,794 on the New York 
 Stock Exchange

US$1.950 US$1.480 US$2,030,621.70

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction in the Company’s securities, or securities of its subsidiaries (in 
each case, in the nature of (1) convertible securities, options warrants or similar rights issued or granted; (2) exercise 
of any conversion or subscription rights attached to the aforesaid; or (3) redemption, purchase or cancellation of 
redeemable securities) during the Reporting Period.
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DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO LISTING 
RULE 13.51B(1)

References are made to (1) the announcement of the Company dated June 20, 2023 in relation to, inter alia, (i) the 
retirement of Ms. HONG Jing as a non-executive director of the Company, (ii) Mr. QIU Changheng ceasing to be 
a member of the Audit Committee, and (iii) Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason having been appointed as a member of the 
Audit Committee, each with effect from June 20, 2023; (2) the announcement of the Company dated July 26, 2023 
(Hong Kong time) in relation to the Lawsuit; and (3) the announcement of the Company dated November 28, 2023 in 
relation to (i) Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) ceasing to be a member of each of the Compensation 
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, and (ii) Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason having been appointed as a 
member of each of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, each with effect from 
November 28, 2023.

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company sets forth below the change in information required 
to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the Reporting 
Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date:

(1) Ms. HONG Jing retired as non-executive Director with effect from June 20, 2023;

(2) Mr. QIU Changheng ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from June 20, 2023;

(3) Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason was appointed as (i) a member of the Audit Committee with effect from June 20, 
2023, and (ii) a member of each of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee 
with effect from November 28, 2023;

(4) Mr. YANG Yi, an executive Director, received service of process in relation to the Lawsuit filed in the United 
States District Court for the Southern District of New York;

(5) Ms. LIU Yao, an executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer, received service of process in relation to 
the aforesaid Lawsuit;

(6) Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) ceased to be a member of each of the Compensation 
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee with effect from November 28, 2023;

(7) Mr. WANG Xueji, an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer, received service of process in relation 
to the aforesaid Lawsuit on January 9, 2024; and

(8) Mr. CHEN Liaohan, an executive Director and the president of the Company, received service of process in 
relation to the aforesaid Lawsuit on January 9, 2024.

Other than the aforesaid changes, during the Reporting Period, there has been no change to the information of the 
Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. Further details on the 
Lawsuit has been set forth in the sub-section headed “Material Litigation” on page 48 of this report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

On July 5, 2022, the Class A Ordinary Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 
The net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$70 million, which will be applied for the 
following purposes:

• Approximately 30% is expected to be used over the course of the next five years to enhance our IoT 
technologies and infrastructure.

• Approximately 30% is expected to be used over the course of the next five years to expand and enhance our 
product offerings.

• Approximately 15% is expected to be used over the course of the next five years for marketing and branding 
activities.

• Approximately 15% will be used over the course of the next five years to pursue strategic partnerships, 
investments and acquisitions to implement our long-term growth strategies.

• Approximately 10% will be used over the course of the next five years for general corporate purposes and 
working capital needs.

Regarding net proceeds that had not been utilized, the Company intends to use them in the same manner, 
allocations and proportions as stated in the Prospectus. The completion time of utilizing the net proceeds will be 
determined based on the future business development of the Company. During the Reporting Period, the Company 
had utilized the net proceeds as set out in the table below:

Percentage 
of the total 

net proceeds 
raised from 
the Listing

 Approximate

Planned use of 
proceeds in the 

same manner 
and proportion 

as stated in the 
Prospectus

 Approximate

Net proceeds
 unutilized as at
January 1, 2023

 Approximate

Actual use of 
proceeds 

during the 
Reporting 

Period
 Approximate

Net proceeds 
unutilized as at 

December 31, 
2023

 Approximate

Expected timeframe for 
utilizing the remaining 
unutilized net proceeds

(%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)

       
To enhance our IoT technologies 
 and infrastructure.

30% 21.0 21.0 6.3 14.7 Over the course of the next 
 four years

To expand and enhance our 
 product offerings.

30% 21.0 21.0 6.3 14.7 Over the course of the next 
 four years

For marketing and branding 
 activities.

15% 10.5 10.5 3.2 7.3 Over the course of the next 
 four years

To pursue strategic partnerships, 
 investments and acquisitions to 
 implement our long-term growth 
 strategies.

15% 10.5 10.5 3.2 7.3 Over the course of the next 
 four years

For general corporate purposes 
 and working capital needs.

10% 7.0 7.0 2.1 4.9 Over the course of the next 
 four years

Total 100% 70.0 70.0 21.1 48.9
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To the extent that net proceeds are not immediately used for the intended use and to the extent permitted by the 
relevant law and regulations, the Company will only place the net proceeds as short-term deposits only at licensed 
banks or financial institutions located in the PRC.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the year ended December 31, 2023 
which could have a material and adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. The Directors are 
also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against the Company since the 
Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date which could have a material and adverse effect on our financial 
condition or results of operations.

Nevertheless, as disclosed in (i) the announcement of the Company dated July 26, 2023 (Hong Kong time) and (ii) 
the Form 20-F of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 which was published by way of an 
overseas regulatory announcement of the Company on April 26, 2023, in August 2022, the Company and certain 
of its current and former directors and officers and its underwriters in the Company’s U.S. Listing were named 
as defendants in a securities class action filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. An 
amended complaint in this class action was filed in March 2023. The action, purportedly brought on behalf of a 
class of persons or entities who purchased ADS in or traceable to the Company’s U.S. Listing, alleges that the 
Company’s registration statement on Form F-1 in connection with the U.S. Listing contains materially misleading 
statements and omissions in violation of Section 11 of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933. Pursuant to a scheduling 
order entered in January 2023, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the action in May 2023. On March 5, 2024 
(U.S. Eastern Time), the court entered an order granting the Company’s motion to dismiss in part and denying it in 
part. Discovery has been stayed pending resolution of our motion to dismiss. The Company believes the Lawsuit is 
without merit. As of Latest Practicable Date, the lawsuit is still ongoing. The Company is currently unable to estimate 
the potential loss, if any, associated with the resolution of the Lawsuit.

The Company’s defence of itself in legal and regulatory proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden 
on its directors, management and employees. The results of current or future litigation and regulatory proceedings 
cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation and regulatory proceedings can have 
an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other 
factors.

EVENTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2023

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant events that might adversely affect the Group after 
December 31, 2023, and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL REPORT

The annual report and the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 were 
approved and authorized for issue by the Board on March 11, 2024

By order of the Board
Mr. Wang Xueji
Chairman

Hong Kong
April 24, 2024
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Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Xueji (王學集), aged 41, is a founder, an executive Director, the chief executive officer and the co-
chairman of the Board. Mr. Wang is responsible for the overall strategies, management, corporate culture, and 
commercial suitability and sustainability of products of the Group.

Mr. Wang has over nine years of experience in IoT industry and about 20 years of experience focusing on software 
technology, including over 13 years of experience in elastic cloud computing technologies. Prior to founding the 
Company, Mr. Wang founded PHPWind, one of the most popular open source forums software in China, in 2003. 
In 2006, Mr. Wang established Hangzhou Detian Information Technology Co., Ltd. (杭州德天信息技術有限公司) 
to officially commercialize PHPWind business from 2006 to May 2008. In May 2008, PHPWind was acquired by 
Hangzhou Ali Technology Co., Ltd. (杭州阿里科技有限公司), a subsidiary or consolidated affiliated entity of Alibaba 
Group Holding Limited (a company listed on the NYSE, symbol: BABA, and secondary listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 9988) (together with its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities, “Alibaba 
Group”). From May 2008 to February 2014, Mr. Wang worked at Alibaba Group, where he served as a senior 
director and he was responsible for leading and launching a number of major technology and product innovations 
for Alibaba Cloud and Alipay, including Alibaba’s Quick Reference Code payment system.

Mr. Wang received a bachelor’s degree in information and technology science from Zhejiang Sci-Tech University 
(浙江理工大學) in the PRC in June 2005. Mr. Wang was recognized by Forbes as a member of China’s Thirty 
Entrepreneurs under 30 in February 2012, and was named by Fortune China as one of China’s Forty Business Elites 
under 40 in April 2021.

Mr. CHEN Liaohan (陳燎罕), aged 41, is a founder, an executive Director and the co-chairman of the Board, and 
has been serving as the president of our Group since June 2014. Mr. Chen is responsible for the overall strategies, 
management, business development and overall customer relationship of the Group. Mr. Chen is also a director of 
certain major subsidiaries of our Group.

Prior to co-founding the Company, Mr. Chen is the co-founder of PHPWind. Mr. Chen served as the management at 
Hangzhou Detian Information Technology Co., Ltd. (杭州德天信息技術有限公司) from 2006 to May 2008. Mr. Chen 
served as an operations director at Alibaba Group, where he worked on Alibaba Cloud and Alibaba’s O2O business, 
leading the application of technology and business operation, from May 2008 to May 2014.

Mr. Chen received a bachelor’s degree in information and computing science from Zhejiang Sci-Tech University (浙
江理工大學) in the PRC in June 2005, and received a master’s degree in computer applied technology from Zhejiang 
Sci-Tech University (浙江理工大學) in the PRC in July 2010.

Mr. YANG Yi (楊懿), aged 42, is a co-founder and an executive Director, and has been serving as our chief 
operation officer since May 2015. Mr. Yang is responsible for human resources, government relations and daily 
operations of the Group. Mr. Yang is also a director of Tuya Global.

Prior to co-founding the Company, Mr. Yang worked as a business development senior expert at Alibaba Group 
from April 2011 to May 2015, where he was responsible for developing business opportunities for multiple projects 
including mobile payment at Alibaba’s O2O business and Alibaba Cloud.

Mr. Yang received a bachelor’s degree in international business and economics from Guangdong University of 
Foreign Studies (廣東外語外貿大學) in the PRC in October 2004.
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Ms. LIU Yao (劉堯), aged 48, is an executive Director, and has been serving as our Senior Vice President and chief 
financial officer since May 2019. Ms. Liu is responsible for capital market, investment, finance, legal and internal 
controls, strategy analysis and planning of the Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Liu worked at Deutsche Bank Group from July 2007 to December 2009, where 
her last position was associate in global banking division. Ms. Liu worked at UBS AG from December 2009 to May 
2014, where her last position was executive director in investment bank division. Prior to May 2016, Ms. Liu worked 
at Red Capital Group Limited. From May 2016 to July 2018, Ms. Liu was the founding partner of RJ Capital Group. 
Ms. Liu had been an independent non-executive director at Zhengzhou Coal Mining Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (鄭
州煤礦機械集團股份有限公司) (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 564; a company 
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601717) from June 2014 to June 2020.

Ms. Liu received a bachelor’s degree in materials chemistry from Xiamen University (廈門大學) in the PRC in July 
1996, and a master’s degree in business administration from the University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 
May 2007.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande (黃宣德), aged 58, is appointed as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Huang 
is responsible for providing independent professional opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Huang has over 19 years of experience in the technology and internet industry. He is currently a senior 
advisor of JD.com, Inc. (a company listed on the Nasdaq, symbol: JD, and secondary listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 9618) and was its chief financial officer from September 2013 until his retirement 
in September 2020, including the last three months as an executive coach to his successor. He has been an 
independent non-executive director of Kuaishou Technology (a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, 
stock code: 1024) since February 2021 and an independent director of Yatsen Holding Limited (a company listed on 
the NYSE, symbol: YSG) since November 2020.

Prior to joining JD.com, Inc. in September 2013, Mr. Huang had served multiple top management roles for 
VanceInfo Technologies Inc., including its co-president, chief operating officer and chief financial officer as well as 
the chief financial officer of its successor company, Pactera Technology International Ltd., after the merger. He was 
an investment banker at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. in New York from August 2002 to July 2004. He held various 
positions including audit manager at KPMG LLP from January 1997 to August 2000 and qualified as a Certified 
Public Accountant in the State of New York in October 1999.

Mr. Huang is currently a Foundation Fellow at St Anthony’s College of the University of Oxford where he was an 
Academic Visitor focusing on geoeconomics from October 2021 to September 2022. He received an MBA degree 
from the J.L. Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University in the United States in June 2002 and a 
bachelor’s degree in accounting from Bernard M. Baruch College of The City University of New York in the United 
States in February 1997. Mr. Huang has the appropriate qualifications under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. QIU Changheng (邱昌恒), aged 48, is appointed as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Qiu is 
responsible for providing independent professional opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Qiu is a founder of Kunteng (Hainan) Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (鯤騰(海南)股權投資基金管
理有限公司) since July 2017. Prior to that, he served at Taobao (China) Software Co., Ltd. (淘寶(中國)軟件有限公司) 
from December 2004 to May 2016, where his last position was vice president.

Mr. Qiu received a bachelor’s degree in physics from Zhejiang University (浙江大學) in the PRC in June 1997 and a 
MBA degree from Peking University (北京大學) in the PRC in June 2004.

Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (郭孟雄) (alias GUO Mengxiong), aged 42, is appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director. Mr. Kuok is responsible for providing independent professional opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Kuok has been the Chief Executive Officer of K3 Venture Partners Pte. Ltd. since January 2020. He worked as 
Vice President (Projects) at Shangri-La International Hotel Management Ltd from October 2012 to February 2017. 
Mr. Kuok has been an independent non-executive director of TVS Motor Company Limited (a company listed on the 
National Stock Exchange of India Ltd., symbol: TVSMOTOR) since March 2021.

Mr. Kuok received his bachelor’s degree in science from Cornell University in the United States in January 2007.

Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason (葉栢東), aged 41, is appointed as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yip is 
responsible for providing independent professional opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Yip worked in the audit division of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Canada from May 2003 to May 2007. He was 
a manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong from June 2007 to June 2010. Mr. Yip worked in Alibaba 
Group Holding Limited (a company listed on the NYSE, symbol: BABA, and secondary listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 9988) from June 2010 to May 2022, where he served as a senior director of finance, 
primarily responsible for the group’s financial reporting and technical accounting and share-based compensation 
administration and management.

Mr. Yip received a bachelor’s degree of commerce from the University of British Columbia in Canada in May 2005. 
Mr. Yip qualified as a Chartered Accountant in Canada in January 2007 and has been a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September 2016.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management team comprises of Mr. Wang, Mr. Chen, Mr. Yang, Ms. LIU Yao, who are each an executive 
Director. For details of Mr. Wang, Mr. Chen, Mr. Yang, Ms. LIU Yao, please refer to “Directors – Executive Directors” 
above.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. CHAI Xiaolang (柴曉浪), aged 30, has been appointed as our joint company secretary with effect from January 
2022. Mr. Chai joined our Group in June 2019 and has served as the director of capital markets of the Group. 
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chai worked at Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hikvision”) from 
July 2018 to June 2019, during which he served as a senior finance specialist at Hikvision headquarter and as 
financial director at Hikvision North America. From January 2015 to June 2018, Mr. Chai worked at Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP as an auditor of audit and assurance division.

Mr. Chai received a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanghai University (上海大學) in the PRC in July 2014.

Ms. TANG King Yin (鄧景賢) has been appointed as our joint company secretary with effect from January 2022. 
Ms. Tang is a senior manager of Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services 
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor services. She has over 10 years of experience in 
the corporate secretarial field. She is a Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance Professional and an associate 
member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) (formerly The Hong Kong Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators) in the United Kingdom.

Ms. Tang received a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Shue Yan University in July 2011 
and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance and Compliance from Hong Kong Baptist University in November 
2021.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable 
Date, there has been no change to the information of the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant 
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the section headed “Disclosure of Changes in 
Directors’ Information pursuant to Listing Rule 13.51B(1)” in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high corporate governance standards to enhance 
corporate performance, transparency and accountability, and to further earn the trust of shareholders and public. 
The Company is committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance which, it believes, is crucial to 
the development of the Company and safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of the Company. Corporate 
governance is the process by which the Board instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs to ensure 
the achievement of its objectives. The board is committed to adopt sound governance and disclosure practices, and 
will continuously improve these practices and establish a highly ethical corporate culture.

For more details about the corporate governance culture, please also refer to the ESG Report which will be 
presented in a separate report and published on the websites of the Company’s investor relations at ir.tuya.com and 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate 
governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of 
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency 
and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code set forth in 
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Code as set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, save for the following.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange are expected to comply with, but may choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities 
between the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same 
individual. The Company deviates from this code provision because Mr. Wang performs both the roles of a co-
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Wang is a founder of the Group and has 
extensive experience in the business operations and management of the Group. The Board believes that, in view 
of Mr. Wang’s experience, personal profile and his roles in the Company as mentioned above, Mr. Wang is the 
Director best suited to identify strategic opportunities, ensure the consistent leadership within the Company, and 
focus on the Board due to his extensive understanding of the Company’s business as the chief executive officer 
of the Company. The Board also believes that the combined roles of both chairman and chief executive officer can 
promote the effective execution of strategic initiatives and facilitate the flow of information between management 
and the Board.
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The Board considers that the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to this arrangement. The 
reasons are: (i) all major decisions are made in consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant Board 
committees, and four independent non-executive Directors; (ii) Mr. Wang and the other Directors acknowledge 
and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as directors, which require them, among other things, to act in the 
interests of the Company in a manner that is in the best interests of the Company and to make decisions for the 
Group accordingly; and (iii) the Board is made up of experienced and talented people who meet regularly to discuss 
matters affecting the operations of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authority. In addition, the 
Group’s overall strategic and other major businesses, financial and operational policies have been formulated jointly 
by the Board and senior management after detailed discussion.

The Board will continue to review and may recommend separating the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief 
executive officer of the Company in the future if and when it is appropriate taking into account the circumstances of 
the Group as a whole.

The Company will continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance 
with the Corporate Governance Code, and maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the 
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct 
regarding directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have 
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than 
the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who, because of such office or employment, are likely 
to possess inside information in relation to the Company or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of the 
Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and be 
collectively responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. 
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements 
of the Company’s business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to perform his/her 
responsibilities to the Company and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are 
commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition of 
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the 
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises eight members consisting of four executive Directors, and four independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board comprised the 
following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Xueji (Co-chairman, chief executive officer and member of Compensation Committee)
Mr. CHEN Liaohan (Co-chairman, member of Nomination Committee)
Mr. YANG Yi
Ms. LIU Yao

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. QIU Changheng (Chairman of Compensation Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee)
Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) (Member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee)
Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason (Member of Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee)

Ms. HONG Jing retired as a non-executive Director upon conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on June 20, 2023.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in 
this annual report. There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship between members 
of the Board.

BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the board should meet regularly and 
board meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The board meetings 
will involve the active participation, either in person or through electronic means of communication, of a majority 
of directors entitled to be present, at approximately quarterly intervals. Schedules for regular Board meetings are 
normally agreed with Directors in advance to facilitate their attendance. At least 14 days’ notice for all regular Board 
meetings will be given to all Directors. For other Board meetings, notice shall be given two (2) calendar days prior 
to the meeting counting from the date service is deemed to take place as provided in the Articles of Association 
and excluding the proposed date of the Board meeting, provided that such requirement may be waived in writing 
by a majority of the Directors then in office. All Directors are given the opportunity to include items or businesses 
for discussion in the agenda. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board 
meetings and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers will be sent to all 
Directors in a timely manner of every Board meeting.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings, seven Board committee meetings and an annual general meeting 
were held. The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is expected to be held no later than June 30, 
2024.
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A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings, Board committee meetings and the annual 
general meeting of the Company held during the Reporting Period is set out in the following table:

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

Director

Annual 
general 

meeting
Board 

meeting

Audit 
Committee 

meeting

Compensation 
Committee 

meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

meeting

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 

meeting

Executive Director
Mr. WANG Xueji 1/1 4/4 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A
Mr. CHEN Liaohan 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
Mr. YANG Yi 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ms. LIU Yao 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Independent non-executive Director
Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande 1/1 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. QIU Changheng 1/1 4/4 2/2Note 1 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong
 (alias GUO Mengxiong) 1/1 3/4 3/4 N/ANote 2 1/1 1/1
Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason 1/1 4/4 2/2Note 3 1/1 N/A N/ANote 3

Notes:

1. Mr. QIU Changheng ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from June 20, 2023. During the Reporting Period, two Audit 
Committee meetings were held during his service as a member of the Audit Committee.

2. Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) ceased to be a member of each of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate 
Governance Committee with effect from November 28, 2023. During the Reporting Period, no Compensation Committee meeting was held 
during his service as a member of the Compensation Committee.

3. Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with effect from June 20, 2023, and appointed as a member of 
each of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee with effect from November 28, 2023. During the Reporting 
Period, two Audit Committee meetings were held after such appointment and no Corporate Governance Committee meeting was held after 
such appointment.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have brought in a wide range of business and financial expertise, 
experience and independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving 
on various Board committees, all independent non-executive Directors will continue to make various contributions to 
the Company.

The Board has at all times during the Reporting Period met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to 
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the 
Board members, and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive 
Directors to be independent and meet the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognizes the importance of board independence to corporate governance. In particular, the 
following mechanisms are in place in order to ensure that there is a strong independent element on the Board which 
is key to the Board’s effectiveness:

• In assessing whether a potential candidate is qualified to become an independent director of the Company, 
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and the Board will consider, among others, whether 
the candidate is able to devote sufficient time on performing his/her duties as an independent director of the 
Company, and the background and qualification of the candidate, in order to assess whether such candidates 
are able to bring independent views to the Board.

• In considering whether an independent director should be proposed for re-election, the Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee and the Board will assess and evaluate the independent director’s 
contribution to the Board during the term, in particular, whether the independent director was able to bring 
independent views to the Board.

The Company will ensure that there are channels (in addition to independent directors) where independent views 
are available, including but not limited to availability of access by directors of the Company to external independent 
professional advice to assist their performance of duties.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the aforesaid mechanism on a periodic basis.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, every director, including those appointed for 
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Pursuant to Rule 8A.29 
of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive directors of an issuer with a WVR structure must be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

A Director shall hold office until the expiration of his or her term or his or her successor shall have been elected and 
qualified, or until his or her office is otherwise vacated. A Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy on or as an 
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his 
or her appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. At every annual general meeting of the 
Company the independent non-executive Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every independent non-executive Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring independent non-executive Director shall retain 
office until the close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a director agreement with the Company. The term of appointment 
shall be for an initial term of three years from June 16, 2022 or until the third annual general meeting of the 
Company after the Listing Date (whichever is earlier).
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a director agreement with the Company. The term 
of appointment shall be three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of our Company 
after the Listing Date (whichever is earlier) (subject always to re-election and rotation as and when required under 
the Articles of Association).

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND 
MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is responsible for leadership and control of the 
Company, overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible 
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs and acting in the best interests 
of the Company and its Shareholders. The Board makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. 
All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company, and may upon request, seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging their 
duties. All Directors, including the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors, have brought 
a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and 
effective functioning. In particular, the role of an independent non-executive director of a listed issuer with a WVR 
structure include but is not limited to the functions described in code provisions C.1.2, C.1.6 and C.1.7 in Part 2 of 
Appendix C1 to the Listing rules. The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management 
of the Group’s business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business development, finance, 
marketing and operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal 
control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of 
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters of 
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily 
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the 
Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established with defined written charter. The charters of the Board 
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the 
Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things, to monitor the integrity of our financial 
statements and internal controls, oversee our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements in relation to 
financial statements and accounting matters, review our policies and practices with respect to risk assessment 
and risk management, review the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting, review the fairness and 
appropriateness of all related party transactions, and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditor.
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The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande, 
Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) and Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason, with Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande 
(being the independent non-executive Director with the appropriate professional qualifications) as the chairman of 
the Audit Committee. Mr. QIU Changheng, an independent non-executive Director, has ceased to be a member of 
the Audit Committee with effect from June 20, 2023. On the same day, Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason, an independent 
non-executive Director, has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The Audit Committee has reviewed the 
2023 interim report, this annual report and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, including the audited consolidated annual results for the year ended December 31, 2023 of the 
Group, and has met with the independent auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, four times during the 
Reporting Period. The Audit Committee has also reviewed and discussed matters with respect to the accounting 
policies and practices adopted by the Company, risk management, internal control and financial reporting matters, 
effectiveness of the issuer’s internal audit function, appointment of external auditor, engagement of non-audit 
services and relevant scope of works, connected transaction and arrangements for employees to raise concerns 
about possible improprieties. There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the 
accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the section headed “Board Meetings and 
Committee Meetings” in this report.

In addition, the independent auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has audited the consolidated annual 
results for the year ended December 31, 2023 of the Group.

Compensation Committee

The Company has established a Compensation Committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the 
Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Compensation Committee are, among other things, to review and make recommendations 
to the Board with respect to policy and structure for all directors’ and senior management’s remuneration, 
review and approve remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objective, review 
and approve the compensation payable to our Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of 
office or appointment, review our management succession planning as well as evaluation of and development 
plans for potential successors to the executive officers, review and submit for Board’s approval of our executive 
compensation and benefits policies, and review and assess risks arising from our employee compensation policies 
and practices consider time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions.

The Compensation Committee comprises one executive Director, being Mr. Wang, and two independent non-
executive Directors, being Mr. QIU Changheng and Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason, with Mr. QIU Changheng as the 
chairman of the Compensation Committee. Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) has ceased to be a 
member of the Compensation Committee with effect from November 28, 2023. On the same day, Mr. YIP Pak Tung 
Jason has been appointed as a member of the Compensation Committee.

The Compensation Committee held one meeting during the Reporting Period to review and make recommendation 
to the Board on the terms of the director compensation and the compensation of the executive officers and senior 
management, assess performance of executive Directors. The attendance records of the Compensation Committee 
are set out under the section headed “Board Meetings and Committee Meetings” in this report.
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For details of the compensation of the senior management by band, please refer to the section headed “Emoluments 
of Directors, the Five Highest Paid Individuals and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Company’s compensation policy is to ensure that the compensation offered to employees, including Directors 
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The 
compensation packages of executive Directors are also determined with reference to the Company’s performance 
and profitability, the prevailing market conditions and the performance or contribution of each executive Director. The 
compensation for the executive Directors comprises basic salary, allowances and benefits in kind, contribution to 
retirement benefit scheme on the directors’ behalf performance and discretionary related bonus. The compensation 
policy for independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that independent non-executive Directors are adequately 
compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board 
committees. The compensation for the independent non-executive Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which 
is determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board. Directors and senior management 
shall receive options to be granted under the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. Individual Directors and senior 
management have not been involved in deciding their own compensation.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07A of the Listing Rules, the material matter relating to the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan that was 
reviewed and approved by the compensation committee during the Reporting Period is summarized below:

The total number of awards that can be granted in the fiscal year of 2024 shall be 5,740,000, which represent 1.0% 
of the total 574,592,599 ordinary Shares of the Company issued and outstanding as of December 18, 2023, being 
the date of relevant meeting of the Compensation Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee in compliance with Rule 8A.27 of the Listing Rules and the 
Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among other things, to review and evaluate the size, 
composition, function and duties of the Board, recommend criteria for the selection of candidates to the Board and 
its committees and identify qualified individuals, recommend to the Board the persons to be nominated for election 
at the next annual or special meeting of Shareholders at which Directors are to be elected or to fill any vacancies 
or newly created directorships that may occur between such meeting and recommend Directors for appointment to 
Board committees, and make recommendations to the Board as to determinations of Director independence and 
oversee the evaluation of the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, being Mr. Chen, and two independent non-executive 
Directors, being Mr. QIU Changheng and Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong), with Mr. QIU Changheng 
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Reporting Period and reviewed the change of composition 
of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, the structure, 
size and composition of the Board and the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, to consider 
the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting, taking into account 
the Company’s board diversity policy and director nomination policy. The Nomination Committee considered an 
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained. The attendance records of the Nomination 
Committee are set out under the section headed “Board Meetings and Committee Meetings” in this report.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established a Corporate Governance Committee in compliance with Rule 8A.30 of the Listing 
Rules and the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Corporate Governance Committee are, among other things, to review our actions in 
furtherance of our corporate social responsibility and corporate governance principles, develop and recommend to 
the Board the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, ensure that the Company is operated and managed for the 
benefit of all the Shareholders, and ensure our compliance with the Listing Rules and safeguards relating to the 
weighted voting rights structure of the Company.

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. QIU 
Changheng and Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason, with Mr. QIU Changheng as the chairman of the Corporate Governance 
Committee. Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) has ceased to be a member of the Corporate 
Governance Committee with effect from November 28, 2023. On the same day, Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason has been 
appointed as a member of the Corporate Governance.

Corporate governance measures to avoid potential conflict of interests between the Group and the Controlling 
Shareholders have been adopted, including: (i) where a Shareholders’ meeting is held pursuant to the Listing Rules 
to consider proposed transactions or arrangements in which the Controlling Shareholders or any of their associates 
have a material interest, the Controlling Shareholder(s) shall abstain from voting and their votes shall not be counted; 
(ii) the independent non-executive Directors will review, on an annual basis, whether there is any conflict of interests 
between the Group and the Controlling Shareholders and provide impartial and professional advice to protect the 
interests of the minority Shareholders; (iii) the Controlling Shareholders will undertake to provide all information 
necessary, including all relevant financial, operational and market information and any other necessary information as 
required by the independent non-executive Directors for the purpose of their annual review; the (iv) the Company will 
disclose decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors either in its annual reports or by 
way of announcements as required by the Listing Rules.
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The Corporate Governance Committee will be required to confirm to the Board it is of the view that the Company 
has adopted sufficient corporate governance measures to manage the potential conflict of interest between the 
Group and the beneficiaries of weighted voting rights in order to ensure that the operations and management of the 
Company are in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole indiscriminately.

The Corporate Governance Committee will be required to review the compensation and terms of engagement of the 
Company’s compliance advisor, and to confirm to the Board that it is not aware of any factors that would require it 
to consider either the removal of the current compliance advisor or the appointment of a new compliance advisor.

The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the Reporting Period and reviewed the following 
matters:

(i) the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(ii) the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management;

(iii) the code of business conduct and ethics applicable to employees and Directors;

(iv) the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in this corporate governance 
report;

(v) the Company is operated and managed for the benefit of all the Shareholders;

(vi) the management of conflicts of interest of the Company and any potential conflict of interest between the 
Company, its subsidiaries or Consolidated Affiliated Entity and/or Shareholder on one hand and the WVR 
Beneficiaries on the other;

(vii) all risks related to the Company’s WVR structure, including connected transaction between the Company and 
its subsidiaries or Consolidated Affiliated Entity on one hand and any WVR Beneficiary on the other;

(viii) effective and ongoing communication between the Company and the Shareholders, particularly with regards 
to the requirements of Rule 8A.35;

(ix) the Company’s various policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

(x) the matters covered in Rule 8A.30 of the Listing Rules.
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The attendance records of the Corporate Governance Committee are set out under the section headed “Board 
Meetings and Committee Meetings” in this report.

The Corporate Governance Committee reviewed and confirmed to the Board that there is sufficient corporate 
governance measures to manage the potential conflicts of interest between the Group and the WVR Beneficiaries. 
The measures include (i) any connected transactions are disclosed and dealt with in accordance with the 
requirements of the Listing Rules, (ii) any Directors who have a conflict of interest abstain from voting on the relevant 
board resolution, and (iii) the compliance advisor is consulted on any matters related to transactions involving the 
WVR Beneficiaries or a potential conflict of interest between the Group and the WVR Beneficiaries. The Corporate 
Governance Committee recommended the Board to continue the implementation of the corporate governance 
measures and to review the effectiveness of these measures from time to time.

After reviewing the remuneration and terms of engagement of the compliance advisor, the Corporate Governance 
Committee confirmed to the Board that nothing has came to its attention that would require it to consider either 
the removal of the current compliance advisor or the appointment of a new compliance advisor. Therefore, the 
Corporate Governance Committee recommended the Board to continue the engagement of the current compliance 
advisor of the Company.

The Corporate Governance Committee has confirmed that (i) the WVR Beneficiaries have been members of the 
Board throughout the Reporting Period, (ii) no matters under Rule 8A.17 of the Listing Rules have occurred during 
the Reporting Period, and (iii) the WVR Beneficiaries have complied with Rules 8A.14, 8A.15, 8A.18 and 8A.24 of 
the Listing Rules throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting the culture of diversity in the Company. It has strived to promote diversity 
to the extent practicable by taking into consideration a number of factors in its corporate governance structure.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and 
maintain diversity of the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity 
policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including 
but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience 
and professional experience. As of December 31, 2023, the Nomination Committee had reviewed the board diversity 
policy and considers that the Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including knowledge and 
experience in the areas of information technology, engineering and finance. They obtained degrees in various areas 
including information and technology science, cloud computing and computer applied technology, international 
business and economics, business administration, law, finance, accounting, investment, engineering, physics, 
history, and chemistry. As of the date of this report, the Board comprises seven male members (including three 
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors) and one female member (as an executive 
Director).
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s 
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from 
the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered. The 
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of the Board. It will from time to time review the 
Company’s board diversity policy, develop and review measurable objectives for implementing the policy, and 
monitor the progress on achieving these measurable objectives in order to ensure that the policy remains effective. 
Such measurable objectives include selection of candidates based on a range of diversity perspectives, including 
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service.

The Nomination Committee will continue to revisit the board diversity policy and monitor its implementation from 
time to time (including without limitation, the structure, size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, 
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure 
that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile to develop and review measurable objectives for implementing 
the policy, and to monitor the progress on achieving these measurable objectives in order to ensure that the policy 
remains effective). The Nomination Committee will also continue to use best efforts to identify and recommend 
suitable female candidates for the Board’s consideration in the future to ensure that gender diversity can be 
maintained.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 1,465 salaried employees of the Group, of which 1,006 were male and 459 
were female. As at December 31, 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) was 
approximately 2.2 males to 1 female. The Company will continue to monitor and evaluate the diversity policy from 
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Company will continue to maintain gender diversity on the Board and the Nomination Committee will proactively 
consider the increase in the proportion of female members when selecting and making recommendations on suitable 
candidates for Board membership. Based on business development and operational needs, the Company will 
take into full consideration of the following factors when recruiting its employees, including skills, age and gender 
diversity, and will strive to achieve a balanced proportion of our employee in skills, age and gender.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends, which outlines the principles and guidelines that the 
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. 
It taking into account various elements including but not limited to the earnings, cash flow, financial conditions, 
capital requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements of the Group and any other conditions which the Board 
may deem relevant.

The Company has not previously declared or paid any cash dividend or dividend in kind and it has no plan to 
declare or pay any dividends in the near future on the Shares or the ADSs representing the Class A Ordinary Shares. 
The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio. The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, 
of its available funds and any future earnings to operate and expand its business.
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The Board has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject to certain requirements of Cayman Islands 
law. In addition, the Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a dividend, but no dividend may exceed the 
amount recommended by the Board. Under Cayman Islands law, a Cayman Islands company may pay a dividend 
out of either profit or share premium account, provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this 
would result in the company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Even 
if the Board decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the Company’s future 
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and 
other factors that the board of directors may deem relevant. If the Company pays any dividends on its ordinary 
shares, it will pay those dividends which are payable in respect of the Class A Ordinary Shares underlying the ADSs 
to the depositary, as the registered holder of such Class A Ordinary Shares, and the depositary then will pay such 
amounts to the ADS holders in proportion to the Class A Ordinary Shares underlying the ADSs held by such ADS 
holders, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, including the fees and expenses payable thereunder.

After due consideration of the Shareholders’ as well as the Company’s long-term interests, the Board did not 
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, there was no arrangement under which a shareholder had waived or agreed to waive any 
dividends.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and appointment of Directors to the 
Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the nomination of directors, which aims to ensure the Board has 
a balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s corporate 
strategy, business needs and development, as well as provide formal, clear and transparent procedures, process 
and criteria for the Nomination Committee to identify and nominate suitable candidate(s) to the Board either to fill 
a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board; or make recommendations to the Shareholders for re-election at 
general meetings.

The Nomination Committee shall oversee searches for, conduct due diligence and identify qualified individuals 
for membership on the Board, and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment 
of directors and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee shall identify individuals suitably 
qualified to become Board members and recommend individuals for membership on the Board and its committees 
for approval by the Board and/or the shareholders, if applicable. In making its recommendations for Board and 
committee membership, the Committee shall consider various factors to assess the suitability of a proposed 
candidate including, among others, integrity and reputation, professional qualification, Board diversity, age, skills, 
background, ethnicity, and experience. If the relevant proposed candidate is recommended as independent non – 
executive director, the Nomination Committee shall also consider whether the candidate meets the requirements for 
independence under the applicable rules under the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and NYSE.

The Company’s director nomination policy sets out the non-exhaustive factors for assessing the suitability and the 
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

• Integrity and reputation;

• Educational background, professional qualifications and work experience (including part-time jobs);
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• Whether or not they have the necessary skills and experience;

• Whether or not they are able to spend sufficient time and energy to handle the Company’s affairs;

• Whether or not they will promote the diversity of the Board in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and term of 
office;

• Whether or not the candidates for independent directors meet the requirements for independence under Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

• Any other relevant factors as determined by the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, other than Ms. Hong Jing’s retirement with effect from June 20, 2023, there was no 
change in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the director nomination policy, from time to time and as appropriate, to 
ensure its effectiveness.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and 
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics 
would be provided to the Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training 
courses at the Company’s expenses. They shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order 
to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and 
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of 
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full 
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

During the Reporting Period, the key methods of attending continuous professional development by each of the 
Directors are recognized as follow:

Director
Attended training 

session(Note 1)

Reading 
materials(Note 2)

   
Mr. WANG Xueji ✓ ✓

Mr. CHEN Liaohan ✓ ✓

Mr. YANG Yi ✓ ✓

Ms. LIU Yao ✓ ✓

Mr. HUANG Sidney Xuande ✓ ✓

Mr. QIU Changheng ✓ ✓

Mr. KUOK Meng Xiong (alias GUO Mengxiong) ✓ ✓

Mr. YIP Pak Tung Jason ✓ ✓
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Notes:

1. Including but not limited to briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops
2. Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

PricewaterhouseCoopers has stated in the independent auditor’s report on pages 75 to 78 of this annual report 
its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks the Company is willing 
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains 
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in the 
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems and is responsible for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management 
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such risk management and internal control systems 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and the systems can 
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has been established to assist the Board to monitor the implementation of the Company’s 
risk management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Company’s risk management and internal control 
system is adequate and effective in identifying, managing, and mitigating risks involved in its business operations 
and financial reporting.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management procedures and guidelines with defined 
authority for implementation by key business processes and office functions, including project management, sales 
and leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have been developed with the following principles, 
features and processes:

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business 
of the Group and various aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and 
information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control policies are properly 
complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division heads, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment 
plans, and monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings 
and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems for the Reporting Period.
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The Company’s internal audit department is in charge of independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee on any issues identified. The internal audit department 
members are responsible for holding regular meetings to discuss any internal control issues faced and the 
corresponding measures to implement toward resolving such issues. The internal audit department is also 
responsible for reporting to the Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues identified thereby are 
communicated to the committee in a timely manner. The Audit Committee is then responsible for discussing these 
issues and reporting to the Board as necessary.

For the Reporting Period, the Board, supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and 
the internal audit finding, has conducted an annual review of the risk management (including ESG risks) and 
internal control system of the Company, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual 
review also covered the financial reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and 
experiences, as well as the adequacy of training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit 
and financial reporting functions.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that 
inside information should be announced promptly. The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides 
a general guide to the Directors, senior management and relevant employees in handling confidential information, 
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to 
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited. The procedures and internal 
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

• the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules and the 
relevant laws and regulations of the place where the Company’s securities are listed;

• the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on true and accurate, timely and fair disclosure by 
pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to the public through channels such as financial 
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

• the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside information; and

• the Group has established and implemented procedures for responding to external enquiries about the 
Group’s affairs, so that any staff of the Company shall strictly observe relevant requirements on information 
disclosure within the scope of authority.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of the Company and those third parties who 
deal with the Company (such as customers or suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the 
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and other matters related to the 
Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Compliance Policy to safeguard against corruption and bribery 
within the Company. The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and available for employees of 
the Company to report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous reports to 
the Company’s department, which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate 
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of 
integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption 
and anti-bribery.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company held anti-corruption trainings and briefings to all 
employees. There were no non-compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. CHAI Xiaolang and Ms. TANG King Yin are the Company’s joint company secretaries. Ms. Tang is currently a 
senior manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider specializing 
in integrated business, corporate and investor services. Mr. Chai, a joint company secretary of the Company, has 
been designated as her primary contact person at the Company who would work and communicate with Ms. Tang 
on the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters. All Directors have access to the 
advice and services of the joint company secretaries on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

Mr. Chai and Ms. Tang have confirmed that each of them has received not less than 15 hours of relevant 
professional training during the Reporting Period in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Biographical details of Mr. Chai and Ms. Tang are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” 
in this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

A breakdown of the remuneration in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the independent auditor 
to the Company for the Reporting Period is set out below:

Service category Fees paid/payables
USD’000

Audit services (including audit for the Company’s listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) 1,088
Non-audit services (internal control consulting and tax consulting) –

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue 
at general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions shall be determined by poll and 
not on a show of hands, save that the chairman of the meeting may, in good faith, allow a resolution which relates 
purely to a procedural or administrative matter as prescribed under the Listing Rules to be voted on by a show of 
hands. Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange after 
each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders

Pursuant to Articles 64 to 68 of the Articles of Association, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened and 
resolutions shall be added to a meeting agenda on a requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding, on the 
date of deposit of the requisition in the aggregate, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company, 
on a one vote per share basis, that as at the date of the deposit carry the right to vote at general meetings of the 
Company. The requisition must state the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting 
agenda, and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office, and may consist of several 
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists. If the Directors do not within 21 calendar days 
from the date of the deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene a general meeting to be held within a further 
21 calendar days, the requisitionists, or any of them representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of 
the Company, on a one vote per share basis, which carry the right to vote at general meetings, may themselves 
convene a general meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 calendar months 
after the expiration of the said 21 calendar days. A general meeting convened as aforesaid by requisitionists shall 
be convened in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings are to be convened by 
Directors. However, the Articles of Association do not provide the shareholders with any right to put any proposals 
before annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings not called by such Shareholders.

Procedure for Shareholders to Propose A Person for Election as A Director

Shareholders may propose a person for election as a director, the procedures for which are available on the 
Company’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. The Shareholders may send written 
enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Board.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the following for the attention of the Joint Company 
Secretaries:

Address: 10/F, Building A, Huace Center, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, China

Email: ir@tuya.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) shall deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, 
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above addresses, apart from the registered office of 
the Company, and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The 
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 
and investor’s understanding of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company has adopted 
a Shareholders’ communication policy with the aim of promoting effective communication with the Shareholders 
and other stakeholders, encouraging the Shareholders to engage actively with the Company, and enabling the 
Shareholders to exercise their rights as shareholders effectively.
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To ensure that the shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to 
balanced and understandable information about the Company, the Company has established several channels to 
communicate and maintain an on-going dialogue with the shareholders as follows:

(i) Corporate communications

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules refers to any document issued or to be 
issued by the Company for the information or action of holders of any of its securities, including but not 
limited to the following documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together with 
a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, 
where applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; 
and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the Company will be published on the website of 
the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the website of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(www.sec.gov) in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided 
to the Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in both English and Chinese 
versions or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

(ii) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) 
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on the websites of the Stock Exchange 
and the U.S. Securities and Exchange in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(iii) Company’s website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange will also be published on the Company’s website (ir.tuya.com).

(iv) Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are primary forum for communication 
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant 
information on the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the 
Listing Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make an 
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). The Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general 
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to 
attend the meetings. Where appropriate or required, the Chairperson of the Board and other Board members, 
the chairpersons of board committees or their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general 
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if any).
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(v) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

The shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong 
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by access its online feedback website  
www.computershare.com/hk/contact or call its hotline at +852 2862 8555, or go in person to its public 
counter at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put to the Board and the 
Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. The shareholders may send written 
enquiries to the Company, for the attention of the Board by mail to Huace Center, Building A, 10/F, Xihu 
District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, 310012, China.

Apart from formal communication channels mentioned-above, the Company also publishes press releases and 
newsletters which Shareholders can subscribe to for the Company’s latest updates. To facilitate investors’ 
understanding of the Company’s business development, the Company also organizes roadshows and site visits to 
our offices and showroom for investors. The Company also actively participates in communication with the investor 
community. In this regard, the Company participated in a number of investment forums and engaged in numerous 
exchanges with business analysts and fund management companies through various means.

The Board regularly reviews our existing channels of communication with Shareholders and investors to make 
sure that they remain effective and provides recommendations for improvements when needed. After review of 
the Shareholders’ communication policy which sets out the various communication channels available to the 
Shareholders to communicate their views on the matters affecting the Company and direct their views to the 
Company, and the corporate communication made available by the Company to the Shareholders by different 
means, the Board considers our current practices were effectively implemented during the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there was no amendment to the Memorandum and Articles and Association. An up to 
date version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website and 
the Stock Exchange’s website.
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USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In evaluating the business, the Company considers and uses non-GAAP financial measures, such as non-GAAP 
operating expenses, non-GAAP loss from operations (including non-GAAP operating margin), non-GAAP net (loss)/
profit (including non-GAAP net margin), and non-GAAP basic and diluted net (loss)/profit per ADS, as supplemental 
measures to review and assess its operating performance. The presentation of non-GAAP financial measures is 
not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented 
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Company defines non-GAAP financial measures by excluding the impact of 
share-based compensation expenses and credit-related impairment of long-term investments from the respective 
GAAP financial measures. The Company presents the non-GAAP financial measures because they are used by the 
management to evaluate its operating performance and formulate business plans. The Company also believes that 
the use of the non-GAAP financial measures facilitates investors’ assessment of its operating performance.

Non-GAAP financial measures are not defined under U.S. GAAP and are not presented in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP. Non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as analytical tools. One of the key limitations of using the 
aforementioned non-GAAP financial measures is that they do not reflect all items of expenses that affect the Group’s 
operations. Share-based compensation expenses and credit-related impairment of long-term investments have been 
and may continue to be incurred in the business and are not reflected in the presentation of non-GAAP measures. 
Further, the non-GAAP financial measures may differ from the non-GAAP information used by other companies, 
including peer companies, and therefore their comparability may be limited. The Company compensates for these 
limitations by reconciling the non-GAAP measures to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measures, all of 
which should be considered when evaluating the Group’s performance. The Company encourages you to review its 
financial information in its entirety and not rely on a single financial measure.

Reconciliations of the Company’s non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP 
measures are set forth below.
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RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES TO THE MOST DIRECTLY COMPARABLE 
U.S. GAAP MEASURES

(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023

Reconciliation of operating expenses to non-GAAP 
 operating expenses
Research and development expenses (144,942) (102,277)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 14,692 14,734
Adjusted Research and development expenses (130,250) (87,543)

Sales and marketing expenses (55,662) (40,440)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 6,825 5,446
Adjusted Sales and marketing expenses (48,837) (34,994)

General and administrative expenses (67,513) (80,663)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 47,502 45,036
Add: Credit-related impairment of long-term investments – 15,537
Adjusted General and administrative expenses (20,011) (20,090)

Reconciliation of loss from operations to non-GAAP loss 
 from operations
Loss from operations (168,186) (105,824)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 69,019 65,216
Add: Credit-related impairment of long-term investments – 15,537
Non-GAAP Loss from operations (99,167) (25,071)

Non-GAAP Operating margin (47.6)% (10.9)%

Reconciliation of net loss to non-GAAP net (loss)/profit
Net loss (146,175) (60,315)
Add: Share-based compensation expenses 69,019 65,216
Add: Credit-related impairment of long-term investments – 15,537
Non-GAAP Net (loss)/profit (77,156) 20,438

Non-GAAP Net margin (37.1)% 8.9%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in computing 
 non-GAAP net loss per share
– Basic 553,527,529 555,466,061
– Diluted 553,527,529 586,431,849

Non-GAAP net (loss)/profit per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders
– Basic (0.14) 0.04
– Diluted (0.14) 0.03
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To the Shareholders of Tuya Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Tuya Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set 
out on pages 79 to 149, comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“U.S. GAAP”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to inventory write-downs.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Inventory write-downs

Refer to notes 2(j) and 6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s balance of gross 
inventories was USD39.2 million, against which write-
downs of USD6.3 million were made.

The est imation of inventory write-downs involves 
s ign i f icant management judgment based on the 
consideration of key factors including aging profile, future 
sales projection, estimated selling prices and estimated 
selling expenses of the respective inventories.

We focused on auditing inventory write-downs because 
the estimation of net realisable value is subject to high 
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in 
relation to inventory write-downs is considered significant 
due to the subjectivity of assumptions used.

We performed the following procedures to address this 
key audit matter:

• We assessed t he  i nhe ren t  r i s k  o f  ma te r i a l 
misstatement by considering degree of estimation 
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors 
such as complexity, subjectiv ity, changes and 
susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

• We understood and evaluated management’s internal 
controls and assessment process of inventory write-
downs and tested the controls over management’s 
estimation of inventory write-downs;

• We understood and evaluated the appropriateness of 
the method used by management in the assessment 
of inventory write-downs;

• We tested the aging profile of inventory items on 
a sampling basis by checking relevant documents, 
including goods receipt notes;

• We tested the assumptions used in determination of 
net realisable value, on a sampling basis, including 
future sales projection, estimated future selling prices 
and selling expenses, based on current and future 
market conditions, consumption, and inventory on 
hand, including duration of supply; and

• We checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
ca lcu lat ion of inventory wr i te-downs through 
comparing the carrying amount of the inventories, on 
a sampling basis, to their net realisable value.

We found that management’s method and judgments 
used in estimating inventory write-downs were supported 
by the evidence we gathered.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast substantial doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jack Li.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 April 2024
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(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

As of December 31,
Note 2022 2023

US$ US$

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents 133,161 498,688
 Short-term investments 2(e), 4 821,134 291,023
 Accounts receivable, net 5 12,172 9,214
 Notes receivable, net 2,767 4,955
 Inventories, net 6 45,380 32,865
 Prepayments and other current assets, net 7 8,752 11,053

Total current assets 1,023,366 847,798

Non-current assets:
 Property, equipment and software, net 8 3,827 2,589
 Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 10 9,736 7,647
 Long-term investments 2(e), 9 18,031 207,489
 Other non-current assets, net 7 1,179 877

Total non-current assets 32,773 218,602

Total assets 1,056,139 1,066,400

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities (including amounts of the consolidated 
 VIE without recourse to the primary beneficiary of 1,422 
 and 1,679 as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively):
 Accounts payable 11 9,595 11,577
 Advance from customers 27,633 31,776
 Deferred revenue, current 2(q), 13 6,821 6,802
 Accruals and other current liabilities 12 33,383 32,807
 Income tax payables – 689
 Lease liabilities, current 10 3,850 3,883

Total current liabilities 81,282 87,534

Non-current liabilities (including amounts of the consolidated VIE 
 without recourse to the primary beneficiary of nil and nil as of 
 December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively):
 Lease liabilities, non-current 10 5,292 3,904
 Deferred revenue, non-current 2(q), 13 394 506
 Other non-current liabilities 12 7,004 3,891

Total non-current liabilities 12,690 8,301

Total liabilities 93,972 95,835
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As of December 31,
Note 2022 2023

US$ US$

Shareholders’ equity:
 Ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; nil shares authorized, issued 
  and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively) 15 – –
 Class A ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; 800,000,000 and 
  800,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2022 and
  2023, respectively; 499,146,560 and 504,387,299 shares issued 
  as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively; 473,550,229 and 
  487,591,968 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 
  2023, respectively) 15 25 25
 Class B ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; 200,000,000 and 
  200,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2022 and 
  2023, respectively; 79,400,000 and 70,205,300 shares issued and 
  outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively) 15 4 4
 Treasury stock (US$0.00005 par value; 25,596,331 and 16,795,331 
  shares as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively) (86,438) (53,630)
 Additional paid-in capital 1,584,764 1,616,105
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (22,115) (17,091)
 Accumulated deficit (514,073) (574,848)

Total shareholders’ equity 962,167 970,565

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,056,139 1,066,400
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023

(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Year Ended December 31,
Note 2022 2023

US$ US$

Revenue 2(q) 208,172 229,990
Cost of revenue (118,749) (123,335)

Gross profit 89,423 106,655

Operating expenses:
 Research and development expenses (144,942) (102,277)
 Sales and marketing expenses (55,662) (40,440)
 General and administrative expenses (67,513) (80,663)
 Other operating incomes, net 10,508 10,901

Total operating expenses (257,609) (212,479)

Loss from operations (168,186) (105,824)

Other income
 Other non-operating incomes, net 2,904 3,113
 Financial income, net 14 18,546 44,976
 Foreign exchange gain, net 2,441 669

Loss before income tax expense (144,295) (57,066)
 Income tax expense 18 (1,880) (3,249)

Net loss (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss attributable to Tuya Inc. (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss (146,175) (60,315)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
 Changes in fair value of long-term investments (9,493) (7,791)
 Transfer out of fair value changes of long-term investments 9 – 15,537
 Foreign currency translation (14,942) (2,722)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to Tuya Inc. (170,610) (55,291)

Net loss attributable to Tuya Inc. (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (146,175) (60,315)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
 computing net loss per share, basic and diluted 19 553,527,529 555,466,061

Net loss per share attributable to ordinary
 shareholders-basic and diluted 19 (0.26) (0.11)

Share-based compensation expenses were included in:
 Research and development expenses 14,692 14,734
 Sales and marketing expenses 6,825 5,446
 General and administrative expenses 47,502 45,036
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Ordinary shares
(US$0.00005 par value) Treasury stock

Note

Number
of

shares issued Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Number
of

shares issued Amount

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income/(loss)

Accumulated
deficit

Total
shareholders’

equity
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance as of December 31, 2021 571,246,560 29 1,526,140 (11,604,808) (46,930) 2,320 (367,898) 1,113,661
Repurchase of ordinary shares 15 – – – (18,839,849) (59,631) – – (59,631)
Exercise of share option and vested 

restricted share unit – – (19,084) 4,848,326 20,123 – – 1,039
Issuance of ordinary shares upon the 

Dual Primary Listing, net of cost of 
issuance 15 7,300,000 – 8,689 – – – – 8,689

Net loss – – – – – – (146,175) (146,175)
Fair value change of long-term 

investment – – – – – (9,493) – (9,493)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment – – – – – (14,942) – (14,942)
Share-based compensation – – 69,019 – – – – 69,019

Balance as of December 31, 2022 578,546,560 29 1,584,764 (25,596,331) (86,438) (22,115) (514,073) 962,167
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023

(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Ordinary shares
(US$0.00005 par value) Treasury stock

Note

Number
of

shares issued Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Number
of

shares issued Amount

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss

Accumulated
deficit

Total
shareholders’

equity
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Balance as of December 31, 2022 578,546,560 29 1,584,764 (25,596,331) (86,438) (22,115) (514,073) 962,167
Cumulative effect of accounting 

change 2(ae) – – – – – – (460) (460)
Balance as of January 1, 2023 578,546,560 29 1,584,764 (25,596,331) (86,438) (22,115) (514,533) 961,707
Repurchase of ordinary shares 15 – – – (1,200,794) (2,254) – – (2,254)
Exercise of share option and vested 

restricted share unit – – (27,361) 6,047,833 28,548 – – 1,187
Cancellation of Treasury stock 15 (3,953,961) – (6,514) 3,953,961 6,514 – – –
Net loss – – – – – – (60,315) (60,315)
Fair value change of long-term 

investment – – – – – (7,791) – (7,791)
Transfer out of fair value changes of 

long-term investments – – – – – 15,537 – 15,537
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment – – – – – (2,722) – (2,722)
Share-based compensation – – 65,216 – – – – 65,216

Balance as of December 31, 2023 574,592,599 29 1,616,105 (16,795,331) (53,630) (17,091) (574,848) 970,565
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Year Ended December 31,
Note 2022 2023

US$ US$

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (146,175) (60,315)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
 generated from operating activities:
 Share-based compensation 69,019 65,216
 Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and software 8 3,443 2,449
 Amortization of right-of-use assets 10 4,766 4,100
 Allowance for doubtful receivables/allowance for credit losses 288 1,595
 Inventory write-downs 6 4,067 3,298
 Gain on disposal of property, equipment and software (219) (221)
 Gain on foreign currency exchange rates (2,441) (669)
 Investment loss/(gain) 2,167 (697)
 Fair value change on short-term and long-term investments 14 (7,449) 76
 Impairment loss of long-term investments 9 – 15,537
Cash flows from operating activities:
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
 Accounts receivable 20,241 1,046
 Notes receivable (1,374) (2,284)
 Inventories 13,135 9,217
 Prepayments and other current assets 8,893 (1,251)
 Other non-current assets 639 290
 Accounts payable (2,617) 1,982
 Advance from customers (3,455) 4,143
 Deferred revenue (2,898) 93
 Income tax payable – 689
 Accruals and other payables (24,280) (1,372)
 Lease liabilities (4,924) (3,366)
 Other non-current liability (1,480) (3,113)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (70,654) 36,443

Cash flows from investing activities:
 Payment for short-term investments (1,257,697) (327,244)
 Proceeds from disposal of short-term investments 543,790 853,703
 Purchase of property, equipment and software (710) (1,499)
 Proceeds from disposal of property, equipment and software 464 509
 Payment for long-term investments (1,575) (193,014)
 Proceeds from other investing activities 1,503 –

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (714,225) 332,455
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023

(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Year Ended December 31,
Note 2022 2023

US$ US$

Cash flows from financing activities:
 Payment for repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares (48,678) (3,339)
 Proceeds from exercise of share options 1,039 1,187
 Proceeds from issuance of Class A ordinary shares upon the 
  Dual Primary Listing, net of cost of issuance 9,057 –
 Payments of deferred offering costs – (71)

Net cash used in financing activities (38,582) (2,223)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
 equivalents, restricted cash (7,954) (1,148)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents,
 restricted cash (831,415) 365,527
 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at the
  beginning of year 964,576 133,161

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at the end of year 2(f) 133,161 498,688

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
 Cash paid for income tax (843) (2,819)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

(a) Principal Activities

Tuya Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on August 
28, 2014, as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company and its subsidiaries and 
consolidated variable interest entity (“VIE”) (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally 
engaged in offering PaaS (Platform-as-a-Service) to business customers developing IoT (Internet of 
Things) devices, including brands and their OEMs (original equipment manufacturer). Also, the Group 
offers Industry SaaS (Software-as-a-Service) and cloud-based value-added services to its customers. 
The Group also sells finished smart devices powered by Tuya purchased from qualified OEMs (the 
“Smart device distribution”).

(b) History of the Group

Prior to the incorporation of Tuya Inc. in August 2014, the Group commenced its initial operations 
through Hangzhou Tuya Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Tuya Technology”), which was established 
on June 16, 2014 by Wang Xueji and another individual. After a series of agreements, Hangzhou 
Tuya Technology was owned by Wang Xueji and other four individuals (collectively, the “Registered 
Shareholders”) together with two unrelated investors of Series Angel financing (the “Non-Registered 
Shareholders VIE Investors”) by August 2014. In December 2014, Hangzhou Tuya Information 
Technology Co., Ltd. (the “WFOE”) was established after the incorporation of Tuya Inc. The Group 
then entered into a series of contractual arrangements among the WFOE, Hangzhou Tuya Technology 
and Hangzhou Tuya Technology’s shareholders in December 2014, and thereafter Hangzhou Tuya 
Technology (the “VIE”) became the variable interest entity of the Group. After the completion of this 
transaction, the Group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the 
Company, its subsidiaries and the consolidated VIE. In 2019, the VIE agreements were amended to 
modify the VIE’s shareholders list and equity interest of each shareholder as a result of the change 
in registered share capital of the VIE and the exit of Non-Registered Shareholders VIE Investors as 
the VIE’s shareholders. The contractual arrangements were further amended in January 2022. The 
amendments discussed herein did not impact the VIE accounting treatment discussed further in Note 
2(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(b) History of the Group (Continued)

The VIE operated de minimis business activities and had no material impact on the Company’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Principal accounting policies followed by the Group in the preparation of the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements are summarized below.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, 
its subsidiaries and the VIE for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. All transactions and 
balances among the Company, its subsidiaries, and the VIE have been eliminated upon consolidation.

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly: (1) controls more than one half 
of the voting power; (2) has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board 
of directors; (3) casts a majority of votes at the meeting of the board of directors; or (4) governs the 
financial and operating policies of the investee under a statute or agreement among the shareholders 
or equity holders.

The Company applies the guidance codified in Accounting Standard Codification 810, Consolidations 
(“ASC 810”) on accounting for the VIE, which requires certain variable interest entities to be 
consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity in which it has a controlling financial interest. A 
VIE is an entity with one or more of the following characteristics: (a) the total equity investment at risk 
is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional financial support; (b) as 
a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack the ability to make certain decisions, the 
obligation to absorb expected losses or the right to receive expected residual returns, or (c) an equity 
investor has voting rights that are disproportionate to its economic interest and substantially all of the 
entity’s activities are on behalf of the investor.
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(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, long-lived assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, and the reported revenues 
and expenses during the reporting periods in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Accounting estimates reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements include, but are 
not limited to impairment provision for inventories, valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, stand-
alone selling prices (SSP) for each distinct performance obligation, the valuation of ordinary shares, 
share-based compensation, long-term investments, and the determination of allowance for current 
expected credit losses. Estimates are based on historical experiences and on various assumptions that 
the Group believes are reasonable under current circumstances. Given the changes in circumstances, 
facts and experience may cause the Group to revise its estimates, actual results could differ materially 
from those estimates.

(d) Functional Currency and Foreign Currency Translation

The Group uses United States dollar as its reporting currency. The functional currency of the Company 
and its subsidiaries incorporated in Cayman Islands and Hong Kong is the United States dollar, while 
the functional currency of the Group’s other subsidiaries and VIE is their respective local currency as 
determined based on the criteria of ASC 830, Foreign Currency Matters .

Transactions denominated in other than the functional currencies are re-measured into the functional 
currency of the entity at the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Financial assets and 
liabilities denominated in other than the functional currency are re-measured at the balance sheet date 
exchange rate. The resulting exchange differences are included in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss as foreign exchange related gains or loss.

The financial statements of the Group’s entities using functional currency other than US$ are 
translated from the functional currency to the reporting currency, US$. Assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in PRC are translated into US$ at fiscal year-end exchange rates, 
while income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during each 
period presented, representing the index rates stipulated by the People’s Bank of China. Translation 
adjustments arising from these are reported as foreign currency translation adjustments and are shown 
as a separate component of shareholders’ equity on the consolidated financial statements.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the 
fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair value, 
the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and it 
considers assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.

The established fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs 
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s 
categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value include:

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2: Observable, market-based inputs, other than quoted prices, in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the 
measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Accounting guidance also describes three main approaches to measuring the fair value of assets and 
liabilities: (1) market approach; (2) income approach and (3) cost approach. The market approach 
uses prices and other relevant information generated from market transactions involving identical or 
comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach uses valuation techniques to convert future 
amounts to a single present value amount. The measurement is based on the value indicated by 
current market expectations about those future amounts. The cost approach is based on the amount 
that would currently be required to replace an asset.

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, 
equity securities, account receivables, notes receivable, derivative instruments, certain other current 
assets, U.S. treasury securities, available-for-sale debt securities, account payables and certain 
accruals and other liabilities. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, except for time deposits, derivative 
instruments, equity securities and available-for-sale debt securities, the carrying values of these 
financial instruments approximated their fair values due to their short-term maturity. The Group reports 
equity securities with readily determinable fair values included in short-term investments at fair value 
and discloses the fair value of these investments based on level 1 measurement. The Group reports 
time deposits included in short-term investments, derivative instruments and equity securities with 
readily determinable fair value included in long-term investments at fair value, and discloses their fair 
value based on level 2 measurement. The Group reports available-for-sale debt securities at fair value 
and discloses the fair value of these investments based on level 3 measurement.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

The following table sets forth the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis and are categorized using the fair value hierarchy:

Fair value measurement 
at reporting date using

Description

Fair value
as of

December 31,
2022

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Markets for 
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other

Observable 
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

US$ US$ US$ US$

Assets:
Short-term investments 821,134 2,249 818,885 –
Long-term investments 18,031 – 366 17,665

839,165 2,249 819,251 17,665

Fair value measurement 
at reporting date using

Description

Fair value
as of

December 31,
2023

Quoted Prices 
in Active

Markets for 
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other

Observable 
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

US$ US$ US$ US$

Assets:
Short-term investments 291,023 2,265 288,758 –
Long-term investments 10,110 – 236 9,874

301,133 2,265 288,994 9,874



TUYA INC.   ANNUAL REPORT 202392

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

The roll forward of major Level 3 investments are as follows:

US$

Fair value of Level 3 investments as of December 31, 2021 25,583
New addition 1,575
The change in fair value of the investments (9,493)

Fair value of Level 3 investments as of December 31, 2022 17,665

The change in fair value of the investments (7,791)

Fair value of Level 3 investments as of December 31, 2023 9,874

Management determined the fair value of these Level 3 investments based on market approach using 
various unobservable inputs. The determination of the fair value required significant judgement by 
management with respect to the assumptions and estimates for the lack of marketability discounts, 
expected volatility and probability in equity allocation. The significant unobservable inputs adopted in 
the valuation as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 are as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 2023

Unobservable Inputs

Expected volatility 40% - 63% 40% - 59%
Probability Liquidation 

scenario: 35% - 45%
Liquidation 

scenario: 38% - 40%
Redemption 

scenario: 35% - 45%
Redemption 

scenario: 38% - 40%
IPO scenario:

10% - 30%
IPO scenario:

20% - 25%

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank and time deposits placed with banks or other financial 
institutions which have original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase and are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash that cannot be withdrawn without the permission of third parties. The 
Group’s restricted cash is substantially cash balance on deposit required by its business partners and 
commercial banks. The restricted cash balance as of December 31, 2021 was related to deposits for 
foreign currency forward contracts, and were subsequently released from the restriction in January 
2022.

(h) Short-term Investments

Short-term investments are comprised of i) time deposits placed with banks with original maturities 
longer than three months but less than one year, ii) time deposits placed with bank with original 
maturities longer than one year which are transferable and the Group has intention to sell within one 
year, iii) structured deposits issued by banks which contains fixed or variable interest with original 
maturities within one year, and iv) equity securities with readily determinable fair value which the Group 
has intention and ability to sell within one year. The time deposits are generally not permitted to be 
redeemed early or are subject to penalties for redemption prior to maturities. These investments are 
stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value are reflected in financial income, net in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss.

(i) Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivables are presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts. On January 1, 2023, 
the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (“ASC Topic 326”), which creates an 
impairment model that is based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. The Company 
adopted the accounting standards update using a modified retrospective approach. Upon adoption of 
the new standard on January 1, 2023, the Company recorded a net decrease to its retained earnings 
of US$460.

The Company’s accounts receivable, notes receivable, certain other receivables recorded in 
prepayments and other current assets and other non-current assets, and deposits and U.S. treasury 
securities are within the scope of ASC Topic 326. To estimate the allowance for current expected 
credit losses (“CECL”), the Company has identified the relevant risk characteristics of its customers 
and the related receivables which include but are not limited to geographic region and industry. 
Receivables with similar risk characteristics have been grouped into pools. For each pool, the 
Company considers the past collection history, future forecasts and macroeconomic factors. Other 
key factors that influence the CECL analysis include industry-specific factors and certain qualitative 
adjustments that could impact the Company’s receivables. This is assessed at each period end 
based on the Company’s specific facts and circumstances. There have been no significant impact of 
changes in the assumptions since adoption. The Group recorded the total allowance for credit losses 
of US$1,595 and write off the allowance for credit losses of US$304 under ASU 2016-13 Financial 
instruments – credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Accounts Receivable, net (Continued)

Notes receivable are primarily bank acceptance notes. The Group accepts bank acceptance notes 
from customers for products sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Bank 
acceptance notes are negotiable instruments with cash settlement from commercial banks within 
6 months. Upon receipt of the bank acceptance notes, the Group’s accounts receivable from 
the customer is derecognized. The bank acceptance notes can also be endorsed to suppliers as 
settlement of accounts payable. Bank acceptance notes of nil and US$670 were endorsed to suppliers 
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. The Group sells bank acceptance 
notes to financial institutions without recourse in the normal course of business through factoring 
arrangements. These bank acceptance notes transferred without recourse were US$4,620 and nil for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 respectively, and were derecognized.

(j) Inventories, net

Inventories are comprised of finished goods, work in process, raw materials and low value 
consumables and spare parts. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost 
of inventory is determined using the weighted average cost method. Adjustments are recorded to write 
down the cost of inventory to the estimated net realizable value due to slow-moving and obsolete 
inventories, which is dependent upon factors such as historical and forecasted consumer demand, and 
promotional environment. The Group takes ownership, risks and rewards of the products purchased.

(k) Operating Leases

The Group applies ASC 842, Leases and determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. 
Operating leases are primarily for office and warehouse and are included in operating lease right-of-
use assets, net, operating lease liabilities, current and operating lease liabilities, non-current on its 
consolidated balance sheets. Operating lease right-of-use assets represent the Group’s right to use 
an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent obligation to make lease 
payment arising from the lease. The operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized 
at lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payment over the lease term. As 
most of the Group’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate based on the information available at lease commencement date in determining the present value 
of lease payments. The operating lease right-of-use assets also include any lease payments made and 
exclude lease incentives. The Group’s lease term may include options to extend or terminate the lease. 
Renewal options are considered within the operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities when it 
is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

For operating leases with a term of one year or less, the Group has elected not to recognize a lease 
liability or lease right of use asset on its consolidated balance sheets. Instead, it recognizes the lease 
payment as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term lease costs are immaterial 
to its consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The Group has operating lease agreements with 
insignificant non-lease components and have elected the practical expedient to combine and account 
for lease and non-lease components as single lease component.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Internal-Use Software Development Costs

The Group recognizes its internal-use software development costs related to its IoT cloud platform 
functions, including related website, software and mobile applications in accordance with ASC 350-
50 “Website development costs” and ASC 350-40 “Internal-use software”. Costs related to preliminary 
project activities and post-implementation operating activities are expensed as incurred. Cost 
capitalized for developing IoT cloud platform functions were not material for the periods presented.

(m) Property, Equipment and Software

Property, equipment and software are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, 
amortization and impairment loss, if any. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-
line method over the following estimated useful lives, taking into account any estimated residual value:

Leasehold improvements the shorter of their useful lives and the lease terms
Computers and electronic equipment 3 years
Office equipment 3 years
Software 3 years

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expenses as incurred, whereas the costs of renewals 
and improvements that extend the useful lives of property, equipment and software are capitalized as 
additions to the related assets. The Group recognized the gain or loss on the disposal of property, 
equipment and software in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Construction in progress represents assets under construction. Construction in progress is transferred 
to property, equipment and software and depreciation or amortization commences when an asset is 
ready for its intended use.

(n) Long-term Investments

Long-term investments represent the Group’s equity security investments, debt security investments 
and time deposits in the periods presented: i) Equity securities without readily determinable fair values 
are measured and recorded using a measurement alternative that measures the securities at cost 
minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from qualifying observable price changes, 
recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss; ii) Equity securities with readily 
determinable fair values are measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis with changes 
in fair value, whether realized or unrealized, recorded in financial income, net in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss; iii) Debt security investments that have readily determinable fair 
value, are accounted for as available-for-sale security investments and are recognized based on trade 
date and carried at estimated fair value with the aggregate unrealized gains and losses related to 
these investments, net of taxes, reported through other comprehensive income in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss; iv) Time deposits placed with bank with original maturities longer 
than one year which are not transferable and accounted for at amortised cost; v) U.S. treasury 
securities with original maturities of two to three years are accounted for at amortised cost, and 
interest income is recognized using the effective interest method adjusted periodically based on 
changes in estimated cash flows.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Long-term Investments (Continued)

An investment in available-for-sale debt security is considered impaired if the fair value of the security 
is less than its amortized cost basis. To determine the amount of impairment related to credit, the 
Group compares the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected on the available-for-
sale debt security with the security’s amortized cost basis. If the present value of cash flows expected 
to be collected is less than the security’s amortized cost basis, a credit-related impairment exists, and 
the difference should be recorded as an allowance for credit losses through net income.

(o) Impairment of Long-lived Assets

For other long-lived assets including property, equipment and software and other non-current assets, 
the Group evaluates for impairment whenever events or changes (triggering events) indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may no longer be recoverable. The Group assesses the recoverability 
of the long-lived assets by comparing the carrying value of the long-lived assets to the estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows expected to receive from use of the assets and their eventual 
disposition. Such assets are considered to be impaired if the sum of the expected undiscounted cash 
flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets. The impairment to be recognized is measured 
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. No 
impairment charges were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(p) Value Added Taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries and the VIE in the PRC are subject to value-added taxes (“VAT”) on its 
products and services, less any deductible VAT the Group has already paid or borne. They are also 
subject to surcharges on VAT payments in accordance with PRC law. VAT is not included in the 
revenue recognized for the Group.

The Company’s two subsidiaries, Hangzhou Tuya Information Technology Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang 
Tuya Smart Electronics Co., Ltd. obtained their software copy certificate in July and December 2020, 
respectively, and are eligible for the VAT refund-upon-collection policy, which entitles Hangzhou Tuya 
Information Technology Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Tuya Smart Electronics Co., Ltd. to receive relevant 
refunds for the amount of VAT in excess of 3% of its actual tax burden upon completion of relevant 
the VAT refund filling process. The VAT refund received is recorded in other operating incomes, net 
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023, VAT refunds received by the Company was US$6,211 and US$7,037, respectively.



ANNUAL REPORT 2023   TUYA INC.   97

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Revenue Recognition

The Group accounts for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606) for all periods presented. According to 
ASC 606, revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to 
the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to be entitled to 
in exchange for those goods or services. The Group determines revenue recognition through the 
following steps: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in 
the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine 
if it is acting as principal or agent. Revenue arrangements with multiple performance obligations 
are divided into separate distinct goods or services. The Group allocates the transaction price to 
each performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling price of the goods or services 
provided.

Revenue is recorded net of value-added tax.

The Group’s revenue was disaggregated by its major revenue streams in the years presented as 
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

IoT PaaS 152,914 167,694
Smart device distribution 25,446 26,517
SaaS and others 29,812 35,779

Total revenue 208,172 229,990
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

I. Revenue from IoT PaaS

IoT PaaS combines cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services, edge capabilities 
(embedded in modules), app development, and device optimization solutions. The Company 
determined there are two distinct performance obligations in the delivery of IoT PaaS 
products including: (1) IoT PaaS products with edge capabilities, app development and device 
optimization solutions, and; (2) cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services provided to 
customers and end consumers. The Group allocates the transaction price to each performance 
obligation based on their relative standalone selling price. The standalone selling price for 
IoT PaaS products is estimated based on the competitor’s pricing for similar products in 
the market, adjusted for entity-specific factors. As the standalone selling price of the cloud-
based connectivity and basic IoT services is not directly observable, it is estimated by the 
Group by using an expected cost plus a margin approach. Key areas of judgment include the 
selection of relevant cloud and other costs necessary to satisfy the performance obligation and 
estimated profit margins. For the delivery of IoT PaaS product, revenue is recognized when 
IoT PaaS products are accepted by customers, which is the point that control of the product 
is transferred to the customers. A receivable is recognized when the IoT PaaS products are 
delivered and accepted by customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is 
unconditional. For cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services, revenue is deferred and 
subsequently recognized from the end consumer’s activation to the end of the estimated IoT 
PaaS product’s life cycle on a straight-line basis. Based on the Group’s historical information, 
activation occurs, on average, an estimated 6 months after the IoT PaaS products are delivered 
to customers. The length of life cycle of the IoT PaaS products is estimated based on the 
historical data in previous years and by referencing the life cycle of different smart devices (e.g. 
lighting, security and monitoring devices) which ranged from 1.5 to 2 years.

Return allowances for IoT PaaS products are estimated based on historical experiences and 
accounted for as reduction of net revenue.

The Group provides sales rebates to its customers from time to time, which is accounted for as 
reduction of net revenue.

The Group started a membership program (the “2019 Membership Program”) in the fourth 
quarter of 2019. In the 2019 Membership Program, customers pay a fixed fee in exchange 
for IoT PaaS discount, VIP technical support, valued added services (“VAS” i.e., customized 
app development), and free participation in promotional activities. The promise to provide for 
technical support related services, the promotion related services and VAS are considered 
immaterial promises in the contract and are not considered distinct performance obligations. 
The membership fee is refundable if the volume requirements are met when the membership 
period ends. The Group historically generally refunds the membership fees even if the volume 
requirements are not met. Therefore, the Group does not expect being able to keep any of the 
membership fees and such fees are recorded as a refund liability under the 2019 Membership 
Program.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

I. Revenue from IoT PaaS (Continued)

The Group launched a new membership program (the “2020 Membership Program”) in the 
fourth quarter of 2020 and no longer offered 2019 Membership Program ever since. In the 2020 
Membership Program, customers pay a non-refundable fixed fee in exchange for member-
exclusive IoT PaaS discounts within the membership period of typically 12 months. The Group 
records the upfront fixed membership fee as a deferred revenue and recognizes revenue on a 
straight-line basis typically over the 12-month membership period in which customers entitle to 
the membership.

The Group replaced 2019 Membership Program and 2020 Membership program with a new 
membership program (“2023 Membership Program”) in the first quarter of 2023. In the 2023 
Membership Program, the customers are offered to choose either i) pay an upfront fixed fee 
in exchange for price discount in future purchases (the “Deposit scheme”), or ii) enjoy sales 
rebates based upon purchase achieved without paying any upfront fees (the “Rebate scheme”) 
with the membership period of typically 12 months. Under Deposit scheme, the upfront fee 
are refundable only if the volume requirements are met when the membership period ends. 
Considering past experience and current forecast, the Group does not expect being able 
to keep any of the membership fees and such fees are recorded as a refund liability. Under 
the Rebate schedule, sales rebates are estimated based on the past experience and current 
forecasts and recognized as the customers make progress towards the purchase threshold. 
The sales rebates are accounted for as reduction of net sales.

II. Revenue from smart device distribution

In certain circumstances, the Group offers select brands, primarily customers who prefer not 
to deal with multiple OEMs, an option to purchase directly from the Group finished smart 
devices where IoT PaaS is deployed. After the brands place purchase orders directly with the 
Group, the Group then sources the appropriate smart devices from OEMs based on the type 
of devices, hardware specifications and other metrics. The Group determines that there are 
two distinct performance obligations for its smart device distribution including the (1) smart 
devices embedded with IoT PaaS; and (2) cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services. 
The transaction price allocation and revenue recognition are the same as the revenue from IoT 
PaaS.

The Group presents the revenue generated from its smart device distribution on a gross 
basis as the Group has control of the smart devices before they are transferred to the brand 
customers. In making this determination, the Group concludes it meets the principles of control 
and that it is the primary obligor to the brand customers, are subject to inventory risk and have 
latitude in establishing prices.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

III. Revenue from SaaS and others

SaaS and other revenue mainly include industry SaaS, customized software development and 
configuration, and other VAS to both business customers and the end consumers.

Industry SaaS is a vertical-focused software solution that enables businesses to easily and 
securely deploy, connect, and manage large numbers of smart devices for which the Group 
generally charges an annual subscription fee. These services include software authorization and 
standard SaaS platform maintenances and technical support.

Customized software development and configuration mainly relate to contracts for the specific 
IT needs of the brands. The contracts generally include fixed milestone payments determined 
based on expected labor hours to complete the milestone.

VAS primarily includes complementary services that are provided to brands and OEMs such 
as app launch, AI-powered virtual voice assistants, and data analytics and others. Such 
arrangements with the customers are short term and the performance obligations are satisfied 
at one point of time. VAS also include cloud-based services for the end customers such as IoT 
data storage, push messaging, object detection and digital content.

There are different kinds of contracts included in the SaaS and others, and each contract 
may contain multiple elements. The Group identifies the distinct performance obligations and 
allocates transaction price to each distinct performance obligation based on relative estimated 
standalone selling price. Revenue is recognized when the performance obligations are satisfied, 
which is either over the period of time in which the Group performs these services or at one 
point of time.

Remaining performance obligations

The remaining performance obligations primarily relate to the Group’s provision of i) cloud-
based connectivity and basic IoT services; ii) membership services; and iii) SaaS and others, 
and all three of them are included in deferred revenue.

The amounts allocated to the cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services are deferred 
and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated IoT PaaS product’s life cycle. The 
Group apportions deferred revenue between current and non-current based upon cloud-based 
connectivity and basic IoT services to be provided over the life cycle of smart devices. Deferred 
revenue relating to the Group’s cloud services that have an expiration date of less than 12 
months are classified as current, otherwise non-current.

Starting from the fourth quarter of 2020, there are i) upfront fixed membership fee received 
and recorded as part of the deferred revenue, it is recognized as revenue on a straight-line 
basis typically over the 12-month membership period in which customers are entitled to the 
membership; and ii) amounts related to providing industry SaaS (included in SaaS and others), 
in general, the Company charges annual subscription fee, which is deferred and recognized on 
a straight-line basis typically over the 12-month service period.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

III. Revenue from SaaS and others (Continued)

Remaining performance obligations (Continued)

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to 
the remaining performance obligations was US$7,215 and US$7,308, respectively, of which 
US$6,821 and US$6,802 were recorded in current deferred revenue while US$394 and US$506 
were recorded in non-current deferred revenue, respectively.

The Group’s contract liability, including both deferred revenue and advances from customers, is 
US$34,848 and as US$39,084 of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.

The Group applies the practical expedient to omit disclosure of information about the 
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations and when revenue will be 
recognized, for contracts which have a duration of one year or less. The remaining amounts 
recorded in non-current deferred revenue of US$394 and US$506 as of December 31, 2022 
and 2023, respectively, would likely be recognized within 18 to 36 months.

The Group provides warranty for IoT PaaS and smart device distribution mainly for one year. 
The Group accrues a warranty reserve for all IoT PaaS and smart device distribution, which 
include the Group’s best estimate of the projected costs to repair or replace items under 
warranties. These estimates are based on actual claims incurred to date and an estimate of the 
nature, frequency and costs of future claims. These estimates are inherently uncertain given the 
Group’s history of sales, and changes to the historical or projected warranty experience may 
cause material changes to the warranty reserve when the Group accumulates more actual data 
and experience in the future. The warranty reserve expected to be incurred is included within 
accruals and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

(r) Advances from Customers

Amounts recorded in the advances from customers account represent cash payments made upfront 
by the Group’s customers under each sales contract. These amounts are not yet reclassified to the 
deferred revenue account because the Group has not started to fulfil any of its performance obligations 
identified under the contract at the time. The amounts in the advances from customers are reclassified 
to either revenue or deferred revenue when the Group commences fulfilment of its performance 
obligation, depending on whether respective revenue is to be recognized at one point of time or 
over the period of time. If the Group fulfils its performance obligation at one point of time, the related 
amount in the advances from customers will be reclassified and recognized as revenue; whereas for 
the performance obligation that the Group starts to provide over the period of time, the amount in the 
advances from customers will be reclassified to deferred revenue.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue consists primarily of purchase price of materials, manufacturing charges from 
outsourced factories, estimated warranty costs, inventories write-downs, payroll cost of production 
support personnel and third-party cloud infrastructure expenses that are directly attributable to the 
sales of products or services rendered. Inbound shipping charges to receive raw materials from 
suppliers are included in the inventories and recognized as cost of revenues upon sale of products and 
render of services.

(t) Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of payroll cost including share-based 
compensation expenses for research and development personnel, third-party cloud infrastructure 
expenses incurred for research and development purposes, rental expenses and depreciation and 
other expenses in associated with research and development functions. The Group accounts for 
internal use software development costs in accordance with guidance on intangible assets and internal 
use software. See Note 2(l)-Internal-Use Software Development Costs.

(u) Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of payroll cost including share-based compensation 
expenses for sales and marketing personnel, promotion and marketing expenses, rental expenses 
and depreciation and other expenses in associated with sales and marketing functions. Advertising 
expenses consist primarily of costs for the promotion of the Group’s corporate image and product 
marketing. The Group expenses all advertising costs as incurred and classifies these costs under 
sales and marketing expenses. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, advertising and 
marketing costs totalled US$5,355 and US$4,867, respectively.

(v) General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll cost including share-based 
compensation expenses for corporate personnel, current expected credit loss, general office expenses, 
rental expenses and depreciation and other expenses in associated with general and administrative 
functions. The auditor’s remuneration in relation to audit and audit-related services provided for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 were USD$1,890 and USD$1,088, respectively.

(w) Government Grants

Government grants are recognized as other operating incomes, net, or as a reduction of specific 
costs and expenses for which the grants are intended to compensate. Such amounts are recognized 
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss upon receipts as all conditions attached to the 
grants are fulfilled. Government grants included as other operating incomes, net in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss amounted to US$10,350 and US$10,975 for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Employee Social Security and Welfare Benefits

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to staff welfare benefits including pension, work-
related injury benefits, maternity insurance, medical insurance, unemployment benefit and housing 
fund plans through a PRC government-mandated multi-employer defined contribution plan. The Group 
is required to contribute to the plan based on certain percentages of the employees’ salaries, up to a 
maximum amount specified by the local government.

The PRC government is responsible for the medical benefits and the pension liability to be paid to 
these employees and the Group’s obligations are limited to the amounts contributed and no legal 
obligation beyond the contributions made. Employee social security and welfare benefits included 
as expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss amounted to US$44,505 and 
US$27,296 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.

(y) Income Taxes

Current income taxes are recorded in accordance with the regulations of the relevant tax jurisdiction. 
The Group accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 
740, Income Tax. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax 
consequences attributable to differences between carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and their respective tax basis, and operating loss carry-forwards. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in 
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
loss in the period of change. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce the 
amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that amount of the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized.

The Group considers positive and negative evidence when determining whether a portion or all of 
its deferred tax assets will more likely than not be realized. This assessment considers, among other 
matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future 
profitability, the duration of statutory carry-forward periods, its experience with tax attributes expiring 
unused, and its tax planning strategies. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent 
upon its ability to generate sufficient future taxable income within the carry-forward periods provided 
for in the tax law and during the periods in which the temporary differences become deductible. When 
assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, the Group has considered possible sources of taxable 
income including (i) future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, (ii) future taxable income 
exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carry-forwards, (iii) future taxable income arising from 
implementing tax planning strategies, and (iv) specific known trend of profits expected to be reflected 
within the industry.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Income Taxes (Continued)

The Group’s tax positions are subject to income tax audits by multiple tax jurisdictions throughout 
the world. The Group recognizes a tax benefit associated with an uncertain tax position when, in its 
judgment, it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by a taxing 
authority. For a tax position that meets the-more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Group 
initially and subsequently measures the tax benefit as the largest amount that the Group judges to 
have a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. 
The Group’s liability associated with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing 
circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law developments and new or emerging 
legislation. Such adjustments are recognized entirely in the period in which they are identified. The 
Group’s effective tax rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for unrecognized tax 
benefits and subsequent adjustments as considered appropriate by management. The Group classifies 
interest and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were no uncertain tax position liabilities.

(z) Share-based Compensation

The Company grants restricted shares to the Registered Shareholders (also as key member of 
management), share options and Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) of the Company to eligible 
employees and non-employees. The Company accounts for these share-based awards in accordance 
with ASC 718 Compensation-Stock Compensation.

The Registered Shareholders and employees’ share-based awards are measured at the grant date fair 
value of the awards and recognized as expenses using a straight-line method over the requisite service 
period, which is the vesting period. For share-based awards granted with only service conditions 
to its PRC employees, the Group allows accelerated full vesting upon occurrence of a Change in 
Control (including defined in the Group’s Equity Incentive Plan), cumulative share-based compensation 
expenses for the share-based awards should be recorded upon the completion of the Change in 
Control.

For non-employees’ share-based awards, the Group adopted ASU 2018-07 “Improvements to 
Non-employee Share-Based Payment Accounting” for the periods presented. In accordance with 
ASU 2018-07, it clarifies that equity-classified non-employee share-based awards are measured at 
the grant date. The definition of the term grant date is amended to generally state the date at which a 
grantor and a grantee reach a mutual understanding of the key terms and conditions of a share-based 
payment award. Non-employee share-based awards are measured at the grant date fair value of the 
awards and recognized as expenses using a straight-line method over the requisite service period, 
which is the vesting period.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Share-based Compensation (Continued)

The binomial option-pricing model is used to measure the value of share options. The determination 
of the fair value is affected by the fair value of the ordinary shares as well as assumptions regarding a 
number of complex and subjective variables, including the expected share price volatility, actual and 
projected employee and non-employee share option exercise behaviour, risk-free interest rates and 
expected dividend yield. Binomial option-pricing model incorporates the assumptions about grantees’ 
future exercise patterns. The fair value of these awards was determined by management with the 
assistance from an independent valuation firm using management’s estimates and assumptions.

The assumptions used in share-based compensation expense recognition represent management’s 
best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and application of management 
judgment. If factors change or different assumptions are used, the share-based compensation 
expenses could be materially different for any period. Moreover, the estimates of fair value of the 
awards are not intended to predict actual future events or the value that ultimately will be realized by 
grantees who receive share-based awards. In accordance with ASU 2016-09, the Group made an 
entity-wide accounting policy election to account for forfeitures when they occur.

(aa) Treasury stocks

Treasury stocks are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the cost incurred to 
purchase the shares is recorded in the treasury stocks account on the consolidated balance sheets. 
When the Company reissues treasury stock at an amount greater or less than it paid to repurchase 
the shares, the realized gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of changes in 
shareholders’ equity. At retirement and cancellation of the treasury shares, the ordinary shares 
account is charged only for the aggregate par value of the shares. The excess of the acquisition cost 
of treasury shares over the aggregate par value is allocated between additional paid-in capital (up to 
the amount credited to the additional paid-in capital upon original issuance of the shares) and retained 
earnings.

(ab) Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period using the two-
class method. Under the two-class method, the net loss is allocated between ordinary shares and 
other participating securities based on their participating rights. Net loss is not allocated to other 
participating securities if based on their contractual terms they are not obligated to share in the loss.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders as 
adjusted for the effect of dilutive ordinary equivalent shares, if any, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary and dilutive ordinary equivalents shares outstanding during the year. Dilutive equivalent shares 
are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share if their effects would be anti-dilutive. 
Ordinary share equivalents consist of the ordinary shares issuable in connection with the Group’s 
ordinary shares issuable upon the conversion of the share-based awards, using the treasury stock 
method.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ac) Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the changes in equity of the Group during a period from transactions 
and other events and circumstances excluding transactions resulting from investments from 
shareholders and distributions to shareholders. Comprehensive loss for the periods presented includes 
net loss and foreign currency translation adjustments.

(ad) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise engaging in businesses activities 
for which separate financial information is available that is regularly evaluated by the Group’s chief 
operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Group’s 
chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews 
consolidated results including revenue, gross profit and operating profit at a consolidated level only. 
The Group does not distinguish between markets for the purpose of making decisions about resources 
allocation and performance assessment. As the Group’s long-lived assets are substantially located in 
the PRC and substantially all the Group’s revenue are derived from within the PRC, no geographical 
segments are presented. Hence, the Group has only one operating segment and one reportable 
segment.

(ae) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Group qualifies as an “emerging growth company”, or EGC, pursuant to the Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended, or the JOBS Act. As an EGC, the Group does not 
need to comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards until such date that a private 
company is otherwise required to comply with such new or revised accounting standards. The Group 
adopts the following standards based on extended transition period provided to private companies or 
early adopts as necessary as permitted by the respective standards.

New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which replaces the current 
incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current 
expected credit loss (“CECL”) methodology which changes how entities measure credit losses on 
financial instruments and the timing of when such losses are recorded. The Company adopted 
this new accounting standard on January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective method. The 
measurement of expected credit losses under the CECL methodology is applicable to financial assets 
measured at amortized cost, including accounts receivable, notes receivable, certain other receivables 
recorded in prepayments and other current assets and other non-current assets, and deposits and 
U.S. treasury securities are within the scope of ASC Topic 326. The cumulative-effect adjustment 
recorded a net decrease to opening accumulated deficit of US$460 as of January 1, 2023 related to 
additional allowance for current expected credit losses on doubtful accounts.

For additional information, see accounting policy (i) above.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ae) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

New and Amended Standards not yet Adopted by the Group

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements 
to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which expands the breadth and frequency of required segment 
disclosures. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to 
Income Tax Disclosures, which requires that all public entities on an annual basis (1) disclose specific 
categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) disclose the year-to-date amount of income taxes paid. 
The amendments in ASU 2023-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial 
statements.

3. RISKS AND CONCENTRATION

(a) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to concentration of credit risk consist of cash 
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and notes receivable.

The Group deposits its cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments with major financial 
institutions which the Group believes that no significant credit risk with high credit quality.

The Group has not experienced any significant recoverability issue with respect to its accounts 
receivable. The Group assesses the creditworthiness of each customer when providing services and 
may require the customers to make advance payments or a deposit before the services are rendered.

No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2022 
and 2023.
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3. RISKS AND CONCENTRATION (Continued)

(b) Concentration of Customers and Suppliers

There are no customers from whom revenues individually represent greater than 10% of the total 
revenues of the Group in any of the periods presented.

Suppliers contributed more than 10% of total purchases are as below:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023

Supplier A 15% * 

Supplier B * 11%

4. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Time deposits 818,885 288,758
Equity securities with readily determinable fair value(1) 2,249 2,265

Total short-term investments 821,134 291,023

(1) Starting from July 2021, the Group, from time to time, invested in ordinary shares of a listed company and disposed of portion of 
the investments. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Group recorded fair value losses on short-term equity 
investment of US$2,056 and gains of US$54, respectively, in financial income, net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
loss. This investment is classified as equity securities with readily determinable fair values.
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Accounts receivable, gross 13,955 12,581
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts/allowance for credit losses (1,783) (3,367)

Total accounts receivable, net 12,172 9,214

The Group recorded the allowance for doubtful accounts of US$288 for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group recorded the allowance for credit losses of US$1,530 and write off the allowance for credit losses 
of US$304 under ASU 2016-13 Financial instruments – credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2023.

An aging analysis based on relevant invoice dates is as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

0-3 months 7,033 5,518
3-6 months 1,754 1,002
6-12 months 3,031 2,238
Over 1 year 2,137 3,823

Total accounts receivable, gross 13,955 12,581
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6. INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories consist of the following:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Raw materials 44,225 30,620
Work in process 3,237 3,222
Finished goods 4,183 5,177
Low value consumables and spare parts 153 144

Inventories, gross 51,798 39,163
Less: inventory write-downs (6,418) (6,298)

Total inventories, net 45,380 32,865

As a result of the net impact of current year provision and sales or uses of inventories with reserve, the 
inventory write-downs net increased US$4,067 for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the inventory 
write-downs net decreased US$13 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

7. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS, NET

The current and non-current portions of prepayments and other assets consist of the following:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Advance to suppliers 5,980 5,587
Interest receivable 284 1,927
VAT recoverable(1) 810 1,275
Receivables from third party payment platforms 299 597
Rental deposits 527 532
Prepayment for share repurchase(2) – 315
Others 852 854
Less: allowance for credit losses – (34)

Total prepayments and other current assets, net 8,752 11,053

Rental deposits 1,179 889
Less: allowance for credit losses – (12)

Total other non-current assets, net 1,179 877

(1) VAT recoverable represented the balances that the Group can utilize to deduct its VAT liabilities within the next 12 months.

(2) As of December 31, 2023, prepayment for share repurchase represented the advanced payment by the Group to a bank engaged 
by the Group for the Share Repurchase Program (Note 15).
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8. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE, NET

Property, equipment and software consist of the following:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Cost:
 Leasehold improvements 3,389 3,568
 Computers and electronic equipment 7,513 7,273
 Office equipment 229 307
 Software 726 834
 Construction in progress 59 –

Total cost 11,916 11,982
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (8,089) (9,393)

Total property, equipment and software, net 3,827 2,589

Depreciation expense was US$3,443, and US$2,449 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, 
respectively.

9. LONG-TERM INVESTMENT

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Time deposit – 186,751
Investments in available-for-sale debt securities(1) 17,665 9,874
U.S. treasury securities(2) – 10,140
Investments in equity securities accounted for under alternative 
 measurement – 488
Investment in an equity security with readily determinable fair values 366 236

Total long-term investments 18,031 207,489

(1) As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the balance represents the Group’s shareholding interests of several privately held companies.
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9. LONG-TERM INVESTMENT (Continued)

In August 2021, the Group acquired shareholding interest of a privately held company with a cash consideration of RMB20,000 
thousand (equivalent to US$3,092). In September 2021, the Group acquired shareholding interest of a privately held company with 
a cash consideration of RMB5,000 thousand (equivalent to US$774). In October 2021, the Group acquired shareholding interest of 
a privately held company with a cash consideration of RMB75,000 thousand (equivalent to US$11,713).

In December 2021, the Group acquired shareholding interest of a privately held company with total cash consideration of 
RMB30,640 thousand (equivalent to US$4,672). Prior to the investment, in September 2021, the Group provided a bridge loan 
to the privately held investee, with principal amount of RMB15,000 thousand (equivalent to US$2,313), which was due within 
one year. There was a warrant granted to the Group to purchase shares of the customer with pre-agreed valuation cap. This 
loan arrangement was entered into separately from regular sales business with the customer. In accordance with the bridge loan 
agreement, the loan was interest free, and the Group was entitled to rights of investments in the customer within certain pre-defined 
period prior to the loan due dates. In the fourth quarter of 2021, this bridge loan of RMB15,000 thousand (equivalent to US$2,302) 
was fully converted into an investment in the customer which also included the Group’s additional cash consideration of RMB15,640 
thousand (equivalent to US$2,459). There was a realized gain of RMB7,860 thousand (equivalent to US$1,218) recorded in financial 
income, net for the year ended December 31, 2021 due to the exercise of the warrant.

In November 2021, the Group acquired shareholding interest of two privately held companies with cash considerations of 
RMB3,000 thousand (equivalent to US$467) and RMB10,000 thousand (equivalent to US$1,571), respectively. In December 2021, 
the Group acquired a shareholding interest of a privately held company with a cash consideration of RMB7,139 thousand (equivalent 
to US$1,120). In March 2022, the Group acquired a shareholding interest in a privately held company with a cash consideration of 
RMB10,000 thousand (equivalent to US$1,575).

As the Group has the right to request each investee to redeem the Group’s investments at the Group’s investment cost plus 
interest if the investee fails to meet certain predetermined conditions, the redeemable shares of the investees purchased by the 
Group were classified as an available-for-sale debt investments and were measured at their respective fair values. For the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the fair value changes of the Group’s investments in these privately held companies were 
other comprehensive loss of US$9,493 and US$7,791, respectively.

For two of the aforementioned investment, the Group recorded a credit loss of US$15,537 in general and administrative expenses 
on the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, and transferred out the related investments’ historical fair value change 
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income accordingly, for the years ended December 31, 2023, as a result of the 
Group’s impairment assessment on this investment as of December 31, 2023.

(2) The Group invested in U.S. treasury securities with original maturities of two to three years in 2023 and accounted for as held-to-
maturity treasury securities at amortized cost, for which the allowance for credit losses was immaterial. The carrying amount of U.S. 
treasury securities approximates their fair value due to the fact that the related effective interest rates approximate rates currently 
offered by financial institutions for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities.
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10. OPERATING LEASES

The Company has operating leases primarily for office and operation space. The Company’s operating lease 
arrangements have remaining terms of one year to five years with no variable lease costs.

Operating lease costs were US$6,626 and US$4,530 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, 
respectively. The components of lease expenses were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets 4,766 4,100
Interest of lease liabilities 692 354
Expenses for short-term lease within 12 months 1,168 76

Total lease cost 6,626 4,530

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities 5,554 4,134
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities 884 2,727

Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases were as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Right-of-use assets 9,736 7,647

Operating lease liabilities-current 3,850 3,883
Operating lease liabilities-non-current 5,292 3,904

Total lease liabilities 9,142 7,787

Weighted-average remaining lease term
 Operating leases 2.73 years 2.12 years
Weighted-average discount rate
 Operating lease 4.75% per annum 4.75% per annum
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10. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

2023 4,200 –
2024 2,835 4,237
2025 2,675 3,880
2026 46 124
2027 4 5

Total undiscounted lease payments 9,760 8,246
Less: imputed interest (618) (459)

Total lease liabilities 9,142 7,787

11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Total accounts payable 9,595 11,577

An aging analysis based on relevant invoice dates as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

0-3 months 8,594 11,153
3-6 months 206 44
6-12 months 615 58
Over 1 year 180 322

Total accounts payable 9,595 11,577
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12. ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The current and non-current portions of accruals and other liabilities consist of the following:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Accruals and other current liabilities
Salary and welfare payable 16,850 13,796
Cloud infrastructure and IT related services fee payables 3,214 4,214
Payment from depositary bank, current(1) 3,113 3,113
Tax payables 787 2,479
Professional service fee payables 2,036 2,203
Membership fee to be refunded(2) 388 1,857
Deposit payable 1,436 1,412
Sales return allowances 1,004 1,223
Advertising and promotion fee payables 1,078 975
Product warranty 213 200
Payables for share repurchase(3) 716 –
Others 2,548 1,335

Total accruals and other current liabilities 33,383 32,807

Other non-current liabilities
Payment from depositary bank, non-current(1) 7,004 3,891

Total accruals and other liabilities 40,387 36,698

(1) The Company received reimbursement payment of US$13,053 and US$1,926 from a depositary bank in April 2021 and June 2022, 
respectively. The amount was recorded ratably as other non-operating income over a five-year and 46 months arrangement period, 
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company recorded US$2,904 and US$3,113 in other non-
operating income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, respectively.

(2) Membership fee to be refunded presents the balances of refundable membership fee collected by the Group from its customers 
under the 2019 and 2023 Membership Program (Note 2(q)).

(3) Payables for share repurchase represents the share repurchase consideration to be settled as of December 31, 2022 by the Group 
to a bank engaged by the Group for the Share Repurchase Program (Note 15). These payables were fully paid subsequently in 
January 2023.
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13. DEFERRED REVENUE

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Deferred Revenue
 – Cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services(1) 1,375 1,122
 – Membership(2) 672 –
 – SaaS(3) 5,168 6,186

Total deferred revenue 7,215 7,308

(1) Deferred cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services related revenue
Deferred cloud-based connectivity and basic IoT services related revenue represents the Group’s provision of cloud-based 
connectivity obligation and basic IoT services to customers.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Beginning balances 2,669 1,375
 Deferral of revenue 872 984
 Recognition of deferred revenue (2,166) (1,237)

Ending balances 1,375 1,122

(2) Deferred Revenue-Membership
Deferred Revenue-Membership represents the Group’s remaining performance obligation performed over the period of time under 
its 2020 Membership Program (Note 2(q)).

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Beginning balances 3,473 672
 Deferral of revenue 2,442 179
 Recognition of deferred revenue (5,243) (851)

Ending balances 672 –
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13. DEFERRED REVENUE (Continued)

(3) Deferred Revenue-SaaS
Deferred Revenue-SaaS mainly represents the Group’s remaining performance obligation in providing industry SaaS services over 
the period of time (Note 2(q)).

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Beginning balances 3,971 5,168
 Deferral of revenue 11,779 19,402
 Recognition of deferred revenue (10,582) (18,384)

Ending balances 5,168 6,186

14. FINANCIAL INCOME, NET

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Interest income and investment income, net(1) 20,731 45,052
Fair value change of short-term investments (2,056) 54
Fair value change of long-term investments (129) (130)

Total financial income, net 18,546 44,976

(1) Interest income and investment income, net included interest income and investment income of US$22,898 and US$49,744, as 
well as investment loss from forward exchange contracts of US$2,167 and US$4,692, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023, respectively.

15. ORDINARY SHARES

On August 28, 2014, the Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability with 
authorized share capital of US$50 divided into 1,000,000,000 shares with par value US$0.00005 each. 
On August 28, 2014, the Company issued total 200,000,000 shares of ordinary shares with total cash 
consideration of US$10 to the Registered Shareholders. The Company issued total 21,980,000 ordinary 
shares for US$0.0797 per share, with cash proceed of RMB9,720 thousand (equivalent to US$1,577) from 
two investors and US$175 from the other investor (collectively, the “Angel Investors”), on August 28, 2014 
and December 23, 2014, respectively.

The Company amended the numbers of its ordinary shares authorized as 934,711,640, 921,032,370, 
827,969,950, 767,500,110 and 692,500,110 upon the issuance of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C 
and Series D convertible preferred shares in December 2014, November 2016, August 2017, April 2018 and 
September 2019, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the Company had in aggregate of 221,980,000 ordinary shares issued 
and outstanding, at a par value of US$0.00005.
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15. ORDINARY SHARES (Continued)

As of December 31, 2019, proceeds of the subscription for ordinary shares of the Company in the amount 
of US$10 were remained outstanding, and was presented as subscription receivables from ordinary 
shareholders in equity, a contra-equity balance on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019. 
In 2020, the ordinary shareholders fully paid the US$10 subscription for ordinary shares of the Company, and 
therefore, as of December 31, 2020, the balance subscription receivables from ordinary shareholders were 
nil.

In early February 2021, the Company issued total 16,026,282 shares of ordinary shares for US$12.48 per 
share, with total consideration of approximately US$200 million received from two investors at fair market 
price, including one holder of its Series D Preferred Shares.

On March 18, 2021, the Company completed its U.S. IPO of 43,590,000 American Depositary Shares 
(“ADSs”), each representing one Class A ordinary shares of the Company, at the price of US$21.00 per ADS. 
On April 20, 2021, the Company’s underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to purchase additional 
1,486,479 ADSs. The Company received approximately US$904.7 million of proceeds after deducting 
underwriting discounts commissions and other offering expense from its U.S. IPO and related over-allotment 
option arrangement.

Immediately prior to the completion of its U.S. IPO, the Company’s authorized share capital was amended 
as US$50 divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares, among which 600,000,000 authorized ordinary shares 
were reclassified and re-designated as Class A ordinary shares, 200,000,000 authorized ordinary shares were 
reclassified and re-designated as Class B ordinary shares, and remaining 200,000,000 authorized ordinary 
shares were reclassified and re-designated as undesignated shares on a one-for-one basis, of such class or 
classes (however designated) as the board of directors of the Company may determine in the future.

Immediately prior to the completion of its U.S. IPO, a total of 142,400,000 issued and outstanding ordinary 
shares were converted into Class B ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. The remaining issued and 
outstanding ordinary shares and all the Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C and Series D Preferred 
Shares, which were originally classified as Mezzanine Equity, were converted into Class A ordinary shares, 
in each case on a one-for-one basis immediately prior to the completion of the U.S. IPO (the “Dual Class 
Conversion”). In respect of matters requiring the votes of shareholders, each Class A ordinary share is 
entitled to one vote and each Class B ordinary share is entitled to 15 votes. Each Class B ordinary share is 
convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any time by the holder thereof. Class A ordinary shares are not 
convertible into Class B ordinary shares under any circumstances. Holders of Class A ordinary shares and 
Class B ordinary shares have the same rights except for voting and conversion rights.

On September 13, 2021 and October 18, 2021, the Company issued 5,000,000 Class A ordinary shares at 
par to a depository bank reserved solely for the purpose of implementing the Group’s Equity Incentive Plan, 
respectively. The Group accounted for these shares as issued but not outstanding and presented as treasury 
stocks in the consolidated balance sheets.

On December 23, 2021, 27,000,000 Class B ordinary Shares were converted to Class A ordinary Shares on 
one-for-one basis for Wang Xueji’s personal investment planning. On December 28, 2021, 36,000,000 Class 
B ordinary Shares were converted to Class A ordinary Shares on one-for-one basis for Wang Xueji’s personal 
investment planning.
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15. ORDINARY SHARES (Continued)

On July 4, 2022, the Company completed its Dual Primary Listing in Hong Kong Exchange (“Dual Primary 
Listing”) of 7,300,000 Class A ordinary shares, at the price of US$2.46 per ordinary share.

On November 1, 2022, the Company amended the numbers of its Class A ordinary shares authorized from 
600,000,000 to 800,000,000 at par value of US$0.00005 each. The Company further amended that in 
respect of matters requiring the votes of shareholders to one vote for each Class A ordinary share and 10 
votes for each Class B ordinary share.

On March 28, 2023 and December 15, 2023, 9,000,000 and 194,700 Class B ordinary shares were 
converted to Class A ordinary shares on one-for-one basis to reduce the weighted voting rights, respectively.

On August 30, 2021, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program under which 
the Company may repurchase up to US$200 million of ADSs each representing one Class A ordinary shares 
during a twelve-month period ended on August 30, 2022. On November 9, 2022, the Company’s board of 
directors authorized a share repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to US$50 
million of ADSs each representing one Class A ordinary shares. On June 29, 2023, the Company’s board of 
directors authorized a share repurchase program under which the Company may repurchase up to US$50 
million of ADSs each representing one Class A ordinary shares (The above mentioned share repurchase 
programs are collectively referred as the “Share Repurchase Program”). The share repurchases may be made 
from time to time in the open market at prevailing market prices, in privately negotiated transactions, in block 
trades and/or through other legally permissible means, depending on market conditions and in accordance 
with applicable rules and regulations. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 
total 18,813,449 ADSs representing 18,813,449 ordinary shares, and total 26,400 ordinary shares under 
the Share Repurchase Program at a weighted average price of US$3.17 per ADS and US$1.71 per ordinary 
share, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining authorized amount under the Share Repurchase 
Program is US$46 million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased total 1,200,794 
ADSs representing 1,200,794 ordinary shares under the Share Repurchase Program at a weighted average 
price of US$1.70 per ADS. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining authorized amount under the Share 
Repurchase Program is US$49 million.

On March 28, 2023 and December 15, 2023, 2,753,167 and 1,200,794 treasury stocks were cancelled 
respectively, to comply with the listing rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company’s authorized share capital of US$50 was divided 
into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares, among which 800,000,000 authorized Class A ordinary shares and 
200,000,000 authorized Class B ordinary shares.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had in aggregate of 499,146,560 Class A ordinary shares issued 
and 473,550,229 shares Class A outstanding, at a par value of US$0.00005. As of December 31, 2022, the 
Company had in aggregate of 79,400,000 Class B ordinary shares issued and outstanding, at a par value of 
US$0.00005.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had in aggregate of 504,387,299 Class A ordinary shares issued 
and 487,591,968 shares Class A outstanding, at a par value of US$0.00005. As of December 31, 2023, the 
Company had in aggregate of 70,205,300 Class B ordinary shares issued and outstanding, at a par value of 
US$0.00005.
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15. ORDINARY SHARES (Continued)

The activities of the Group’s Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2023 are summarized as below:

Class A ordinary shares
(US$0.00005 par value)

Class B ordinary shares
(US$0.00005 par value)

Total of Class A ordinary 
shares and Class B 

ordinary shares
(US$0.00005 par value)

Number of
shares issued Amount

Number of
shares issued Amount

Number of
shares issued Amount

US$ US$ US$

Balance as of December 31, 2021 491,846,560 25 79,400,000 4 571,246,560 29

Issuance of ordinary shares upon the Dual Primary 
 Listing at par value 7,300,000 – – – 7,300,000 –

Balance as of December 31, 2022 499,146,560 25 79,400,000 4 578,546,560 29

Cancellation of Treasury (3,953,961) – – – (3,953,961) –
Conversion of Class B ordinary shares to Class A 
 ordinary shares 9,194,700 – (9,194,700) – – –

Balance as of December 31, 2023 504,387,299 25 70,205,300 4 574,592,599 29

16. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

The Company issued total 65,288,360 shares (with par value of US$0.00005) of Series A convertible 
preferred shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares”) for US$0.1378 per share with total cash consideration of 
US$8,500 from two investors and US$500 from one investor (totally, cash proceed of US$9,000 for Series A) 
on December 23, 2014 and March 31, 2015, respectively.

The Company issued total 13,679,270 shares (with par value of US$0.00005) of Series A-1 convertible 
preferred shares (the “Series A-1 Preferred Shares”) for US$0.2193 per share from one investor with total 
cash proceed of US$3,000 on November 11, 2016.

The Company issued total 87,756,440 shares (with par value of US$0.00005) of Series B convertible 
preferred shares (the “Series B Preferred Shares”) for US$0.3305 per share, with total consideration of 
US$25,000 from three investors and US$4,000 from two investors (totally cash proceed of US$29,000 for 
Series B) on August 15, 2017 and September 15, 2017, respectively.

The Company issued total 60,468,490 shares (with par value of US$0.00005) of Series C convertible 
preferred shares (the “Series C Preferred Shares”) for US$1.9019 per share, with total cash consideration of 
US$59,457 from six investors and US$55,550 from three investors (totally cash proceed of US$115,007 for 
Series C) on April 16, 2018 and May 2, 2018, respectively.
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16. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES (Continued)

The Company issued total 52,428,242 shares (with par value of US$0.00005) of Series D convertible 
preferred shares (the “Series D Preferred Shares”) for US$3.4317 (the “Series D Issue Price”) per share, with 
total cash consideration of US$174,918 from three investors and US$5,000 from one investor (totally, cash 
proceed of US$179,918 for Series D) on September 16, 2019 and November 1, 2019, respectively.

The issuance costs incurred for Series D Preferred Shares were US$1,938.

The above-mentioned Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C and Series D Preferred Shares are collectively 
referred as the “Preferred Shares”. Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C Preferred Shares are collectively 
referred as the “Junior Preferred Shares”.

On November 1, 2019, the Company repurchased 1,457,003 shares from the holder of Series A-1 Preferred 
Shares, who originally held total 13,679,270 shares of the Company, for US$2.5738 per share, with total 
cash consideration of US$3,750 while the original issuance price for Series A-1 Preferred Shares was 
US$0.2193 per share (the “Series A-1 Repurchase”). These repurchased Series A-1 Preferred Shares were 
then extinguished.

All of Preferred Shares were converted into Class A ordinary shares immediately upon the completion of the 
Company’s U.S. IPO on March 18, 2021 (Note 15). Prior to their conversion, Preferred Shares were entitled 
to certain preference with respect to conversion, dividends and liquidation.

17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In December 2014, the board of directors of the Company adopted the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive 
Plan (“the 2015 Plan”) and reserved 31,918,690 ordinary shares for issuance under the Plan to grant 
share-based awards, including restricted shares and share options, to its service providers, defined as the 
Company’s global employees, directors and external consultants. In July 2020, the 2015 Plan was modified 
to allow the Company with the intentions of i) providing for the award of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) under 
the Plan and ii) amending the exercise price of certain outstanding share options held by certain optionees 
located outside of the U.S. to purchase ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share Option Repricing”), 
and the number of ordinary shares reserved for the 2015 Plan was modified to 60,778,005 (adjusted in 
accordance with the Share Split). As of December 31, 2020, the Company had not granted any RSUs to 
anyone yet, neither had the Company entered any repricing agreement with the optionee under the 2015 Plan 
yet. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had not granted any restricted shares to anyone yet, except 
that the part of the ordinary shares issued to the Registered Shareholders with restricted conditions from 
December 2014 to 2018 was considered as shared based compensation, which was recorded as expenses 
before the periods presented and in the opening balance of accumulated losses of the Group.

Since adoption of the 2015 Plan, the Company granted options to its global employees, director and external 
consultants. All options granted have a contractual term of ten years from the grant date, and the vest over a 
period of four years of continuous service, 50% of the shares subject to the option shall vest on the second 
anniversary of the vesting commencement date, and the remaining of the shares subject to the option shall 
vest in equal annual installments over the following two years thereafter on the same day of the month as the 
vesting commencement date (and if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the month), subject to 
the grantee continuing to be a service provider through each such date. The share options granted to PRC 
employee grantee shall become fully vested under the same service conditions and vesting schedule and, 
to the extent permissible under applicable law, exercisable upon the occurrence of a Change in Control (as 
defined in the 2015 Plan).
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17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

The Company accounted for the share-based compensation costs on a straight-line bases over the requisite 
service period for the award based on the fair value on their respectively grant date.

In January 2021, the Company entered into agreements with certain optionees under the 2015 Plan to amend 
the exercise price of certain outstanding share options held by these optionees located outside of the U.S. to 
purchase ordinary shares of the Company. As a result of this share option repricing, the Company recorded 
incremental share-based compensation expense of US$1,646 and US$728 in its consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, and estimated approximately US$154 million to 
be amortized over the remaining requisite service period for the optionees till year ended December 31, 2024.

On February 21, 2021, the 2015 Plan was amended to increase the number of ordinary shares available and 
reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan to 76,778,005 ordinary shares, which was approved by the board 
of directors of the Company and the shareholders of the Company.

On February 25, 2021, the board of directors of the Company approved further amendment to the 2015 
Plan, which provides that starting on January 1, 2022, on the first day of each fiscal year thereafter, the 
total number of shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan was increased by an amount equal to the 
least of (i) 2% of the aggregate number of shares of all classes of ordinary shares of the Company’s issued 
and outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year and (ii) such number of shares as 
determined by the board of directors.

The Company granted 2,765,000 and nil new share options with four-year requisite service period to its 
employees and non-employees for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2022 and 2023, 56,274,213 and 51,672,005 options were outstanding under the 2015 plan.

Staring from June 2021, the Company granted RSUs under the 2015 Plan. The Company granted 
10,205,500 RSUs and 1,181,000 RSUs with three-to-four-year requisite service period to its employees 
and non-employees for year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, 
11,638,750 RSUs and 9,323,125 RSUs were outstanding under the 2015 Plan.
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17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Options

The following table sets forth the share options activity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023:

Number of
shares

Weighted
average 
exercise 

price per 
share

Weighted
average

grant date
fair value 
per share

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

term

Aggregate
intrinsic

value
US$

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 59,961,539 0.17 4.40 6.95 364,287

Granted 2,765,000 0.20 3.27
Exercised (4,502,326) 0.20 2.09
Forfeited (1,950,000) 0.47 7.69

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 56,274,213 0.16 4.42 6.04 98,287

Granted – – –
Exercised (3,770,958) 0.31 3.54
Forfeited (831,250) 0.36 7.16

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 51,672,005 0.15 4.44 4.95 105,285

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying 
awards and the estimated fair value of the underlying stock at each reporting date (December 31, 2022: 
US$107,484, December 31, 2023: US$118,846).
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17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Share Options (Continued)

The Group uses the Binominal option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options. The 
assumptions used to value the Company’s options grants were as follow:

As of December 31,
2022 2023

Exercise price (US Dollar) 0.2 N/A
Exercise multiple 2.2~2.8 N/A
Risk-free interest rate 1.92%~3.22% N/A
Expected term (in years) 10 N/A
Expected dividend yield – N/A
Expected volatility 55.68%~55.78% N/A
Expected forfeiture rate (post-vesting) 5.83%~7.70% N/A
Fair value of the underlying shares on the
 date of options grants (US Dollar) 2.24~5.46 N/A
Fair value of share option (US Dollar) 2.05~5.27 N/A

For the year ended December 31, 2023, no new share option granted by the Company.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were US$127,887 and US$65,970 of unrecognized share-based 
compensation expenses related to share options granted by the Company, which were expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of 1.05 years and 0.56 year, respectively.
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17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Restricted Share Units:

The following table sets forth the service-based RSUs activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023:

Number of 
shares

Weighted 
average grant 
date fair value 

per share

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 3,050,000 8.80

Granted 10,205,500 2.58
Vested (346,000) 6.68
Forfeited (1,270,750) 7.80

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 11,638,750 3.51

Granted 1,181,000 1.79
Vested (2,276,875) 4.76
Forfeited (1,219,750) 4.34

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 9,323,125 2.88

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were US$33,197 and US$20,695 of unrecognized share-based 
compensation expenses related to RSUs granted by the Company, which were expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average vesting period of 3.40 years and 2.61 years, respectively. The fair value of the RSUs 
are measured at market price of the Company at the grant date and are held under employee share scheme 
until such time as they are vested.
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18. INCOME TAXES

Cayman Islands

Under the current tax laws of Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to income, corporation or capital 
gains tax, and no withholding tax is imposed upon the payment of dividends.

British Virgin Islands

Under the current laws of the British Virgin Islands, entities incorporated in the British Virgin Islands are not 
subject to tax on their income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

Under the current Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance, the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject 
to 16.5% Hong Kong profit tax on its taxable income generated from operations in Hong Kong.

PRC

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

On March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congress of PRC enacted the Enterprise Income Tax Law (the 
“new CIT Law”), under which foreign invested enterprises (“FIEs”) and domestic companies would be subject 
to enterprise income tax (“EIT”) at a uniform rate of 25%. The new CIT law became effective on January 
1, 2008. In accordance with the implementation rules of EIT Law, a qualified “High and New Technology 
Enterprise” (“HNTE”) is eligible for a preferential tax rate of 15%. The HNTE certificate is effective for a period 
of three years. An entity could re-apply for the HNTE certificate when the prior certificate expires.

The WFOE (Hangzhou Tuya Information Technology Co., Ltd.) obtained its HNTE certificate with a valid 
period of three years in November 2018, and renewed in December 2021 with a valid period of three years. 
Therefore, the WFOE is eligible to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% from the years ended December 31, 
2018 to 2023, to the extent it has taxable income under the EIT Law, and as long as it maintains the HNTE 
qualification and duly conducts relevant EIT filing procedures with the relevant tax authority. 
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

PRC (Continued)

PRC Withholding Income Tax on Dividends

The EIT Law also provides that an enterprise established under the laws of a foreign country or region but 
whose “de facto management body” is located in the PRC be treated as a resident enterprise for PRC tax 
purposes and consequently be subject to the PRC income tax at the rate of 25% for its global income. The 
implementing Rules of the EIT Law merely define the location of the “de facto management body” as “the 
place where the exercising, in substance, of the overall management and control of the production and 
business operation, personnel, accounting, properties, etc., of a non-PRC company is located.”

The EIT Law also imposes a withholding income tax of 10% on dividends distributed by a FIE to its immediate 
holding company outside of China, if such immediate holding company is considered as a non-resident 
enterprise without any establishment or place within China or if the received dividends have no connection 
with the establishment or place of such immediate holding company within China, unless such immediate 
holding company’s jurisdiction of incorporation has a tax treaty with China that provides for a different 
withholding arrangement. According to the arrangement between Mainland China and Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region on the Avoidance of Double Taxation and Prevention of Fiscal Evasion in August 
2006, dividends paid by a FIE in China to its immediate holding company in Hong Kong can be subject to 
withholding tax at a rate of no more than 5% if the immediate holding company in Hong Kong owns directly 
at least 25% of the shares of the FIE and could be recognized as a Beneficial Owner of the dividend from 
PRC tax perspective.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company did not record any withholding tax on the retained 
earnings of its subsidiaries in the PRC as the Group does not have retained earnings for any of the years 
presented.

United States

The Company’s subsidiary in California, United States is subject to U.S. federal corporate tax and California 
corporate franchise tax on its taxable income as reported in its statutory financial statements adjusted 
in accordance with relevant U.S. tax laws. The applicable U.S. federal corporate tax rate is 21% and the 
California corporate franchise tax rate is 8.84% or minimum of $0.8, whatever is larger in 2022 and 2023.
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

United States (Continued)

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to 
as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes to the U.S. 
tax code including, but not limited to: (1) reducing the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%; (2) 
requiring companies to pay a one-time transition tax on certain unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries; 
(3) generally eliminating U.S. federal income taxes on dividends from foreign subsidiaries; (4) requiring a 
current inclusion in U.S. federal taxable income of certain earnings of controlled foreign corporations; (5) 
eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) and changing how existing AMT credits can be 
realized; (6) creating the base erosion anti-abuse tax (“BEAT”), a new minimum tax; (7) creating a new 
limitation on deductible interest expense; and (8) changing rules related to uses and limitations of net 
operating loss carry-forwards created in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. In addition, the 
California corporate franchise tax remained the same after the enactment of the Tax Act.

The Company assessed the impact of Tax Act and concluded that it was not material to the Company.

As the Group incurred income tax expense mainly from PRC tax jurisdictions, the following information is 
based mainly on PRC income taxes.

Composition of income tax expense

The components of loss before tax are as follow:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Loss before tax
 Loss from PRC entities (143,951) (71,249)
 (Loss)/profit from overseas entities (344) 14,183

Total loss before tax (144,295) (57,066)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Current income tax expense 1,880 3,249
Deferred income tax – –

Total income tax expense 1,880 3,249
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Composition of income tax expense (Continued)

Reconciliation of the differences between statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate

Reconciliation of the differences between the statutory EIT rate applicable to losses of the consolidated 
entities and the income tax expenses of the Group:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

PRC Statutory income tax rate 25.0% 25.0%
Effect of tax rates in different tax jurisdiction (0.3%) (2.5%)
Effect of preferential tax rate for qualified HNTE entities(1) (6.0%) (5.4%)
Additional deduction for research and development expenditures 8.5% 17.7%
Share-based compensation expenses (10.5%) (19.7%)
Permanent book – tax differences (1.4%) 1.6%
Change in valuation allowance(2) (16.6%) (22.4%)

Effective tax rates (1.3%) (5.7%)

(1) The effect of the preferential income tax rate that the WFOE is entitled to enjoy as a qualified HNTE is 15%.

(2) Valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 are related to the deferred tax assets of certain group 
entities which reported losses. The Group believes that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets of these entities will not 
be utilized. Therefore, valuation allowance has been provided.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

The following table sets forth the significant components of the deferred tax assets:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Deferred tax assets
 Net accumulated losses-carry forward 103,231 114,958
 Payroll liabilities 2,915 2,451
 Credit-related impairment of long-term investments – 1,421
 Inventory write-downs 691 531
 Receivables allowances 42 279
 Other deductible temporary difference 88 106
 Less: valuation allowance (106,967) (119,746)

Total deferred tax assets – –
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18. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had tax losses carry forwards of approximately US$608,109, which 
mainly arose from its subsidiaries established in the PRC. These tax losses carry forwards from PRC entities 
will expire during the period from 2024 to 2033 as follows:

At December 31, 2023 US$

2024 227
2025 59,719
2026 106,030
2027 50,463
2028 59,405
2029 68,687
2030 37,607
2031 34,690
2032 98,215
2033 36,502

Total tax losses carry forwards 551,545

Movement of valuation allowance

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Balance at beginning of the year 82,964 106,967
Changes of valuation allowance(1) 24,003 12,779

Balance at end of the year 106,967 119,746

(1) Valuation allowances have been provided against deferred tax assets when the Group determines that it is more likely than not 
that the deferred tax assets will not be utilized in the future. In making such determination, the Group evaluates a variety of factors 
including the Group’s entities’ operating history, accumulated deficit, existence of taxable temporary differences and reversal 
periods. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, full valuation allowances on deferred tax assets were provided because it was more 
likely than not that the Group will not be able to utilize tax loss carry forwards and other temporary tax difference generated by its 
unprofitable subsidiaries and the VIE.
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19. BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted loss per share have been calculated in accordance with ASC 260 on computation of 
earnings (loss) per share for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 are calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Basic and diluted net loss per share calculation
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Tuya Inc.’s ordinary shareholders, basic  

and diluted (146,175) (60,315)

Denominator:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding, basic and diluted 553,527,529 555,466,061

Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders:
 Basic (0.26) (0.11)
 Diluted (0.26) (0.11)

The following ordinary shares equivalent were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per ordinary 
share for the periods presented because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:

As of December 31,
2022 2023

Share option and RSU-weighted shares 65,349,350 64,211,569

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Capital and other commitments

There are no future minimum capital commitments as of December 31, 2022 and 2023.

(b) Operating lease commitment

The Group had outstanding commitments on several non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 
Operating lease commitment within one year or less lease term, for which the Group elected not 
recognize any lease liability or right-of-use asset, therefore not yet reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 were US$33 and US$19, respectively.
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

(c) Services purchase commitment

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s services purchase commitments were as follows:

Total
Less Than 

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
US$ US$ US$ US$

Purchase obligations(i) 15,667 5,042 10,625 –

(i) Purchase obligations represent US$24,604 and US$15,667 of remaining non-cancellable contractual commitments as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively, related to one of the Group’s third-party cloud infrastructure agreements, 
under which the Group committed to spend an aggregate of at least US$37,500 between June 1, 2021 and May 31, 2026 
with minimum purchase commitment. The Group had made payments totalling US$15,774 and US$27,023 under this 
agreement as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.

(d) Contingencies

On August 9, 2022, the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were 
named as defendants in a putative securities class action filed in the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York, alleging that certain material misstatements and/or omissions 
were made in the Company’s March 2021 U.S. IPO registration statement. As of the issuance date 
of these consolidated financial statements, the case remained in its preliminary stage and the Group 
was unable to predict the outcome of the case, or reasonably estimate a range of possible loss, if 
any, given the current status of the case. The Group records a liability when it is both probable that a 
liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Group reviews 
the need for any such liability on a regular basis. The Group has not recorded any material liability 
in this regard for the above action as of December 31, 2023. Other than as disclosed above, as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Group was not involved in any legal or administrative proceedings 
that the Group believes may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, balance sheets 
or results of operations and cash flows.
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related parties with which the Group had transactions during the years presented are as follows:

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

Wang Xueji and other four individuals Registered Shareholders

Tencent Group (including Tencent Mobility Limited and  
Image Frame Investment (HK) Limited. After November 1,  
2022, Tencent Group is a related party of the Company)

Principal shareholder of the Group

The Group entered into the following related party transactions:

From 
November 1, 2022 to 

December 31, 2022

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 2023
US$ US$

Purchase of cloud service from Tencent Group 262 1,305

The Group had the following related party balances:

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Due to Tencent Group 306 10
Prepaid service fee to Tencent Group 97 –

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group has evaluated subsequent events through the date these consolidated financial statements are 
issued, with no material events or transactions needing recognition or disclosure found.
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23. STATUTORY RESERVES AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Relevant PRC laws and regulations permit payments of dividends by the Group’s entities incorporated 
in the PRC only out of their retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting 
standards and regulations. In addition, the Group’s entities in the PRC are required to annually appropriate 
10% of their net after-tax income to the statutory general reserve fund prior to payment of any dividends, 
unless such reserve funds have reached 50% of their respective registered capital. As a result of these and 
other restrictions under PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s entities and the VIE subsidiary incorporated 
in the PRC are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the Company either 
in the form of dividends, loans or advances, which restricted portion as calculated under U.S. GAAP 
amounted to US$392,612 and US$408,641 as of December 31, 2022 and 2023. There are no significant 
differences between U.S. GAAP and PRC accounting standards in connection with the reported net assets 
of the legally owned subsidiaries in the PRC and the VIE. Even though the Company currently does not 
require any such dividends, loans or advances from the PRC entities for working capital and other funding 
purposes, the Company may in the future require additional cash resources from them due to changes in 
business conditions, to fund future acquisitions and development, or merely to declare and pay dividends 
or distributions to its shareholders. Except for the above, there is no other restriction on use of proceeds 
generated by the Group’s subsidiaries and the VIE to satisfy any obligations of the Company.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company performed a test on the restricted net assets of 
subsidiaries and VIE in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X Rule 4-08(e)(3), 
“General Notes to Financial Statements” and concluded that the restricted net assets exceeded 25% of the 
consolidated net assets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and the condensed financial information 
of the Company (referred to as the “Parent Company” below) are required to be presented.
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23. STATUTORY RESERVES AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Continued)

Condensed Financial Information of the Parent Company

(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Balance Sheet

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents 4,685 21,393
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 318,017 287,668
 Prepayments and other current assets 596 785

Total current assets 323,298 309,846
Non-current assets:
 Investment in subsidiaries and VIE 651,044 669,084

Total non-current assets 651,044 669,084

Total assets 974,342 978,930

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
 Accruals and other current liabilities 5,171 4,474
 Other non-current liabilities 7,004 3,891

Total liabilities 12,175 8,365
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23. STATUTORY RESERVES AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Continued)

Balance Sheet (Continued)

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Shareholders’ equity:
 Ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; nil shares authorized, 
  issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, 
  respectively) – –
 Class A ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; 800,000,000 and 
  800,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2022 and 
  2023, respectively; 499,146,560 and 504,387,299 shares issued 
  as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively; 473,550,229 
  and 487,591,968 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022 
  and 2023, respectively) 25 25
 Class B ordinary shares (US$0.00005 par value; 200,000,000 
  and 200,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2022 
  and 2023, respectively; 79,400,000 and 70,205,300 shares 
  issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, 
  respectively) 4 4
 Treasury stock (US$0.00005 par value; 25,596,331 and 16,795,331 
  shares as of December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively) (86,438) (53,630)
 Additional paid-in capital 1,584,764 1,616,105
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (22,115) (17,091)
 Accumulated deficit (514,073) (574,848)

Total shareholders’ equity 962,167 970,565

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 974,342 978,930
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23. STATUTORY RESERVES AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Continued)

Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Operation expense
 General and administrative expenses (3,013) (4,212)
 Share of loss of subsidiaries and VIE (146,417) (59,372)

Total operating expenses (149,430) (63,584)

 Other non-operating income, net 2,904 3,113
 Financial income, net 197 238
 Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 154 (82)

Loss before income tax expense (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (146,175) (60,315)

Net loss (146,175) (60,315)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
 Foreign currency translation (14,942) (2,722)
 Transfer out of fair value changes of long-term investments – 15,537
 Changes in fair value of long-term investments (9,493) (7,791)

Total comprehensive loss (170,610) (55,291)
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23. STATUTORY RESERVES AND RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Continued)

Statement of Cash Flows

As of December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Net cash used in operating activities (1,408) (3,478)

 Advance to, and investment in subsidiaries – (7,940)
 Proceeds from subsidiaries 28,842 30,349

Net cash generated from investing activities 28,842 22,409

 Payment for repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares (48,678) (3,339)
 Proceeds from issuance of Class A ordinary shares upon the 
  Dual Primary Listing, net of cost of issuance 9,057 –
 Proceeds from exercise of share options 1,039 1,187
 Payments of deferred offering costs – (71)

Net cash used in financing activities (38,582) (2,223)

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
  cash equivalents, restricted cash – –

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,148) 16,708

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 15,833 4,685

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4,685 21,393



ANNUAL REPORT 2023   TUYA INC.   139

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts in US$ thousands (“US$”), except for share and per share data, unless otherwise noted)

24. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, Section 383(1)(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits 
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Fees 233 248
Basic salaries, housing fund, allowances and benefits in kind 714 978
Employer’s contributions to a retirement benefit scheme 26 28
Share-based compensation 34,534 33,800

Total 35,507 35,054

The directors and senior management received emoluments from the Group for the year ended December 
31, 2022 as follows:

Name Fees

Basic 
salaries, 

housing fund, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Employer’s 
contributions 

to a 
retirement 

benefit 
scheme

Share-based 
compensation Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Wang Xueji (Note (a)) – 146 6 18,977 19,129
Chen Liaohan (Note (b)) – 138 6 – 144
Zhou Ruixin (Note (c)) – 135 6 – 141
Yang Yi (Note (d)) – 146 6 7,424 7,576
Liu Yao (Note (e)) – 149 2 7,859 8,010
Jeffrey Robert Immelt (Note (f)) – – – 146 146
Scott David Sandell (Note (g)) 23 – – – 23
Carmen I-Hua Chang (Note (h)) 23 – – – 23
Gao Qing (Note (i)) 25 – – – 25
Hong Jing (Note (j)) 50 – – – 50
Huang Sidney Xuande (Note (k)) 37 – – 128 165
Qiu Changheng (Note (l)) 25 – – – 25
Kuok Meng Xiong (Note (m)) 25 – – – 25
Yip Pak Tung Jason (Note (n)) 25 – – – 25

Total 233 714 26 34,534 35,507
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24. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

The directors and senior management received emoluments from the Group for the year ended December 
31, 2023 as follows:

Name Fees

Basic 
salaries, 

housing fund, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Employer’s 
contributions 

to a 
retirement 

benefit 
scheme

Share-based
 compensation Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Wang Xueji (Note (a)) – 250 8 18,977 19,235
Chen Liaohan (Note (b)) – 206 6 – 212
Zhou Ruixin (Note (c)) – 155 6 – 161
Yang Yi (Note (d)) – 188 6 7,371 7,565
Liu Yao (Note (e)) – 179 2 7,196 7,377
Hong Jing (Note (j)) 23 – – – 23
Huang Sidney Xuande (Note (k)) 75 – – 256 331
Qiu Changheng (Note (l)) 50 – – – 50
Kuok Meng Xiong (Note (m)) 50 – – – 50
Yip Pak Tung Jason (Note (n)) 50 – – – 50

Total 248 978 28 33,800 35,054
    

Notes:

(a) Mr. Wang Xueji founded Tuya in 2014 and currently serves as a director and chief executive officer.

(b) Chen Liaohan co-founded Tuya in 2014 and currently serves as a director and president.

(c) Zhou Ruixin co-founded Tuya in 2014 and has served as a chief technology officer between June 2014 and December 2023.

(d) Yang Yi co-founded Tuya in 2014 and has served as a chief operation officer since May 2015.

(e) Liu Yao has served as a senior vice president and chief financial officer since May 2019.

(f) Jeffrey Robert Immelt has served as a director between March 2021 and June 2022.

(g) Scott David Sandell served as a director between December 2014 and August 2017 and has been re-appointed as a director 
between April 2018 and June 2022.

(h) Carmen I-Hua Chang has served as a director between December 2014 and June 2022.

(i) Gao Qing has served as an observer on our Board of Directors since August 2017 and as a director between March 2021 and July 
2022.
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24. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(j) Hong Jing has served as a director between March 2021 and June 2023.

(k) Huang Sidney Xuande has served as a director since July 2022.

(l) Qiu Changheng has served as a director since July 2022.

(m) Kuok Meng Xiong has served as a director since July 2022.

(n) Yip Pak Tung Jason has served as a director since July 2022.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled body 
corporates and connected entities of such directors during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

Save for contracts amongst group companies and the transactions disclosed above, no significant 
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a 
party and in which a director of the Company had material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 
the end of the years or at any time during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.

25. FIVE HIGHEST-PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest-paid employees for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 included the following 
number of directors and non-directors:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023

Directors 3 3
Non-directors 2 2

Total 5 5
 

Details of the remuneration for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 of the five highest-paid 
employees who are non-directors (the “Non-director Individuals”) were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023
US$ US$

Basic salaries, housing fund, allowances and benefits in kind 267 324
Employer’s contributions to a retirement benefit scheme 12 12
Share-based compensation 6,720 6,652

Total 6,999 6,988
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25. FIVE HIGHEST-PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The number of Non-director Individuals whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2023

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 1
HK$48,000,001 to HK$48,500,000 1 1

Total 2 2
 

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any 
Directors or Non-director Individuals for loss of the office, and no inducement was paid to any Non-director 
Individuals to join or upon joining the Group.

26. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023.
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which differ in certain 
respects from International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). The effects of material differences 
between the Financial Information of the Group prepared under U.S. GAAP and IFRSs are as follows:

As of December 31, 2022

Consolidated Balance Sheet data

Amounts 
as reported 
under U.S. 

GAAP IFRSs adjustments

Amounts 
as reported 

under IFRSs

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Classification and 

measurement of 
preferred shares 

(Note (a))
Listing expenses 

(Note (b))
Operating leases 

(Note (c))

Share-based 
compensation 

(Note (d))
Expected credit 

loss (Note (e))

Long-term 
investments

(Note (f))
    

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 9,736 – – (285) – – – 9,451
Accounts receivable, net 12,172 – – – – (382) – 11,790
Notes receivable, net 2,767 – – – – (47) – 2,720
Prepayments and other current assets 8,752 – – – – (17) – 8,735
Other non-current assets 1,179 – – – – (14) – 1,165
Long-term investments 18,031 – – – – – (17,665) 366
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – – – – – – 17,665 17,665

Total assets 1,056,139 – – (285) – (460) – 1,055,394

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – – – – – – – –
    

Total liabilities 93,972 – – – – – – 93,972

Accumulated deficit (514,073) (5,513,140) (9,177) (285) (31,738) (460) (9,136) (6,078,009)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (22,115) – – – – – 9,136 (12,979)
Additional paid-in capital 1,584,764 5,513,140 9,177 – 31,738 – – 7,138,819

Total shareholder’s equity 962,167 – – (285) – (460) – 961,422
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

As of December 31, 2023

Consolidated Balance Sheet data

Amounts 
as reported 
under U.S. 

GAAP IFRSs adjustments

Amounts 
as reported 

under IFRSs

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Classification and 

measurement of 
preferred shares 

(Note (a))
Listing expenses 

(Note (b))
Operating leases 

(Note (c))

Share-based 
compensation 

(Note (d))

Expected
 credit loss 

(Note (e))

Long-term
 investments

(Note (f))
    

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 7,647 – – (284) – – – 7,363
Accounts receivable, net 9,214 – – – – – – 9,214
Notes receivable, net 4,955 – – – – – – 4,955
Prepayments and other current assets 11,053 – – – – – – 11,053
Other non-current assets 877 – – – – – – 877
Long-term investments 207,489 – – – – – (9,874) 197,615
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – – – – – – 9,874 9,874

Total assets 1,066,400 – – (284) – – – 1,066,116

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – – – – – – – –
    

Total liabilities 95,835 – – – – – – 95,835

Accumulated deficit (574,848) (5,513,140) (9,177) (284) (18,909) – (1,390) (6,117,748)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (17,091) – – – – – 1,390 (15,701)
Additional paid-in capital 1,616,105 5,513,140 9,177 – 18,909 – – 7,157,331

Total shareholder’s equity 970,565 – – (284) – – – 970,281
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2022

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Loss data

Amounts 
as reported 
under U.S. 

GAAP IFRSs adjustments

Amounts 
as reported 

under IFRSs

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Classification and 

measurement of 
preferred shares 

(Note (a))
Listing expenses 

(Note (b))
Operating leases 

(Note (c))

Share-based 
compensation 

(Note (d))

Expected 
credit loss 

(Note (e))

Long-term 
investments

(Note (f))
    

Research and development expenses (144,942) – – 178 7,304 – – (137,460)
Sales and marketing expenses (55,662) – – 107 4,357 – – (51,198)
General and administrative expenses (67,513) – (3,873) 17 (4,584) 268 – (75,685)
Other non-operating incomes, net 2,904 – – 368 – – – 3,272
Financial income/(loss), net 18,546 – – (692) – – (9,493) 8,361

Net loss (146,175) – (3,873) (22) 7,077 268 (9,493) (152,218)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income (24,435) – – – – – 9,493 (14,942)

Net comprehensive loss (170,610) – (3,873) (22) 7,077 268 – (167,160)
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2023

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Loss data

Amounts 
as reported 
under U.S. 

GAAP IFRSs adjustments

Amounts 
as reported 

under IFRSs

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Classification and 

measurement of 
preferred shares 

(Note (a))
Listing expenses 

(Note (b))
Operating leases 

(Note (c))

Share-based 
compensation 

(Note (d))

Expected 
credit loss 

(Note (e))

Long-term 
investments

(Note (f))

Research and development expenses (102,277) – – 221 (1,351) – – (103,407)
Sales and marketing expenses (40,440) – – 81 (1,171) – – (41,530)
General and administrative expenses (80,663) – – 33 15,351 – 15,537 (49,742)
Other non-operating incomes, net 3,113 – – 20 – – – 3,133
Financial income/(loss), net 44,976 – – (354) – – (7,791) 36,831

Net loss (60,315) – – 1 12,829 – 7,746 (39,739)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 5,024 – – – – – (7,746) (2,722)

Net comprehensive loss (55,291) – – 1 12,829 – – (42,461)

(a) Classification and measurement of preferred shares

Under U.S. GAAP, the preferred shares of the Company are accounted for as mezzanine equity. The 
Preferred Shares are recorded initially at fair value, net of issuance costs, and carried at the amount 
recorded at inception and no subsequent changes are needed.

Under IFRSs, the preferred shares, represent a financial liability with embedded features. The preferred 
shares are measured at fair value and designated as of fair value through profit or loss with issuance 
costs recorded in general and administrative expenses. The issuance costs are recorded in profit or 
loss. The amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes 
in the Company’s own credit risk shall be presented in other comprehensive income; the remaining 
amount of change in the fair value of the liability shall be presented in profit or loss.

All the preferred shares of the Company were converted into ordinary shares upon the completion 
of U.S. IPO in March 2021. Consequently, there was no such reconciliation item in classification and 
measurement of preferred shares between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs subsequently.
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) Listing expenses

Under U.S. GAAP, specific incremental costs considered directly attributable to the offering of equity 
securities (“listing expenses”) may be deferred and capitalized against the gross proceeds of the 
offering.

Under IFRSs, only those listing expenses considered directly attributable to the issuance of new shares 
to investors can be capitalized. Those listing expenses considered directly attributable to the listing of 
existing shares on a stock exchange are not considered transaction costs that qualify for capitalization. 
Such costs should be expensed as incurred instead.

Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the reconciliation includes an expense 
recognition difference in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss of US$3,873 and nil in 
relation to the listing expenses of the Hong Kong Dual Primary Listing in 2022.

(c) Operating leases

For operating leases under U.S. GAAP, the subsequent measurement of the lease liability is based 
on the present value of the remaining lease payments using the discount rate determined at lease 
commencement, while the right-of-use asset is remeasured at the amount of the lease liability, 
adjusted for the remaining balance of any lease incentives received, cumulative prepaid or accrued 
rents, unamortized initial direct costs and any impairment. This treatment under U.S. GAAP results in 
straight line expense being incurred over the lease term, as opposed IFRSs which generally yields a 
“front-loaded” expense with more expense recognized in earlier years of the lease.

Accordingly, the reconciliation includes an expenses difference recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss of US$22 and reverse of expenses difference recognized in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss of US$1 for each of the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2023, respectively. The reconciliation also includes a difference in total shareholders’ equity 
of US$285 and US$284 as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 respectively.

(d) Share-based compensation

The Group granted Share Options and Restricted Shares Units with service condition to employees 
and consultants who rendered services that are similar to those rendered by employees, and the 
share-based compensation expenses were recognized over the vesting period using straight-line 
method with election of no estimation of expected forfeitures under U.S. GAAP. While under IFRSs, 
the graded vesting method with forfeitures estimation must be applied. Accordingly, the reconciliation 
includes a reverse of expense recognition difference in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
loss of US$7,077 and US$12,829 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(e) Expected credit loss

Before effectiveness of ASC 326, credit losses, under U.S. GAAP, a number of impairment models 
exist for various types of financial instruments not measured at fair value through net income. These 
models recognize impairments when losses have been incurred, as opposed to expected in the future. 
For loans, the overriding concept in U.S. GAAP is that impairment losses should be recognized when, 
based on all available information, it is probable that a loss has been incurred based on events and 
conditions existing at the date of the financial statements. Losses are not to be recognized before it 
is probable that they have been incurred, even though it may be probable or expected based on past 
experience that losses will be incurred in the future. For trade receivables, most entities use provision 
matrices in which historical loss percentages are applied to the respective aging categories. Those 
historical loss percentages typically are not adjusted for future expectations. Receivables that are 
either current or not yet due do not generally have a provision. For available for sale securities, entities 
generally record an impairment loss when the decline in fair value is “other than temporary.”

IFRS 9 introduced an expected loss model for financial assets. While certain simplifications exist for 
trade receivables and notes receivables, the general model applies to assets at amortized cost and 
FVOCI. The model is forward looking and incorporates historical information, current information, 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future conditions. The model contains three stages for 
measuring impairment losses based on the changes in credit quality of the instrument since inception. 
Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
since initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, an entity will 
typically record a 12-month Expected Credit Losses (ECL). It is not the expected cash shortfalls over 
the 12-month period, but the entire credit loss on an asset weighted by the probability that the loss 
will occur in the next 12 months. Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a SICR since 
initial recognition. For these assets, lifetime ECL is recognized, but interest revenue is still recognized 
on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective 
evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, lifetime ECL is recognised and interest 
revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount. An entity is required to continually assess whether 
a SICR has occurred. The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with other 
financial assets, such as cash and cash equivalents and time deposits, since they are substantially 
deposited at state owned banks and other medium or large-sized listed banks.

Accordingly, the reconciliation includes a difference of expense recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss of US$268 for reversal of the years ended December 31, 2022. The 
reconciliation also includes a decrease in assets of US$460 as of December 31, 2022.
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27. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(e) Expected credit loss (Continued)

After effectiveness of ASC 326 since December 16, 2022, U.S. GAAP requires that the allowance for 
credit losses be determined based on the amortized cost of the financial asset, which includes all 
premiums, discounts, and other adjustments. The use of some approaches to estimating the expected 
credit losses, such as discounted cash flow (DCF), already requires consideration of premiums and 
discounts included in the amortized cost. When using the DCF method, expected cash flows are 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Under ASC 326, the Group considers 
development and weighting of macroeconomic forecasts, incorporation of historical loss experience 
and the forward-looking macroeconomic conditions.

The Group adopted ASC 326 since January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective method and 
recorded a net decrease to opening accumulated deficit of US$460 as a cumulative-effect adjustment 
related to additional allowance for current expected credit losses on doubtful accounts. Accounts 
receivable, notes receivable, certain other receivables recorded in prepayments and other current 
assets and other non-current assets, and deposits and U.S. treasury securities are within the scope of 
ASC 326 under U.S GAAP as well as IFRS 9. Management assesses the financial impact of expected 
credit loss has no material difference between CECL model under U.S. GAAP and ECL model under 
IFRSs, and therefore, there is no GAAP difference in this regard from January 1, 2023.

(f) Long-term Investments

Under U.S. GAAP, debt security investments of the Group are classified as available-for-sale 
debt investments, with fair value change (for non-credit-related factors) recorded through other 
comprehensive income. Any credit loss is measured and recognized as an allowance for credit 
losses in net income. Under IFRSs, these debt security investments are classified as financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Accordingly, the reconciliation includes a reclassification between long-term investments and 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of US$17,665 and US$9,874 as of December 
31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the fair value 
loss of these investments of US$9,493 and US$7,791, respectively, which are recorded through 
other comprehensive income under U.S. GAAP, are recorded through profit or loss under IFRSs. 
Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2023, the credit loss expense of US$15,537 for the 
above investments was reclassified from general and administrative expenses under U.S. GAAP to 
financial income/(loss) under IFRSs.
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In this annual report, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the context requires 
otherwise.

“2015 Equity Incentive Plan” the equity incentive plan the Company adopted on December 23, 2014, as 
amended from time to time

“ADS(s)” American Depositary Shares, each representing one Class A Ordinary Share

“Article 6” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Articles” or “Articles of 
 Association”

the ninth amended and restated articles of association of the Company 
adopted by a special resolution of the Shareholders on November 1, 2022 
and effective on November 1, 2022

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Board” the board of Directors

“BVI” the British Virgin Islands

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, and for the purposes of this annual report 
only, except where the context requires otherwise, excluding the Hong Kong 
Special Administrative Region, the Macao Special Administrative Region of 
the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

“Class A Ordinary Shares” class A ordinary shares of the share capital of the Company with a par value 
of US$0.00005 each, conferring a holder of a Class A Ordinary Share one 
vote per Share on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general meeting

“Class B Ordinary Shares” class B ordinary shares of the share capital of the Company with a par value 
of US$0.00005 each, conferring weighted voting rights in the Company such 
that a holder of a Class B Ordinary Share is currently entitled to ten votes per 
Share on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general meeting, save for 
resolutions with respect to any Reserved Matters, in which case they shall be 
entitled to one vote per Share

“Cloud Services and 
 Technical Services 
 Framework Agreement”

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Partially-Exempt 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Cloud Services and Technical 
Services Framework Agreement” in this annual report

“Company”, “we”, “us” or “our” Tuya Inc., an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands on August 28, 2014

“Compensation Committee” the compensation committee of the Board
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“Consolidated Affiliated 
 Entity(ies)”

entit ies the Group control wholly or partly through the Contractual 
Arrangements, namely Hangzhou Tuya Technology and its subsidiaries (if 
any)

“Contractual Arrangement(s)” the series of contractual arrangements entered into between Tuya 
Informat ion, the Consol idated Aff i l iated Ent i ty and the Registered 
Shareholders (as applicable) on December 23, 2014, first amended and 
restated on August 23, 2019 (as applicable), and further amended and 
restated on January 19, 2022

“Controlling Shareholder” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Corporate Governance Code” The Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

“Corporate Governance 
 Committee”

the corporate governance committee of the Board

“Cube” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Business Review” in 
this annual report

“date of this annual report” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Safe Harbor 
Statement” in this annual report

“Depositary” The Bank of New York Mellon, the depositary of our ADSs

“Depositary Shares” Shares and/or ADSs underlying Class A Ordinary Shares already issued and 
registered in the name of the Depositary which may be used to satisfy any 
future exercise or vesting of awards granted under the 2015 Equity Incentive 
Plan

“Designee” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“EDI Business” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“EDI License” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Employees Written Guidelines” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Compliance with The 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors” in this annual report
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“ESG Report” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Key Relationship With 
Stakeholders” in this annual report

“Equity Interest Pledge Agreements” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Exclusive Business Cooperation 
 Agreement”

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Exclusive Option Agreements” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“FITE Regulations” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“GAAP” generally accepted accounting principles

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering as defined in the 
Prospectus

“Group”, “we” or “us” the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities from 
time to time, and where the context requires, in respect of the period prior to 
the Company becoming the holding company of its present subsidiaries and 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, such subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities as if they were subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the 
Company at the relevant time

“Hangzhou Tuya Technology” Hangzhou Tuya Technology Co., Ltd.* (杭州塗鴉科技有限公司), a limited 
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on June 16, 2014 
and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of 
China

“Latest Practicable Date” April 10, 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the bulk-printing and 
publication of this annual report

“Lawsuit” a putative securities class action lawsuit filed in the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of New York which is purportedly brought 
on behalf of a class of persons or entities who purchased ADSs in or 
traceable to the Company’s U.S. Listing, alleging violation of the disclosure 
requirements under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933
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“Listing” the listing of the Class A Ordinary Shares on the Main Board of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange

“Listing Date” July 5, 2022, the date on which the Class A Ordinary Shares were listed and 
on which dealings in the Class A Ordinary Shares were to be first permitted 
to take place on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time

“Main Board” the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel 
with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

“Memorandum” the ninth amended and restated memorandum of association of the Company 
adopted by a special resolution of the Shareholders on November 1, 2022 
and effective on November 1, 2022

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set 
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

“Mr. Chen” Mr. Chen Liaohan (陳燎罕), the founder, an executive Director, co-chairman 
of the Board, president of the Company, and one of our Controlling 
Shareholders

“Mr. Wang” Mr. Wang Xueji (王學集), the founder, an executive Director, co-chairman of 
the Board, chief executive officer of the Company, and one of our Controlling 
Shareholders

“Mr. Wang’s Family Trust” a trust established on February 1, 2021 by Mr. Wang, as the settlor with TMF 
(Cayman) Ltd. as the trustee and Mr. Wang and Tuya Group Inc. being the 
beneficiaries

“Mr. Yang” Mr. Yang Yi (楊懿), our co-founder, an executive Director and chief operation 
officer of our Company

“Mr. Zhou” Mr. Zhou Ruixin (周瑞鑫 ), our co-founder and one of our Controlling 
Shareholders

“Negative List (2021)” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

“NYSE” the New York Stock Exchange
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“OEMs” original equipment manufacturers

“PaaS” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Financial Highlights for 
the Year Ended December 31, 2023” in this annual report

“Plan Limit” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “The 2015 Equity 
Incentive Plan” in this annual report

“Powers of Attorney” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated June 22, 2022

“Registered Shareholders” the registered shareholders of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, namely, Mr. 
Wang, Mr. Chen, Mr. Zhou, Mr. LIN Yaona and Mr. CHEN Peihong

“Regulatory Requirements” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Reporting Period” the year ended December 31, 2023

“Reserved Matters” those resolutions with respect to which each Share is entitled to one vote 
at general meetings of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and the 
Articles of Association, being: (i) any amendment to the Memorandum or 
Articles, (ii) the variation of the rights attached to any class of shares, (iii) the 
appointment, election or removal of any independent non-executive Director, 
(iv) the appointment or removal of the Company’s auditors, and (v) the 
voluntary liquidation or winding-up of the Company

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

“RSU(s)” restricted stock unit(s) covering a number of Class A Ordinary Shares that 
may be settled in cash, by issuance of those Class A Ordinary Shares at a 
date in the future, or by a combination of cash and Class A Ordinary Shares 
that is granted pursuant to the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

“SaaS” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Financial Highlights for 
the Year Ended December 31, 2023” in this annual report

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), 
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)
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Definitions

“Shares” the Class A Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares in the share capital 
of the Company, as the context so requires

“SP License” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Spousal Consent Letter(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed “Non-Exempted 
Continuing Connected Transactions under Contractual Arrangements” in this 
annual report

“Stock Exchange” or 
 “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries” has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

“substantial shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

“Tencent” Tencent Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries and/or its controlled affiliated 
entities, as the context requires. Tencent Holdings Limited (stock code: 700), 
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and is current 
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Tencent Group”

“Tencent Cloud” Tencent Cloud Computing (Beijing) Company Limited (騰訊雲計算(北京)有限
責任公司)

“Tenet Global” Tenet Global Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of BVI on December 31, 2020, which 
is wholly owned by Tenet Smart and ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang

“Tenet Group” Tenet Group Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of BVI on January 8, 2021, which is 
wholly owned by Tenet Global and ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang

“Tenet Smart” Tenet Smart Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of BVI on January 20, 2021, which 
is wholly owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd., being a limited liability company 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on September 30, 1994, the trustee 
of Mr. Wang’s Family Trust, of which the settlor is Mr. Wang and the 
beneficiaries are Mr. Wang and Tuya Group Inc.

“Tenet Vision” Tenet Vision Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of BVI on December 16, 2021, which 
is wholly owned by Tenet Global and ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang
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Definitions

“Tuya Group Inc.” Tuya Group Inc., one of our Controlling Shareholders, a business company 
with limited liability incorporated under the laws of BVI on August 20, 2014, 
which is wholly owned by Mr. Wang

“Unileo” Unileo Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of BVI on December 23, 2020, which 
is wholly owned by Mr. Chen

“U.S. GAAP” generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

“U.S. Listing” the listing of the ADS of the Company on the New York Stock Exchange in 
2021

“VAS” value-added services

“VAT” value-added tax

“weighted voting right” or “WVR” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

“WFOE” or “Tuya Information” Hangzhou Tuya Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (杭州塗鴉信息技術有限
公司), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 
December 5, 2014 and a subsidiary of our Company

“WVR Beneficiaries”, 
 each a “WVR Beneficiary”

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context 
otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Wang and Mr. Chen, being the beneficial 
owners of the Class B Ordinary Shares which carry weighted voting rights

“WVR Structure” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

“%” per cent

* For identification purposes only
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